

Complex singularities and contact topology

Patrick Popescu-Pampu

▶ To cite this version:

Patrick Popescu-Pampu. Complex singularities and contact topology. Winter Braids VI, 3, pp.1-74, 2017, 10.5802/wbln.14 . hal-04380725

HAL Id: hal-04380725 https://hal.science/hal-04380725v1

Submitted on 10 Jan2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Complex singularities and contact topology Vol. 3 (2016), Course nº III, p. 1-74.

<http://wbln.cedram.org/item?id=WBLN_2016_3_A3_0>

cedram

Texte mis en ligne dans le cadre du Centre de diffusion des revues académiques de mathématiques http://www.cedram.org/ Winter Braids Lecture Notes Vol. **3** (2016) 1-74 Course nº III

Complex singularities and contact topology

PATRICK POPESCU-PAMPU

Abstract

This text is a greatly expanded version of the mini-course I gave during the school *Winter Braids VI* organized in Lille between 22–25 February 2016. It is an introduction to the study of interactions between singularity theory of complex analytic varieties and contact topology. I concentrate on the relation between the smoothings of singularities and the Stein fillings of their contact boundaries. I tried to explain basic intuitions and facts in both fields, for the sake of the readers who are not accustomed with one of them.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Generalities about complex analytic singularities and their resolutions	4
2.1. What is a singularity?	4
2.2. Some classes of singularities in arbitrary dimension	7
2.3. Modifications, blow-ups and resolutions of singularities	12
3. Surface singularities	17
3.1. Divisors on smooth complex surfaces and their intersection numbers	17
3.2. Objects associated to a resolution of surface singularity	19
3.3. The topology of normal surface singularities	23
3.4. Rational and minimally elliptic surface singularities	29
4. Smoothings of singularities and their Milnor fibers	36
4.1. A prototype: Milnor's study of hypersurface singularities	36
4.2. General facts about deformations and smoothings	39
4.3. General properties of smoothings of normal surface singularities	42
4.4. Pinkham's example with two smoothing components	47
5. Plurisubharmonic functions, Stein manifolds and contact manifolds	52
5.1. Basic analogies between affine geometry and complex geometry	52
5.2. Plurisubharmonic functions	54
5.3. Contact manifolds and their fillings	57
6. Milnor fibers of surface singularities seen as Stein fillings	62
6.1. The contact boundary of an isolated singularity	62
6.2. Cases when the Milnor fibers exhaust the Stein fillings	64
7. Open questions	68
References	69

Keywords: Contact structure, complex singularity, cyclic quotient singularity, Gorenstein singularity, graph manifold, Hirzebruch-Jung singularity, Milnor fiber, minimally elliptic singularity, modification, normal singularity, plumbing, plurisubharmonic function, quotient singularity, Stein filling, rational surface singularity, resolution of singularities, smoothing, versal deformation.

1. Introduction

Let (X, x) be an isolated singularity of equidimensional complex analytic set. One may look at privileged representatives of it by choosing a representative in $(\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$ and by taking its intersections with sufficiently small Euclidean balls centered at the origin. One *almost* gets in this way a compact manifold with boundary: the only non-smooth point is the origin. By a fundamental theorem of Whitney, such a representative is homeomorphic to a cone over the boundary. As this boundary is independent of the choices of embedding and small ball, we will call it simply *the boundary of the singularity* (X, x), and we will denote it by $\partial(X, x)$.

As boundary of a complex manifold, which is always naturally oriented, $\partial(X, x)$ gets also a natural orientation. In the sequel we will always consider it endowed with this orientation. This is a non-trivial supplementary structure, as in dimension at least 3 the orientable manifolds do not necessarily have orientation-reversing self-diffeomorphisms.

Not all closed oriented manifolds are boundaries of compact oriented manifolds: Thom's cobordism theory provides precise measuring tools for this phenomenon. What about the singularity boundaries? Well, Hironaka's celebrated theorem implies that there exists a *resolution of singularities* of (*X*, *x*). Namely, informally speaking, one may replace the point *x* of *X* by a compact analytic space, such that the resulting space \tilde{X} is *smooth*. In this process, one does not touch the boundary of *X*, therefore $\partial(X, x)$ is also the boundary of an oriented *manifold*. In fact, as soon as *X* is of dimension at least 2, one gets an infinite number of homeorphism types of resolutions, therefore an infinite number of homeomorphism types of *fillings* of $\partial(X, x)$ (here and in the sequel, we simply say that a compact oriented manifold *F* whose boundary is identified with a given closed oriented manifold *M* is a *filling* of *M*).

If *resolutions* of (X, x) lead to an infinite number of fillings, by contrast *deformations* of (X, x) lead necessarily to a finite number of them. Informally speaking, a deformation of (X, x) is a germ of family of complex analytic spaces having a special member identified with (X, x). By repeating the construction with the choice of small ball for the total space of the deformation, one may associate a *generic fiber* over each irreducible component of the parameter space of a given deformation, well-defined up to homeomorphisms. Its boundary may be canonically identified up to isotopy with $\partial(X, x)$. Therefore, when the generic fiber is smooth, one gets again a filling of $\partial(X, x)$. One says in this case that the corresponding irreducible component is a *smoothing component*, and that the generic fiber is the associated *Milnor fiber*.

A fundamental theorem of Grauert states that there exists a so called *versal* deformation from which all other deformations may be obtained by base-change. In particular, the Milnor fibers of its smoothing components give all the Milnor fibers obtainable from deformations. As the parameter space of a versal deformation has a finite number of irreducible components, one gets in this way a finite number of fillings of $\partial(X, x)$.

The aim of this text is to explain that *contact topology* may be useful in order to understand the topological structure of the Milnor fibers of a given isolated singularity. The reason is that:

- the boundary $\partial(X, x)$ is canonically a *contact manifold* and that the Milnor fibers of (X, x) are *Stein fillings* of this manifold;
- given a contact manifold, there are serious constraints on the topological types of its Stein fillings; for instance, a theorem of Eliashberg states that any Stein filling of the contact boundary of (\mathbb{C}^2 , 0) (which is the standard contact 3-sphere) is diffeomorphic to a ball.

The general question we want to examine is:

How to characterize Milnor fibers among the Stein fillings of the contact boundary of an isolated singularity?

As a generalization of Eliashberg's theorem stated above, Némethi and the author proved Lisca's conjecture that for *cyclic quotient singularities* (that is, the singularities of normal toric surfaces),

the Milnor fibers give all possible diffeomorphism types of Stein fillings of their contact boundaries. It is completely unknown how to characterize the surface singularities for which one has an analogous theorem. The present notes describe the state of the art about these questions.

I would like to mention that in recent years Mark McLean has proved very interesting results relating analytical invariants of isolated complex singularities of dimension at least 3 and contact topological invariants of their links. I won't say anything about his works here, sending the interested reader to the original papers [122] and [123].

This text is intended to be an introduction to the topology and contact topology of isolated complex singularities and of their smoothings, for students who know the basic languages of complex algebraic or analytic geometry as well as of differential topology. I tried to describe important intuitions and examples. The majority of results are given without full proofs, but they are accompanied with heuristical explanations whenever possible. Each section concludes with a list of references for a deeper study of its material.

As a starting point for writing the present notes, I used my habilitation [162]. The recent texts which are closest in spirit to it are the surveys [135] of Némethi, [17] of Bhupal and Stipsicz and [149] of Ozbagci. If the first survey concentrates on the Milnor fibers of normal surface singularities, the two other ones focus on the basic techniques for studying the topological structure of Stein fillings of given contact 3-manifolds.

Let me briefly describe the contents of the various sections of the paper:

- Subsection 2.1 contains an explanation of basic notions about complex analytic singularities (dimension, irreducible components, local ring, multiplicity). Subsection 2.2 introduces the basic classes of singularities of arbitrary dimension discussed in the sequel (hypersurfaces, complete intersections, Cohen-Macaulay, normal, Gorenstein and quotient singularities). Subsection 2.3 describes the general technique of study of singularities through their modifications (in particular the blow-ups) and resolutions.
- Subsection 3.1 explains basic facts about intersection theory of divisors on smooth surfaces (*intersection numbers*, the *arithmetic genus* and the *adjunction formula*). Subsection 3.2 presents the *exceptional divisor* of a resolution of normal surface singularity and basic objects associated with it (its *weighted dual graph*, its *intersection form*, the *Lipman semigroup*, the *fundamental cycle* and the *anti-canonical cycle*). Subsection 3.3 explains the basic facts about the topological structure of normal surface singularities (the notion of *boundary* of such a singularity, the *plumbing* of special 3-manifolds and 4-manifolds, the notion of *graph manifold*, the fact that the boundaries of normal surface singularities are graph manifolds and the way to deduce the homology of the boundary for normal surface singularities and two classes of such singularities defined in terms of those genera, the *rational* and the *minimally elliptic* singularities. Several subclasses are emphasized (the *Kleinian*, the *cyclic quotients*, the *simple elliptic* and the *cusp singularities*). Section 3 concludes with Figure 3.6, which represents (by an Euler-Venn diagram) the various inclusion relations between the classes of surface singularities discussed so far.
- Subsection 4.1 presents the *method initiated by Milnor* for studying the topology of isolated complex hypersurface singularities. Subsection 4.2 presents basic facts about *deformations* of singularities (the notion of *deformation, miniversal deformations, smoothings and their Milnor fibers, Grauert's theorem* about the existence of miniversal deformations of isolated singularities). Subsection 4.3 presents basic facts about the Milnor fibers of the smoothings of normal surface singularities (various formulae for the inertia index of their intersection form in terms of invariants of the singularity and of the dimension of the associated smoothing surface singularity with two smoothing components, and describes the structure of the corresponding Milnor fibers.

- Subsection 5.1 presents basic analogies between real affine geometry and complex geometry, which are useful whenever one begings to think seriously about symplectic or contact aspects of complex manifolds. Subsection 5.2 presents basic facts about *strict plusrisub-harmonic functions* and *Stein manifolds* (differential-geometric objects associated to such a function and the theorem about the homotopy type of such a manifold). Subsection 5.3 presents basic facts about *contact structures, contact manifolds* and their various types of *fillings* (Stein, holomorphic, strong and weak symplectic).
- Subsection 6.1 introduces the notion of *contact boundary* of an isolated complex singularity and basic theorems about it (the fact that a holomorphic function with isolated critical point defines a Milnor open book which supports the contact structure on the boundary in the sense of Giroux and, as a consequence, the fact that in complex dimension 2 this contact structure is determined by the topological type). Subsection 6.2 contains a description of the *types of normal surface singularities for which it was proved that their Milnor fibers exhaust their Stein fillings*, with details about the combinatorial objects appearing in the special case of cyclic quotient singularities.
- Section 7 contains a list of open questions about contact topological aspects of singularities.

Acknowledgments. The writing of this text was partially supported by the French grants ANR-12-JS01- 0002-01 SUSI and Labex CEMPI ANR-11-LABX-0007-01. I am grateful to Arnaud Bodin and Octave Curmi for their careful reading of a previous version of this text and for their remarks. I am also grateful to András Némethi and Bernard Teissier for having kindly answered to several questions. Finally, I would like to thank the organizers of the winter school – Paolo Bellingeri, Arnaud Bodin, Vincent Florens, Jean-Baptiste Meilhan and Emmanuel Wagner – for having invited me to talk about this subject.

2. Generalities about complex analytic singularities and their resolutions

2.1. What is a singularity?

By definition, a **complex analytic set** is a Hausdorff topological space which may be covered by an atlas whose charts are identifed with the following models: simultaneous zero-loci inside open subsets of \mathbb{C}^n of sets of holomorphic functions. Moreover, one asks the changes of charts to be also holomorphic. One may then define easily the notions of **holomorphic function** and **holomorphic map** from one complex analytic set to another one. In particular, one may speak about **holomorphic isomorphisms**, also called **holomorphic equivalences**.

If $f_1, ..., f_p$ are holomorphic functions on a complex analytic set X, we will denote by $Z(f_1, ..., f_p) \hookrightarrow X$ their common zero-locus, which is a closed complex analytic subset of X.

Complex analytic sets may have *singular points*:

Definition 2.1. Let X be a complex analytic set. A point $x \in X$ is a singular point of X if there does not exist a neighborhood of x in X, which is holomorphically equivalent to an open set in some \mathbb{C}^n . A point of X which is not singular is called **regular**. If all the points of X are regular, then we say that X is a **complex manifold**.

One may show that the subset Sing X of singular points of X is a closed complex analytic subset of X, strictly included in X (see [90, Corollary 6.3.4 and Remark 4.3.7]).

According to common usage among singularity theorists, we use also the following vocabulary, in which we allow by abuse of language the point x to be regular on X:

Definition 2.2. A **singularity** is a germ (X, x) of complex analytic set. In this case, one says that X is a **representative** of the singularity and that x is its **base point**.



Figure 2.1. The folium of Descartes

A singularity is **irreducible** if it cannot be written as a union of two singularities different from it. An **irreducible component** of a singularity is an irreducible subsingularity which is maximal for inclusion. A singularity is **isolated** if there exists a representative of it which is smooth outside its base point.

One may show that each singularity has a finite number of irreducible components.

The notion of irreducibility may be also defined for global analytic sets, not only for germs. It may be shown that any irreducible germ has an irreducible representative. The converse is not true, in the sense that irreducible complex analytic sets may have reducible germs at some points:

Example 2.3. Consider the *folium of Descartes*, defined by the equation $x^3 + y^3 - 3xy = 0$. It may be shown that it is an irreducible complex analytic set, but that its singularity at the origin has two irreducible components, which may be guessed by looking at the locus of real points (see Figure 2.1).

If X is an irreducible complex analytic set, then it may be shown that its subset of regular points is connected and locally isomorphic to an open set of \mathbb{C}^n , for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In this case, one says that n is the **complex dimension** of X. When X is reducible, its complex dimension is by definition the maximal dimension of its irreducible components. If all of them have the same dimension, then X is called **equidimensional**. We will use the same vocabulary when speaking about singularities and we will denote by dim(X, x) the complex dimension of the singularity (X, x).

Example 2.4. If X is the union of a plane and a transversal line inside \mathbb{C}^3 , then its irreducible components have dimension 2 and 1 respectively. Therefore the complex dimension of X is 2.

Another essential invariant of singularities is their *multiplicity*, which is a local version of the degree of a projective variety:

Definition 2.5. Let (X, x) be a singularity. Fix an embedding $(X, x) \hookrightarrow (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$. Then the **multiplicity** m(X, x) of (X, x) is the number of intersection points of a sufficiently small representative of X with a generic affine subspace of \mathbb{C}^n of complementary dimension to that of (X, x), not passing through 0 but very close to 0.

The previous definition is rather intuitive, but needs some work to be made precise. What means to be "generic" and "very close" and why does one get a number which is independent of the choice of embedding? One may find an answer to those questions in de Jong and Pfister [90, Theorem 4.2.24].

In order to avoid those technicalities, one turns usually to a more algebraic view of singularities, through their local rings. Recall first the definition of such rings:

Definition 2.6. A commutative ring is called local if it has only one maximal ideal.

The ring $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ of power series in the variables $z_1, ..., z_n$, which are convergent in a neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^n$ (we will simply speak in the sequel of **convergent power series**), is an example of local ring. Its maximal ideal consists of the series whose constant term vanishes. This example allows to explain the qualificative "local". Indeed, $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ consists of the holomorphic functions defined *locally* in a neighborhood of the point 0 in the complex analytic manifold \mathbb{C}^n . Its unique maximal ideal corresponds then to the functions vanishing at 0.

A power series $f \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ is called **reduced** if its prime factorization inside $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ has only factors of multiplicity 1. One may show that this is equivalent to the fact that the quotient ring $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}/(f)$ of convergent series modulo multiples of f has no non-trivial *nilpotent* elements. This motivates the following definition:

Definition 2.7. A local ring is called **reduced** if its only nilpotent element is 0.

According to Definition 2.2, singularities may be defined by the vanishing of a set of convergent power series. The simplest case is that of **hypersurface singularities**, when one takes only one power series f. Note that the product of the distinct prime factors of f is reduced and defines the same hypersurface singularity as f. Therefore, one may assume that f is reduced. In this case, the ring of restrictions to X = Z(f) of the convergent power series on \mathbb{C}^n is again local and it may be canonically identified with the quotient ring $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}/(f)$ considered above. We call it the **local ring of the hypersurface singularity** (*X*, 0)**.** More generally:

Definition 2.8. The local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ of the complex analytic set X at its point x is the ring of germs of holomorphic functions defined on X in a neighborhood of x.

One may show that such a ring is indeed always local, its unique maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{X,X}$ consisting of the holomorphic functions which vanish at x. Moreover, such a local ring is always reduced, because a function which admits a power identically vanishing coincides with the zero function.

If $(X, 0) \subset (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$ is defined as the germ at 0 of $Z(f_1, \ldots, f_p)$, where $f_1, \ldots, f_p \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, \ldots, z_n\}$ generate the ideal of convergent power series vanishing on (X, 0), then one gets a canonical identification:

$$\mathcal{O}_{X,0}\simeq \mathbb{C}\{z_1,\ldots,z_n\}/(f_1,\ldots,f_p).$$

More generally, one associates to each open set U of a complex analytic set X, the ring of holomorphic functions defined (at least) on U. One gets in this way a sheaf of rings, called the **structure sheaf** \mathcal{O}_X of X. The local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ may be canonically identified to the ring of germs at x of sections of this structure sheaf.

In fact, in order to get continuity properties for various numerical invariants in reasonable families of complex sets, as well as more functorial constructions, one needs to allow also complex analytic sets with structure sheaves admitting nilpotent elements. For instance, one allows as local ring of a hypersurface singularity $(Z(f), 0) \subset (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$ the quotient $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}/(f)$, even when f is not reduced. In such a generality, one speaks about **complex analytic spaces** instead of sets.

It is the following theorem of Samuel [173] concerning the local ring of a singularity, which is turned usually into a definition of its *multiplicity*:

Theorem 2.9. Let \mathcal{O} be the local ring of the singularity (X, x) and \mathfrak{m} be its maximal ideal. Then the function:

$$\begin{array}{rccc} f: & \mathbb{Z}_+ & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{Z}_+ \\ & k & \longrightarrow & \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{O}}{\mathfrak{m}^k} \right) \end{array}$$

becomes a polynomial function of degree $\dim(X, x)$ for k large enough. The leading coefficient of this polynomial is equal to $\frac{m(X, x)}{\dim(X, x)!}$.

In order to get a general view of the main concepts of complex analytic geometry, one may read Fischer's book [55]. A carefully written introduction to singularities of complex analytic spaces is de Jong and Pfister's book [90].

2.2. Some classes of singularities in arbitrary dimension

Let us come back to a hypersurface singularity (X, 0) defined by a reduced convergent power series f. One may describe in the following way its singular locus:

Proposition 2.10. Let (X, 0) be the hypersurface singularity in \mathbb{C}^n defined by the vanishing of the reduced convergent power series $f \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$. Then Sing X is the subset $Z\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_1}, ..., \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_n}\right)$ of X defined by the vanishing of all the partial derivatives of f.

The fact that a point of a representative of X is regular whenever there exists a partial derivative $\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_i}$ which does not vanish at it, is a consequence of *the holomorphic version of the implicit function theorem* (see [90, Theorem 3.3.1]). It is a subtler point to understand why the remaining points of the representative belong necessarily to the singular locus, as introduced in Definition 2.1 (see [90, Section 4.3]).

Example 2.11. Assume that $f(z_1, ..., z_n) := z_1^{a_1} + \cdots + z_n^{a_n}$, where $a_1, ..., a_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Proposition 2.10 allows to see immediately that the hypersurface Z(f) of \mathbb{C}^n is smooth outside the origin, and that it is also smooth at the origin if and only if at least one of the exponents a_k is equal to 1. When all the a_k are ≥ 2 , one gets therefore an isolated hypersurface singularity, called a **Pham-Brieskorn singularity**. This name honors the works [157] of Pham and [20] of Brieskorn. One may learn details about the relation between those works and their influence on the development on the topological study of singularities in Brieskorn's paper [23].

The singularities which are not hypersurfaces need at least two functions in order to be defined as subvarieties of a smooth germ (\mathbb{C}^n , 0). It may be shown that each function drops the ambient dimension by at most one. In fact one has the following result, which is a particular case of **Krull's principal ideal theorem** (see [90, Section 4.1]):

Proposition 2.12. Let (X, x) be a singularity and $f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$. Then dim $Z(f) \ge \dim X - 1$, with equality whenever f is not a zero-divisor in $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$.

Geometrically, the fact that an element of the local ring of a singularity is not a zero-divisor means that its zero-locus does not contain any irreducible component of the singularity.

Example 2.13. (continuation of Example 2.4, see Figure 2.2). Let X be the union of the plane $Z(z_1)$ of the coordinates (z_2, z_3) and of the z_1 -axis inside \mathbb{C}^3 . The local ring of the singularity (X, 0) is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, z_2, z_3\}/(z_1z_2, z_1z_3)$. The vanishing locus $Z(z_1) \hookrightarrow X$ is simply the plane of coordinates (z_2, z_3) , therefore it has the same dimension as (X, 0). This is due to the fact that z_1 is a zero-divisor in the local ring $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, z_2, z_3\}/(z_1z_2, z_1z_3)$. Note that this example shows also that the implication stated in Proposition 2.12 cannot be extended into an equivalence. Indeed, $Z(z_2) \hookrightarrow X$ is the union of the z_1 -axis and of the z_3 -axis, therefore dim $Z(z_2) = \dim X - 1$, but z_2 is a zero-divisor in the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,0}$.

Unlike the previous example, the following generalizations of hypersurface singularities are always equidimensional:

Definition 2.14. A singularity is called a **complete intersection** if it is analytically isomorphic to $Z(f_1, ..., f_p) \in (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$, where $f_1, ..., f_p \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ and for any $k \in \{1, ..., p\}$, f_k is not a zero-divisor in the local ring $\mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}/(f_1, ..., f_{k-1})$.



Figure 2.2. An illustration of Krull's principal ideal theorem

Let us introduce the following standard vocabulary used in this situation:

Definition 2.15. If (X, x) is a singularity, then a finite sequence $(f_1, ..., f_p) \in \mathcal{O}_{X,X}$ is called a **regular sequence** on (X, x) if for any $k \in \{1, ..., p\}$, f_k is not a zero-divisor in the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,X}/(f_1, ..., f_{k-1})$.

Therefore, complete intersection singularities are those defined by a regular sequence on a smooth germ. One may show that they are a particular case of *Cohen-Macaulay singularities*, which are maximal from the view-point of existence of regular sequences:

Definition 2.16. A singularity (X, x) is called **Cohen-Macaulay** if it has a regular sequence with dim(X, x) elements.

Even if they are more general than complete intersections, Cohen-Macaulay singularities are also necessarily equidimensional (see [90, Corollary 6.5.8]). This gives a way to see topologically that the singularity of Example 2.13 is not Cohen-Macaulay.

Even if a singularity is equidimensional, one may conclude sometimes that it is not Cohen-Macaulay simply by looking at its singular locus. Indeed, one has the following theorem of Hartshorne (see [44, Theorem 18.12]):

Theorem 2.17. A Cohen-Macaulay singularity is connected in codimension 1, that is, one cannot disconnect it by removing a subsingularity of codimension at least 2.

Example 2.18. As a variation of Example 2.13, consider the union of the planes of coordinates (z_1, z_2) and (z_3, z_4) in \mathbb{C}^4 . One gets an equidimensional singularity of dimension 2 by taking the germ at the origin 0. As one may disconnect it by removing 0, which is a subsingularity of codimension 2, Theorem 2.17 shows that this singularity is not Cohen-Macaulay. Therefore, it is nor a complete intersection.

Let us introduce another general class of singularities, which will be very important in the sequel:

Definition 2.19. A singularity is called **normal** if it is irreducible and if one of the following equivalent properties holds:

- 1. its local ring is integrally closed in its field of fractions;
- 2. any bounded function defined on a representative of the singularity and holomorphic outside a strict subsingularity, extends to a holomorphic function over the full singularity;
- 3. the codimension of the singular set is at least 2 and there exists a regular sequence of length at least 2.

A complex analytic set is called **normal** if all its germs are normal.

It is a theorem that the previous properties are equivalent (see [90, Theorems 4.4.11, 4.4.15]). Reexpressed usually in the language of commutative algebra the third property is called *Serre's criterion* (see [90, Theorem 4.4.11] or [44, Section 11.2]).

One may show that there exists a regular sequence of length at least 2 on a singularity (X, x) if and only if any germ $f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ which is not a zero divisor may be extended to a regular sequence of length at least 2. Therefore, in order to show that a singularity is not normal, it is enough to find a germ f which does not have this property. This argument is used in Example 2.21 below.

By *Riemann's extension theorem*, all complex manifolds are normal. More generally, one has the following theorem, which explains why we introduced the notion of normality as a companion to that of being Cohen-Macaulay:

Theorem 2.20.

- 1. A surface singularity (that is, an equidimensional germ of dimension 2) is normal if and only if it is an isolated Cohen-Macaulay singularity.
- 2. If the singular locus of a Cohen-Macaulay singularity is of codimension at least 2, then the singularity is normal.

This theorem may be proved using Serre's criterion (3) stated in Definition 2.19. Note that the conditions of irreducibility and isolatedness of the singularity alone do not imply that a surface singularity is normal:

Example 2.21. This example is taken from [90, Example 6.5.6 (6)]. Consider the germ at the origin of the surface X of \mathbb{C}^4 described parametrically by the map $(s, t) \rightarrow (x, y, z, u) = (s, st, t^2, t^3)$. The Jacobian matrix being of rank 2 for $(s, t) \neq (0, 0)$, this map is an immersion outside the origin. It is easy to check that it is moreover injective. Therefore, (X, 0) is an irreducible isolated surface singularity. One may check (see again [90, Example 6.5.6 (6)]) that it is not Cohen-Macaulay, as the restriction of x - z to its local ring cannot be extended to a regular sequence of length 2. By point (1) of Theorem 2.20, one sees that (X, 0) is not normal.

Cohen-Macaulay singularities are not necessarily irreducible, in contrast with normal ones. Therefore, one may be surprised by the implication of Theorem 2.20 stating that *isolated* Cohen-Macaulay singularities are normal, therefore irreducible. Note that this fact may be seen as a consequence of Theorem 2.17. Indeed, an *isolated* singularity (X, x) with at least two irreducible components may be disconnected just by removing the point x, which shows that it is not connected in codimension 1.

It may be shown that each complex analytic set X may be *normalized*, in the following sense:

Definition 2.22. A **normalization** of a complex analytic set *X* is a normal analytic set \overline{X} endowed with a finite (that is, proper with finite fibers) surjective morphism $\nu : \overline{X} \to X$ which is an isomorphism over a dense open subset of *X*.

It is a theorem that a normalization morphism is unique up to a unique isomorphism over X. That is, if $v_1 : \overline{X}_1 \to X$ and $v_2 : \overline{X}_2 \to X$ are both normalizations of X, then there exists a unique isomorphism $\phi : \overline{X}_1 \to \overline{X}_2$ such that $v_2 \circ \phi = v_1$. This allows to speak about *the* normalization morphism.

The change of topology produced by the normalization morphism is partially described by the following proposition:

Proposition 2.23. Let X be a complex analytic set. The normalization morphism $v : \overline{X} \to X$ is a homeomorphism if and only if all the germs of X at its various points are irreducible singularities. More generally, for each $x \in X$, the cardinal of $v^{-1}(x)$ is equal to the number of irreducible components of the singularity (X, x).

Informally speaking, the combination of this proposition with the fact that normal complex analytic sets have a singular locus of codimension at least 2 may be expressed in the following way:



Figure 2.3. Whitney's umbrella



Figure 2.4. A cross cap

normalization separates the local irreducible components and removes the singular locus of codimension 1.

Example 2.24. This example is treated with more details in [90, Example 4.4.7 (5)]. Consider the surface X = Z(f) in \mathbb{C}^3 , where $f(z_1, z_2, z_3) = z_2^2 - z_1 z_3^2$. Its set of points with real coordinates is called **Whitney's umbrella** (see Figure 2.3). This denomination refers to Whitney's papers [203] and [204], in whose sections 4 and 3 respectively its portion of pure dimension 2 was presented as a model for the two singularities of a "*cross cap*" (one of the standard models of the real projective plane in \mathbb{R}^3 , see Figure 2.4) at the ends of its segment of self-intersection. Whitney proved in those papers that such singularities appear generically on images of smooth maps from surfaces to 3-manifolds. He also proved an extension of this property for generic maps from *n*-dimensional manifolds to (2n - 1)-dimensional ones, for arbitrary $n \ge 2$. Let us come back to $X = Z(f) \subset \mathbb{C}^3$. It may be seen as the image of the map $v : \mathbb{C}^2 \to \mathbb{C}^3$ defined by $(s, t) \to (z_1 = s^2, z_2 = st, z_3 = t)$. One may verify easily using this formula that v is a normalization of X, according to Definition 2.22. It is also immediate to check that the fibre above a point of the z_1 -axis which is distinct from the origin consists of two points. This corresponds to the fact that at such a point two sheets of X intersect transversally. By contrast, the fibre above the origin consists of a single point, the origin of \mathbb{C}^2 , which corresponds to the fact that (X, 0) is an irreducible singularity.

Complete intersections are not only Cohen-Macaulay singularities, they are moreover *Gorenstein*, in the following sense:

Definition 2.25. A Cohen-Macaulay singularity (*X*, *x*) is **Gorenstein** if its dualising module $\omega_{X,x}$ is free as an $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ -module.

The **dualising module** $\omega_{X,X}$ is the germ at *x* of the **dualising sheaf** ω_X , which is well-defined on any Cohen-Macaulay set (that is, a complex analytic set all of whose germs are Cohen-Macaulay). In restriction to the smooth locus *X* \ Sing*X*, the dualising sheaf ω_X is simply the sheaf of holomorphic differential forms of maximal degree. It is more complicated to understand what it means along the singular locus, and we won't enter into details in this text, as we don't need this generality. We will be only interested by the case in which *X* is not only Cohen-Macaulay but moreover *normal*. Then the situation is simpler:

Proposition 2.26. Suppose that X is a Cohen-Macaulay and a normal complex analytic set. Then

$$\omega_X \simeq i_* \omega_{X \setminus \text{Sing}X}$$

where $X \setminus \text{Sing} X \xrightarrow{\iota} X$ denotes the inclusion morphism. In particular, (X, x) is Gorenstein if and only if there exists a nowhere-vanishing holomorphic form of maximal degree defined on the smooth locus of some neighborhood of x.

Example 2.27. Let us explain why hypersurface singularities are Gorenstein, in the particular case of isolated surface singularities. Consider such a singularity $(X, 0) = (Z(f), 0) \subset (\mathbb{C}^3, 0)$, where $f \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, z_2, z_3\}$. In restriction to X, one has the equality:

$$df = 0 \iff \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_1} dz_1 + \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_2} dz_2 + \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_3} dz_3 = 0$$

Taking successively its exterior product with dz_1 , dz_2 , dz_3 , one gets the following equality in restriction to X:

(2.1)
$$\frac{dz_1 \wedge dz_2}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_3}} = \frac{dz_2 \wedge dz_3}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_1}} = \frac{dz_3 \wedge dz_1}{\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_2}}.$$

By the *holomorphic version of the implicit function theorem* (see [90, Theorem 3.3.1]), the first expression is holomorphic and non-vanishing over the open subset $X \setminus Z\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_3}\right)$ of X. One has the analogous properties for the second and third expressions. Therefore, the rational 2-form defined by any one of the three expressions in equality (2.1) is non-zero and holomorphic outside the origin, by our assumption that (X, 0) has an isolated singularity and by Proposition 2.10. Being a complete intersection, (X, 0) is automatically Cohen-Macaulay. Being an isolated singularity, we know by Theorem 2.20 (1) that (X, 0) is normal. We conclude then that (X, 0) is Gorenstein using Proposition 2.26.

Both Cohen-Macaulay and Gorenstein singularities behave well under hyperplane sections using non-zero divisors (see Bruns and Herzog [24, Proposition 3.1.19] or Ishii [86, Proposition 5.3.12]):

Proposition 2.28. Let (X, x) be a singularity and $f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ a non-zero divisor. Assume that the complex analytic subgerm $(Z(f), x) \hookrightarrow (X, x)$ defined by f is reduced. Then:

- (X, x) is Cohen-Macaulay if and only if (Z(f), x) is Cohen-Macaulay;
- (X, x) is Gorenstein if and only if (Z(f), x) is Gorenstein.

Before ending this section, let us introduce another class of singularities of arbitrary dimension:

Definition 2.29. A **quotient singularity** is a singularity analytically isomorphic to a germ obtained as a quotient of a smooth germ by a finite group of holomorphic automorphisms.

Quotient singularities are normal, as proved by Cartan [27]. By a local linearization theorem, one may show that in all dimensions quotient singularities are isomorphic to germs of the form \mathbb{C}^n/G , where G is a finite subgroup of $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$.

Say that an element of the general linear group $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ is a **complex reflection** if it fixes pointwise a hyperplane. By a theorem of Chevalley [31], the quotient of \mathbb{C}^n by a finite group generated by complex reflections is again isomorphic to \mathbb{C}^n . Now, if $G \subset GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ is an arbitrary finite group, its subgroup G_c generated by complex reflections is a normal subgroup, therefore one may construct the quotient \mathbb{C}^n/G as a two-step quotient $(\mathbb{C}^n/G_c)/(G/G_c)$. One can show that the induced linear action of G/G_c on $\mathbb{C}^n/G_c \simeq \mathbb{C}^n$ contains no non-trivial complex reflections, that is, it is a so-called *small* linear group:

Definition 2.30. A finite subgroup $G \subset GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ is called **small** if it contains no complex reflection.

We see that any quotient singularity is obtainable as the germ at 0 of the quotient of \mathbb{C}^n by a *small* finite linear group. Moreover, Prill [167] proved that the corresponding linear representation is encoded in the analytical structure of the corresponding quotient singularity.

Example 2.31. The simplest quotient singularity is obtained as the quotient of \mathbb{C}^2 by the antipodal involution $\sigma: (t_1, t_2) \rightarrow (-t_1, -t_2)$ (more precisely, by the linear group of order 2 generated by this involution). Note that σ is not a complex reflection, therefore this linear group is small. One may compute the quotient by finding first its algebra of regular (polynomial) functions: it is the subalgebra of $\mathbb{C}[t_1, t_2]$ left invariant by the involution σ . An easy computation shows that this subalgebra is generated by $z_1 = t_1^2, z_2 = t_2^2, z_3 = t_1t_2$. Therefore, it is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}[z_1, z_2, z_3]/(z_1z_2 - z_3^2)$. This shows that the quotient of \mathbb{C}^2 by the antipodal involution σ is isomorphic to the hypersurface singularity of \mathbb{C}^3 defined by the polynomial $z_1z_2 - z_3^2$. Note that Proposition 2.10 allows to show immediately that this singularity is isolated.

For details about the algebraic aspects of Cohen-Macaulay singularities, one may consult Bruns and Herzog's treatise [24]. Information about the topology of *isolated* such singularities may be found in Kollár [95].

For details about the notions of dualising module and Gorenstein singularities, one may consult Bruns and Herzog [24], Peternell and Remmert [156], Eisenbud [44], Reid [168].

2.3. Modifications, blow-ups and resolutions of singularities

One of the main ways to study singular complex analytic sets is to see them as images of smooth ones, that is, as images of complex manifolds. A priori one could look for such manifolds of arbitrary higher dimensions, but one usually restricts them in the following way:

Definition 2.32. Let X be a complex analytic set. A **resolution of singularities** of X is a morphism $\pi: \tilde{X} \to X$ such that:

- 1. \tilde{X} is smooth;
- 2. π is proper (that is, the preimage of a compact subset of X is compact);
- 3. the restriction $\pi: \tilde{X} \setminus \pi^{-1}(\text{Sing } X) \to X \setminus \text{Sing } X$ is an isomorphism;
- 4. π realizes a bijection between the irreducible components of \tilde{X} and X.

The **exceptional locus** $Exc(\pi)$ of π is the subspace $\pi^{-1}(Sing X)$ of \tilde{X} .

Note that some writers call *exceptional* only the irreducible components *E* of $\pi^{-1}(\text{Sing } X)$ whose image by π have a strictly smaller dimension than *E*.

Informally speaking, in order to resolve the singularities of *X*, one replaces its singular locus by another complex analytic set, such that the resulting complex set becomes *smooth*. The properness condition (2) is included in order to guarantee that one does not simply remove the singular locus, or that one does not replace it by something too small.

In fact, the process is subtler, not being describable only in topological terms. Indeed, a resolution of singularities may be a homeomorphism such that the restriction $\pi : \pi^{-1}(\text{Sing } X) \rightarrow \text{Sing } X$ is moreover an isomorphism (see Example 2.33 below), in which case one replaces Sing X by itself. How to understand then what changes if one passes from X to \tilde{X} ? Well, one *adds* new holomorphic functions on X, changing its "structure sheaf".

Example 2.33. Let *X* be a complex analytic *curve*, that is, a complex analytic set of pure dimension 1. In this case there exists a unique resolution of singularities of *X*, up to a unique isomorphism over *X*. This resolution $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ is simply the *normalization* of the curve *X*, introduced in Definition 2.22. It may be obtained by gluing holomorphic parametrisations of the irreducible components of the germs of *X* at all its points. If one asks moreover that these parametrisations are homeomorphisms of representatives, one gets simply the *Riemann surface* associated to the curve *X*. The resolution π is a homeomorphism if and only if the germ of *X* is irreducible at each one of its points. More generally, for any $x \in X$, the fibre $\pi^{-1}(x)$ is a finite set which is in bijection with the set of irreducible components of the singularity (*X*, *x*) (see Proposition 2.23).

Example 2.34. Let $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ be an algebraic cone with vertex at the origin 0, that is, the zero locus of a set of homogeneous polynomials in n variables. Denote by $\mathbb{P}(X) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ its projectivisation, that is, the set of lines contained in X and passing through 0. It is simply the projective subvariety of $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ defined by the same set of homogeneous polynomials. Assume that X is smooth outside 0, which is equivalent to the smoothness of $\mathbb{P}(X)$. One has a natural complex line bundle on $\mathbb{P}(X)$, whose fibre above a point representing a line is the line itself (its sheaf of holomorphic section is denoted usually $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(X)}(-1)$ in algebraic geometry). Denote by \tilde{X} the total space of this line bundle, and by $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ the natural morphism which associates to each point of a fiber of \tilde{X} the same point seen on the corresponding line inside X. This morphism is a resolution of singularities of X, with exceptional set $\mathbb{P}(X)$, identified with the zero-section of \tilde{X} .

One may construct the morphism π alternatively in the following way. Consider the rational map:

$$\begin{array}{rccc} X & \cdots \to & \mathbb{P}(X) \\ x & \cdots \to & [x] \end{array}$$

where [x] denotes the point of $\mathbb{P}(X)$ corresponding to the generating line of the cone passing through x. This map is well-defined outside 0. Then \tilde{X} is the closure of the graph of this map in $X \times \mathbb{P}(X)$ and $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ is the natural projection on the first factor.

We have represented schematically the morphism π in Figure 2.5. In our drawing the total space \tilde{X} looks like a trivial line bundle over $\pi^{-1}(0)$. In fact, over \mathbb{C} this is never the case. Indeed, this line bundle is the dual of an *ample* line bundle, whose holomorphic sections vanish precisely along the hyperplane sections of $\mathbb{P}(X) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{C}^n)$. By contrast, as the complex manifold $\mathbb{P}(X)$ is compact, the maximum modulus principle implies that the trivial line bundle $\mathbb{P}(X) \times \mathbb{C}$ has only constant sections.

Definition 2.35. Let $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ be an algebraic cone with vertex at the origin 0. Assume that X is smooth outside 0. The morphism $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ constructed in Example 2.34 is called the **blow-up** of the point 0 in X.

The previous example shows that by blowing up the vertex of a cone with isolated singularity, one gets a resolution of singularities in the sense of Definition 2.32.

Let us comment a little more Definition 2.32. Condition (3) insures that one replaces only the singular locus, not a bigger complex subset of X. Finally, condition (4) insures that one does not include in \tilde{X} some connected component which is a manifold projecting properly inside Sing X.



Figure 2.5. The blow-up of the vertex of a cone

Some writers do not impose condition (3) in the definition of a resolution of singularities. Its presence has the advantage that the boundary of a tubular neighborhood of the singular set may be canonically identified up to an isotopy to the boundary of a tubular neighborhood of the exceptional set. This is crucial if one is interested in the topological study of X in the neighborhood of Sing X, for instance in the case when X has an isolated singularity, which is the most important one in this article.

In general, one may hope to reach a resolution of singularities by composing special types of *modifications*:

Definition 2.36. Let *X* be a complex analytic set. A **modification** of it is a morphism $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ of complex sets such that:

- 1. π is proper;
- 2. π realizes a bijection between the irreducible components of \tilde{X} and X;
- 3. there exists a closed complex analytic subset $I \hookrightarrow X$ which does not contain any irreducible component of X, such that the restriction $\pi : \tilde{X} \setminus \pi^{-1}(I) \to X \setminus I$ is an isomorphism.

The **indeterminacy locus** $Ind(\pi)$ of the modification π is the minimal subspace I of X which has the property (3). The **exceptional locus** $Exc(\pi)$ of π is the preimage $\pi^{-1}(Ind(\pi))$ of the indeterminacy locus.

When π is a resolution of X in the sense of Definition 2.32, then its indeterminacy locus is the singular locus of X, which implies that its exceptional loci according to both definitions coincide. The following example presents a modification which is not a resolution of singularities:

Example 2.37. Consider again the situation of a cone, as in Example 2.34, but this time without the hypothesis that X is smooth outside 0. One may apply the same construction as in that example, getting a modification $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ which is still called the *blow-up of* 0 *in* X. Its indeterminacy locus is still the point 0. Therefore, if X has singularities outside 0, then π is not a resolution of singularities of X.

Given a modification of a complex analytic set *X*, it is important to look at the induced modifications on the complex subsets of *X* whose irreducible components are *not* contained in the indeterminacy locus:

Definition 2.38. Let *X* be a complex analytic set and let $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ be a modification of it. Consider a closed analytic subset $Y \hookrightarrow X$ without irreducible components contained in the indeterminacy locus $\operatorname{Ind}(\pi)$. Its **total transform** by the modification π is the full preimage $\pi^{-1}(Y)$. Its **strict transform** $\pi_s^{-1}(Y)$ by the modification π is the closure inside \tilde{X} of the preimage of the part $\pi^{-1}(Y \setminus \operatorname{Ind}(\pi))$ of Y which is not contained in the indeterminacy locus.

The reason of this terminology is that the restriction $\pi : \pi_s^{-1}(Y) \to Y$ of π to the strict transform of Y is again a modification, which is not in general the case of the restriction $\pi : \pi^{-1}(Y) \to Y$ to the total transform of Y.

Example 2.39. Consider the blow-up $\pi: \tilde{X} \to X$ of a cone X with isolated singularity at 0, as in Example 2.34, illustrated on Figure 2.5. We assume that X is of dimension at least 2, which implies that $\mathbb{P}(X) \simeq \pi^{-1}(0)$ is of dimension at least 1. Consider one of the generating lines $Y \hookrightarrow X$ of the cone X. Then the strict transform of Y is the corresponding line seen as a fiber of the line bundle $\tilde{X} \to \mathbb{P}(X)$ and the restriction $\pi: \pi_s^{-1}(Y) \to Y$ is an isomorphism. But the total transform $\pi^{-1}(Y)$ has two irreducible components $\pi_s^{-1}(Y)$ and $\pi^{-1}(0)$. The restriction $\pi: \pi^{-1}(Y) \to Y$ is therefore not a modification, as condition (2) of Definition 2.36 is not satisfied.

In his 1964 paper [78], Hironaka proved the following fundamental theorem, which had been proved before only for varieties of complex dimension at most 3:

Theorem 2.40. All complex algebraic varieties admit resolutions of singularities, obtainable moreover by sequences of blow-ups of smooth subvarieties.

Let us explain the notion of *blow up* of a closed submanifold *S* of another complex manifold *M*. In the case when $M = \mathbb{C}^n$ seen as a cone with vertex at the origin and S = 0, the definition we are going to give specializes to Definition 2.35.

Informally speaking, the blow up of S in M replaces S by its *projectivised normal bundle* $\mathbb{P}(N_M S)$. More precisely, one has the following definition, which is to be contrasted with Definition 2.32:

Definition 2.41. Let *S* be a closed complex submanifold of the complex manifold *M*. The **blow up** of *S* in *M* is a morphism $\beta_S : B_S M \to M$ of complex manifolds such that:

- 1. B_SM is smooth;
- 2. β_S is proper;
- 3. $\beta_{S}^{-1}(S)$ is a codimension 1 submanifold of $\mathcal{B}_{S}M$;
- 4. the restriction $\beta_S : \mathcal{B}_S M \setminus \beta_S^{-1}(S) \to M \setminus S$ is an isomorphism.

One may show that the blow-up of *S* in *M* exists and is unique up to a unique isomorphism above *M*. Moreover, one may show that the map which associates to each smooth germ of curve $(C, s) \hookrightarrow (M, s)$ transversal to *S* at a point $s \in S$, the intersection of its strict transform with $\beta_S^{-1}(S)$, identifies $\beta_S^{-1}(S)$ with the projectivized normal bundle $\mathbb{P}(N_M S)$.

More generally, one may blow up any complex analytic subspace of a complex analytic set (see Fischer [55, Chapter 4] or Peternell [155, Section 2]). We won't explain this generalization, as we don't need it in the sequel.

Hironaka's proof of Theorem 2.40 extends readily to complex analytic *germs*. Much more efforts were needed to extend it to complex analytic *sets*, but he achieved this with the help of Aroca and Vicente in the volumes [79], [3], [4].

When (X, x) is a curve singularity, the normalization morphism resolves it. This is no longer true in higher dimensions, but as explained after Proposition 2.23, normalization destroys nevertheless the



Figure 2.6. A small resolution of the cone over a smooth quadric surface

singular locus in codimension 1. It may be shown that when the analytic set X is normal, then the exceptional locus of any resolution of singularities of it has everywhere dimension ≥ 1 . Therefore, when moreover dimX = 2, this exceptional locus is a curve, that is, a divisor, in the total space \tilde{X} of the resolution.

In general, for germs of arbitrary dimension, we say that a resolution is **divisorial** if its exceptional locus is a *divisor* in the total space, that is, if it has pure codimension 1 in it. Starting from dimension 3, there exist singularities admitting non-divisorial resolutions, and even resolutions with exceptional sets having everywhere codimension ≥ 2 (called **small resolutions**).

Example 2.42. The simplest example of a normal singularity which admits a small resolution is given by the hypersurface singularity at the origin 0 of the cone *X* over a smooth quadric in \mathbb{P}^3 . For instance, one may take the cone in \mathbb{C}^4 defined by the equation $z_1z_2 - z_3z_4 = 0$. A smooth quadric is doubly ruled, that is, it is covered by two families of lines, each one being parametrized by \mathbb{P}^1 . This shows that it is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. Select one of the rulings, say, by the fibers of the first projection $p_1 : \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$. One may consider the rational map:

$$\begin{array}{cc} X & \cdots \to \mathbb{P}^1 \\ x & \cdots \to p_1[x] \end{array}$$

where [x] denotes the point of the quadric $\mathbb{P}(X)$ corresponding to the generating line of the cone passing through x. This map is well-defined outside 0. Denote by \tilde{X} the closure of its graph in $X \times \mathbb{P}^1$ and by $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ the natural projection onto the first factor. One may show that this morphism is a resolution of singularities of X, with exceptional locus isomorphic with \mathbb{P}^1 (see Figure 2.6).

This construction may be seen as an analog of the blow-up construction of Example 2.34. Indeed, there one looked at the collection of generating lines of the cone X and \tilde{X} was the total space of the associated line bundle. Here one looks at one collection of planes contained in the cone X and one looks at the total space \tilde{X} of the associated plane bundle over \mathbb{P}^1 .

Note that one may permute the roles of the two factors in the product decomposition $\mathbb{P}(X) \simeq \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, getting a second small resolution. It may be shown that any other resolution of X factors through at least one of them, but that none of these two small resolutions factors through the

other one. Therefore, the singularity (X, 0) has no *minimal* resolution (in the sense that any other resolution factors through it).

For more details about modifications, one may consult Peternell [155]. For more details about blow-ups of submanifolds of complex manifolds, one may consult Griffiths and Harris [69, Page 603]. For a gentle introduction to the use of blow-ups in resolution of singularities, one may consult Hauser [75]. The reader interested in proofs of Theorem 2.40 may consult Cutkosky's book [35] or Kollár's book [94]. For introductions to various techniques of resolution of singularities of surfaces, one may consult Lipman [110], Faber and Hauser [52] and Popescu-Pampu [164].

3. Surface singularities

3.1. Divisors on smooth complex surfaces and their intersection numbers

We will study normal surface singularities (X, x) through their resolutions (see Definition 2.32). If the base point x is a singular point of X, then it gets replaced by a *divisor* on the total space of the resolution. For this reason, we start by explaining in this subsection the needed facts about divisors on smooth complex surfaces.

Definition 3.1. A **divisor** on a smooth complex surface *S* is an element $D := \sum_{i \in I} a_i D_i$ of the free abelian group generated by the closed irreducible curves of *S*. If the previous sum is irredundant (that is, if the irreducible curves D_i are pairwise distinct), then the coefficient $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ of the irreducible curve D_i in *D* is called the **multiplicity of** D_i in *D*. The **support** |D| of *D* is the union of the irreducible curves of non-zero multiplicity in *D*. The divisor *D* is called **reduced** if all the closed irreducible curves appear in it with multiplicity 0 or 1. It is called **effective** if all the multiplicities a_i are non-negative.

Each meromorphic section of a line bundle on *S* defines a divisor, provided that it does not vanish or has poles on an infinite number of irreducible curves of *S*:

Definition 3.2. Let *L* be a holomorphic line bundle on the smooth complex surface *S* and *s* a meromorphic section of it. Consider a closed irreducible curve *C* on *S*. Denote by f_C a holomorphic function which defines *C* on *S* in a neighborhood of *p* (in particular, it vanishes at order 1 along it). The **order of vanishing ord**_{*C*}(*s*) **of** *s* **along** *C* is the unique integer *a* such that for any $p \in C$, the meromorphic section $f_C^{-a}s$ of *L* is in fact holomorphic and non-zero along *C* in a pointed neighborhood $U \setminus \{p\}$ of *p* in *S*. If a > 0 then *C* **is a zero of order** *a* **of** *s* and if a < 0 then *C* **is a pole of order** *-a* **of** *s*.

The **divisor** (s) of s is the sum

$$(s) := \sum_{C} \operatorname{ord}_{C}(s)C,$$

taken over all irreducible closed curves on S. It is well defined only when there is a finite number of such curves with $\operatorname{ord}_C(s) \neq 0$.

In particular, one has the following special types of divisors:

- principal divisors, which are the divisors of the form (*f*), when *f* is a meromorphic function on *S*, that is, a meromorphic section of the trivial holomorphic line bundle *S* × C;
- **canonical divisors**, which are the divisors of the form (ω), when ω is a meromorphic 2-form, that is, a meromorphic section of the second exterior power $\Lambda^2 T^*S$ of the cotangent bundle T^*S of S.

The function sin(x) defined on the complex plane with coordinates (x, y) is an example of nonzero holomorphic function which vanishes over an infinite number of irreducible curves, and which has therefore no divisor according to the previous definition. One could enlarge the definition by allowing also infinite sums, but this level of generality will not be needed in the sequel.

If $p \in S$ is a point belonging to the support |D| of a divisor D, a **defining function** f_D **of** D **in the neighborhood of** p is a meromorphic function defined in a neighborhood of p such that $D = (f_D)$ in this neighborhood. Such a function necessarily exists whenever the neighborhood is sufficiently small, but it is not unique. Nevertheless, two such functions differ multiplicatively by a holomorphic function which vanishes nowhere in a neighborhood of p.

By contrast, a divisor *D* may not allow a *global* defining function, that is, there are smooth complex surfaces which admit non-principal divisors. This is the case for instance whenever *D* is a non-trivial *effective* divisor on a *connected and compact* complex surface. Indeed, in such a case any global holomorphic function is constant, by the *maximum modulus principle*, which shows that no such function defines globally the divisor *D*.

The fact that a divisor is not principal indicates only that it is not the divisor of a section of the *trivial* line bundle. In fact, each divisor D may be realized as the divisor of a meromorphic section of a suitable line bundle $L_S(D)$, which is moreover canonically attached to it (see Hartshorne [73, Section II.6] or Ishii [86, Section 5.2]).

If *A* and *B* are two divisors on a smooth surface *S*, one may define their **intersection number** $A \cdot B \in \mathbb{Z}$ in the following cases:

- when the intersection of the supports |A|, |B| is finite;
- when at least one of the supports |A|, |B| is compact.

Let us consider successively the two cases.

Definition 3.3. Assume that *A* and *B* are two *effective divisors* on the smooth complex surface *S*, whose supports intersect in a finite set. If $p \in |A| \cap |B|$ and f_A , f_B are defining holomorphic functions of *A* and *B* in a neighborhood of *p*, then the **intersection number** $(A \cdot B)_p$ of *A* and *B* at *p* is the dimension

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \frac{\mathcal{O}_{S,p}}{(f_A, f_B)},$$

where (f_A, f_B) denotes the ideal generated by f_A and f_B in the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{S,p}$ of holomorphic functions on S at p. The **(global) intersection number** $A \cdot B$ of the divisors A and B is the sum of local intersection numbers at all points of $|A| \cap |B|$.

When A is not necessarily irreducible but still compact and A, B are not necessarily effective but $|A| \cap |B|$ is still finite, then the intersection number $A \cdot B$ is defined by bilinearity, writing both A and B as differences of effective divisors.

The same strategy, of defining first the intersection number for *effective* divisors and extending it afterwards to arbitrary divisors, works also when the supports of the divisors share irreducible components, *provided that these common components are compact*:

Definition 3.4. Assume that *A* is a compact irreducible curve on the smooth complex surface *S* and that *B* is an arbitrary divisor on *S*. Then the **intersection number** $A \cdot B$ is equal to the degree of the pull-back $v^*L_S(B)$ of the line bundle associated to *B* by the normalization morphism $v : \tilde{A} \to A$.

When A and B are not necessarily effective but A is still assumed compact, their intersection number $A \cdot B$ is defined by bilinearity, writing both A and B as differences of effective divisors.

One may show that definitions 3.3 and 3.4 are compatible. Namely, when A is compact, then both of them lead to the same notion of intersection number.

The intersection product is by construction bilinear and satisfies the following important property:

Proposition 3.5. If *D* is a divisor with compact support and *f* is a meromorphic function on the complex surface *S*, then $D \cdot (f) = 0$.

If *D* is a *compact* effective divisor on the smooth complex surface *S*, then it may be interpreted as a (non-necessarily reduced) compact curve, with associated structure sheaf \mathcal{O}_D defined as the quotient of the structure sheaf \mathcal{O}_S of *S* by the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_S(-D)$ of ideals of holomorphic functions vanishing along *D*. The local rings of the structure sheaf \mathcal{O}_D are not reduced along the irreducible components of *D* with multiplicity different from 0 and 1, which explains the denomination "reduced divisor" introduced in Definition 3.1. More generally, for any compact but not necessarily reduced algebraic curve, one has an associated notion of genus, which generalizes the classical Riemannian genus of a compact Riemann surface:

Definition 3.6. The **arithmetic genus** $p_a(D)$ of the compact and not necessarily reduced curve D is by definition equal to $1 - \chi(\mathcal{O}_D)$.

When the curve D is situated, as in our case, in a smooth complex surface, it is possible to compute its arithmetic genus only by computing intersection numbers inside the ambient surface:

Theorem 3.7. (**The adjunction formula**) Assume that *D* is a compact effective divisor contained in the smooth complex surface S. Then

$$p_a(D) := 1 + \frac{1}{2}(D^2 + K_S \cdot D)$$

where K_S is any canonical divisor on S (see Definition 3.2).

Assume now that *C* is an irreducible compact complex curve, possibly with singularities. We do not assume any more that *C* is contained in a smooth surface. Denote by g(C) the *arithmetic genus of its normalization*. By a theorem of Riemann, g(C) is equal to the topological genus of the underlying Riemann surface (that is, to one half of its first Betti number). In order to understand the relation between $p_a(C)$ and g(C), let us introduce a measure of the complexity of a curve singularity, different from its multiplicity:

Definition 3.8. Let (C, p) be a curve singularity. Denote by $\nu : (\overline{C}, \overline{p}) \rightarrow (C, p)$ the normalization of C (therefore, $(\overline{C}, \overline{p})$ may be a multi-germ). The **delta-invariant** $\delta(C, p)$ of (C, p) is defined by:

$$\delta(C,p) := \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{C},\overline{p}}/\mathcal{O}_{C,p}).$$

Let us come back to an irreducible compact complex curve C. The two genera $p_a(C)$ and g(C) associated to it are related in the following way:

Proposition 3.9. Let C be an irreducible compact complex curve. Both genera $p_{\alpha}(C)$ and g(C) are related by the following formula:

$$p_a(C) = g(C) + \sum_{p \in C} \delta(C, p).$$

In particular, $p_{\alpha}(C) \ge g(C)$, with equality if and only if the curve C is smooth.

One may find more details on intersection numbers of divisors on smooth complex surfaces in Barth, Hulek, Peters and Van de Ven [8, Sections II.9-10] and Ishii [86, Section 5.4].

For more details on *arithmetic genera*, the *adjunction formula* and the *anti-canonical cycle*, we refer to Reid [168, Section 3.6], Barth, Hulek, Peters & Van de Ven [8, Section II.11] and Ishii [86, Proposition 5.3.11].

3.2. Objects associated to a resolution of surface singularity

Assume that (X, x) is a *normal* surface singularity. Usually one studies it using its resolutions. As in any dimension which is at least equal to 2, those resolutions are not unique. But one has instead (see Laufer [99, Theorem 5.9]):

Proposition 3.10. The normal surface singularity (X, x) has a unique minimal resolution, in the sense that any other resolution factors through it. It may be characterized by the fact that its exceptional divisor does not contain any irreducible smooth rational curve of self-intersection -1.

In higher dimensions, one has no analogous theorem, as may be understood already by looking at the cone over a smooth quadric surface, as in Example 2.42.

Smooth rational curves of self-intersection –1 appear in Proposition 3.10 for the following reason:

Proposition 3.11. Consider the blow up $\beta : S \to \mathbb{C}^2$ of the origin in the complex affine plane \mathbb{C}^2 . Denote by $E := \beta^{-1}(0)$ its exceptional locus. Then E is a smooth rational curve of self-intersection -1.

Let us prove this proposition. For the reason explained in Example 2.34, *E* may be canonically identified with the projectivisation of \mathbb{C}^2 seen as a cone with vertex at the origin. Therefore, *E* is a smooth rational curve. Consider the line $L := Z(x) \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ and its strict transform L' by the blow up β (see Definition 2.38). Consider also the lift $\beta^* x$ to *S* of the defining function *x* of *L*. Its divisor may be decomposed in the following way:

$$(\beta^* x) = aE + L',$$

where $a \in \mathbb{Z}^*_+$ (as the function $\beta^* x$ vanishes only along E and L' and it has no poles). Let us show that a = 1. Consider for this a second line $H \neq L$ passing through the origin of \mathbb{C}^2 and its strict transform H' on S. By the construction of the blow up explained in Example 2.34, the morphism β restricts to an isomorphism from H' to H. As x vanishes with multiplicity 1 at the origin of H, we deduce that $\beta^* x$ vanishes also with multiplicity 1 at the origin of H'. But this order of vanishing is equal to a, as H' is transversal to E, being a fiber of S seen as a line bundle over E (see again Example 2.34). This shows that one has indeed a = 1. Apply now Proposition 3.5 to the compact divisor E and to the principal divisor ($\beta^* x$) on S. One gets:

$$E \cdot (E + L') = 0 \implies E^2 = -E \cdot L' = -1.$$

The proposition is proved.

One may use the model of the blow up of the origin of \mathbb{C}^2 in a local chart, whenever one blows up a smooth point of a complex surface. For this reason, any such blow up creates a smooth rational curve of self-intersection -1. Therefore, if one starts from a smooth surface and one composes a finite sequence of blow ups, one gets a surface which contains necessarily at least one such curve. In fact, one has the following converse (see Hartshorne [73, Proposition 5.3] and Cutkosky [34, Corollary 6.3] for proofs in the algebraic category, which may be easily adapted to the analytic category):

Proposition 3.12. Assume that $\pi : S_1 \rightarrow S$ is a proper holomorphic modification between smooth complex surfaces. Then:

- 1. the exceptional locus of π contains at least one smooth rational curve D of self-intersection -1;
- 2. π may be factored as $\pi = \psi \circ \beta$, where $\psi : S_2 \to S$ is a proper holomorphic modification between smooth complex surfaces and $\beta : S_1 \to S_2$ is the blow up of a point $p \in S_2$, whose exceptional locus is D;
- 3. π is a composition of blow ups of points.

Note that this proposition is specific to dimension 2: as explained in [73, Remark 5.4.4] and [34, Example 6.4], in higher dimensions there are proper modifications between manifolds which are not compositions of blow ups of smooth centers.

Note also that the exceptional locus of a modification obtained starting from a smooth complex surface and composing blow ups has *normal crossings*, in the following sense:

Definition 3.13. A divisor *D* is said to have **normal crossings** if its reduced germ at any point of it is either smooth or the union of two smooth germs of curves intersecting transversally.

Let us return to our normal surface singularity (X, x). Consider any resolution $\pi : (\tilde{X}, E) \rightarrow (X, x)$ of it, where E denotes the reduced fibre over x. Therefore E can be seen as a connected reduced effective divisor in \tilde{X} , called **the exceptional divisor** of π . The divisor E has not necessarily normal crossings. But by blowing-up recursively the points at which E has not a normal crossing, one obtains canonically starting from π a **strict normal crossings resolution**, that is, one whose exceptional divisor has normal crossings and smooth irreducible components. If one starts this process from the minimal resolution, one obtains **the canonical strict normal crossings resolution**. It may be shown that any other strict normal crossings resolution factors through it.

One associates to the resolution of (X, x) its *weighted dual graph* (see several examples in Figure 3.4 below):

Definition 3.14. Let $\pi : (\hat{X}, E) \to (X, x)$ be a resolution of the normal surface singularity (X, x). Its **weighted dual graph** $\Gamma(\pi)$ is obtained as follows:

- its vertices *i* correspond bijectively to the irreducible components *E_i* of *E*;
- there is an edge with multiplicity $e_{ij} := E_i \cdot E_j \ge 0$ between the distinct vertices *i* and *j* (if $e_{ij} = 0$, then one considers that there is no edge between *i* and *j*);
- each vertex *i* is weighted by the self-intersection number $-e_i := E_i^2$ of the associated component E_i , inside the smooth surface \tilde{X} ;
- each vertex *i* is also weighted by the arithmetic genus p_i (see Definition 3.6) of the compact irreducible curve E_i .

A basic property of the graph $\Gamma(\pi)$, coming from the fact that (X, x) is normal, is that it is *connected*. Note that Proposition 3.9 implies that $p_i = 0$ if and only if E_i is a smooth rational curve.

Example 3.15. Let us assume that $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ is a cone over a smooth algebraic curve $\mathbb{P}(X)$ of degree $d \ge 1$ in the projective space \mathbb{P}^{n-1} . Consider the blow up \tilde{X} of 0 in X, as in Example 2.34. Then \tilde{X} is the total space of a line bundle over $\mathbb{P}(X)$, which shows that the exceptional divisor of π is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}(X)$. One may show by the same method as that used in the proof of Proposition 3.11 that the self-intersection number of this exceptional divisor in \tilde{X} is -d. The associated dual graph has therefore only one vertex i, no edge, and $e_i = d$.

For simplicity, once a resolution π is fixed, we will denote the weighted dual graph by Γ .

Denote by $V(\Gamma)$ the set of vertices of Γ and by $\underline{e} \in \mathbb{Z}^{V(\Gamma)}$ the function which associates to each vertex *i* the integer e_i . To the weighted graph Γ is associated a canonical quadratic form on the real vector space $\mathbb{R}^{V(\Gamma)}$, called **the intersection form** of the resolution π :

$$Q(\underline{x}) := -\sum_{i \in V(\Gamma)} e_i x_i^2 + \sum_{\substack{(i,j) \in V(\Gamma)^2 \\ i \neq j}} e_{ij} x_i x_j.$$

The geometrical meaning of the intersection form is the following: if one associates to $\underline{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{V(\Gamma)}$ the divisor $\sum_{i \in V(\Gamma)} x_i E_i$ on the smooth surface \tilde{X} , then $Q(\underline{x})$ is its self-intersection number on \tilde{X} .

One has the following characterization of exceptional divisors of resolutions of normal surface singularities (see Laufer [99, Chapter 4]), whose first statement was proved by Du Val [195] and Mumford [130] and whose second statement was proved by Grauert [62]:

Theorem 3.16.

- 1. The intersection form Q is negative definite. In particular, $e_i > 0$ for all $i \in V(\Gamma)$.
- 2. If the intersection form associated to a reduced and connected compact divisor E on a smooth surface is negative definite, then E can be contracted to a normal singular point of an analytic surface (that is, the germ of the surface along it is the total space of a resolution of singularities of a normal surface singularity).

Consider now a germ $f \in m_{X,X}$, where $m_{X,X}$ denotes the maximal ideal of the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,X}$ of germs of holomorphic functions on the surface singularity (X, X). Lift f to the resolved surface \hat{X} and look at the associated principal divisor $(\pi^* f)$ of this lift. It may be uniquely decomposed as a sum:

$$(\pi^* f) = (\pi^* f)_e + (\pi^* f)_s$$

without common irreducible components, where $(\pi^* f)_e$ denotes its **exceptional part** (whose support is contained in *E*) and $(\pi^* f)_s$ denotes the **strict transform** on \tilde{X} of the divisor (*f*). As the intersection number between $(\pi^* f)$ and each irreducible component E_i of *E* vanishes (see Proposition 3.5), one gets:

(3.1)
$$(\pi^* f)_e \cdot E_i = -(\pi^* f)_s \cdot E_i \le 0$$
, for all $i \in I$.

Therefore one is led to introduce the **Lipman semigroup** $\mathcal{L}(\pi)$ of π (the name makes reference to Lipman's work [109]), defined as:

$$\mathcal{L}(\pi) := \{ D \in \sum_{i \in I} \mathbb{Z} E_i \mid D \cdot E_i \le 0, \text{ for all } i \in I \}.$$

This set is a semigroup for the addition of divisors. On it we consider the partial order relation:

 $D_1 \ge D_2 \iff D_1 - D_2$ is effective.

A basic property of this semigroup is (see Zariski [206, Lemma 7.1]):

Proposition 3.17. All the elements of the Lipman semigroup are effective divisors.

As we have seen in the explanations leading to formula (3.1), the exceptional part of the divisor of the lift of any holomorphic function $f \in m_{X,x}$ belongs to the Lipman semigroup. The converse is not true in general, excepted for *rational* singularities (see Definition 3.32).

M. Artin showed in [6] that the set of non-zero divisors of the Lipman semigroup has a unique minimal element, which is essential in the study of the singularity. This motivates:

Definition 3.18. The minimal element of $\mathcal{L}(\pi) \setminus \{0\}$ is called the **fundamental cycle** Z_{num} of π .

Laufer [100, Proposition 4.1] showed that the fundamental cycle may be computed algorithmically:

Proposition 3.19. Start from $Z_0 := E_{i_0}$, where i_0 is an arbitrary element of *I*. If Z_j is defined and there exists $i \in I$ such that $Z_j \cdot E_i > 0$, define $Z_{j+1} := Z_j + E_i$. Then this process stops after a finite number of steps and the last element in the sequence $Z_0, Z_1, ...$ is the fundamental cycle of π .

We will also need to manipulate another cycle supported by the exceptional divisor E of the resolution π and defined, as the fundamental cycle, by intersection-theoretical properties: the *anti-canonical cycle*.

Before explaining its definition, let us introduce supplementary notations. For each irreducible component E_i of E, denote by g_i the arithmetic genus of its normalization (recall from Definition 3.14 that we denote by p_i the arithmetic genus of E_i , and from Proposition 3.9 that $g_i = p_i$ if and only if E_i is smooth).

As the intersection form Q is negative definite (see Theorem 3.16), there exists a unique divisor with rational coefficients Z_K supported on E such that:

(3.2)
$$Z_{K} \cdot E_{i} = -K_{\tilde{X}} \cdot E_{i}, \text{ for all } i \in V(\Gamma).$$

Indeed, by the adjunction formula (see Theorem 3.7), this translates into the following system of equations:

(3.3)
$$Z_K \cdot E_i = 2 - 2p_i + E_i^2$$
, for all $i \in I$,

which is a square system of affine equations with unknowns the coefficients of Z_{κ} . The matrix of the associated homogeneous system (relative to any total order of the vertices of Γ) is a matrix of the intersection form Q. As Q is negative definite, this matrix is invertible.

The negative sign in the definition (3.2) of the cycle Z_K is motivated by the following consequence of propositions 3.9, 3.10, 3.17 and formula (3.3):

Proposition 3.20. If the resolution π is minimal, then Z_K is an effective divisor.

Here comes the announced definition:

Definition 3.21. The rational cycle Z_K defined by the equivalent systems (3.2) and (3.3) is called the **anti-canonical cycle** of *E* (or of the resolution π).

This name is motivated by the fact that whenever (X, x) is Gorenstein (see Definition 2.25), $-Z_K$ is a canonical divisor on \tilde{X} . Indeed, if the singularity (X, x) is Gorenstein, consider a non-vanishing holomorphic form defined in a pointed neighborhood of x. Therefore its lift to \tilde{X} is meromorphic and its locus of zeros and poles is contained in E. This locus, considered with multiplicities, is by construction a *canonical divisor* on \tilde{X} (see Definition 3.13). Therefore, it is exactly $-Z_K$, which shows that for Gorenstein singularities, Z_K has integral coefficients. This property being numeric (that is, depending only on intersection-theoretical properties) and common to all normal Gorenstein singularities, it motivates the introduction of the following notion, which plays a role in the statement of Theorem 3.39 below:

Definition 3.22. The normal surface singularity (X, x) is called **numerically Gorenstein** if Z_K is an integral divisor.

Not every numerically Gorenstein singularity is Gorenstein (see Laufer's theorem 3.44 below). But the author proved in [163] that any numerically Gorenstein normal surface singularity has the same topological type as a Gorenstein one. By contrast, one does not know how to characterize the topological types of hypersurface or complete intersection normal surface singularities. By the way, how is it possible to describe such a topological type? Next subsection is dedicated to this question.

A survey of the properties of normal surface singularities related to their intersection forms was written by Wall [201]. More details on the various cycles attached to such a singularity and on their importance for classification questions may be found in Némethi's notes [132] and [134].

3.3. The topology of normal surface singularities

Two isolated singularities are called **topologically equivalent** if they have representatives which may be identified through a homeomorphism which sends one base point onto the other one and is orientation-preserving outside the base point (the orientations being iduced by the complex structures).

How to encode the topological equivalence class of an isolated complex singularity? The usual method is to start from some representative of it and to define suitable *tubular neighborhoods* of the base point, which are *cones* over a real smooth manifold, the *boundary* or *link* of the singularity. The topological type of the singularity is therefore captured by the topological structure of its boundary.

Let us be more precise. Consider an isolated singularity (X, x) of arbitrary dimension. By choosing an embedding of a representative of it in some complex affine space (\mathbb{C}^n , 0), one may restrict to X



Figure 3.1. Passing from a rug function to a choice of boundary

the squared distance function to the origin

(3.4) $\rho_0(z_1,...,z_n) := |z_1|^2 + \dots + |z_n|^2,$

getting in this way a function:

$$\rho:(X,x)\to(\mathbb{R},0)$$

with the following properties:

- it is real-analytic;
- it is non-negative;
- $\rho^{-1}(0) = x$ for some choice of the representative *X*.

Consider more generally *any* function ρ with the previous properties, not necessarily coming from the squared-distance to the origin relative to some embedding. Following a denomination introduced by Thom [189] in a related context, we will call it a **rug functions** of (X, x) ("fonction tapissante" in French). One may show that a rug function is moreover proper and submersive in a pointed neighborhood of x in X. This implies that the sufficiently small positive levels $M_{\epsilon} := \rho^{-1}(\epsilon)$ of ρ are all smooth and pairwise diffeomorphic, which allows to define:

Definition 3.23. Let (X, x) be an isolated singularity and ρ be a rug function of (X, x). The **boundary** or **link** $\partial(X, x)$ of the singularity (X, x) is any positive level manifold M_{ϵ_0} of ρ such that all the levels M_{ϵ} are pairwise diffeomorphic manifolds for $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_0]$. One orients M_{ϵ_0} as the boundary of the complex manifold $\rho^{-1}(0, \epsilon_0)$.

The process leading to the construction of a representative level of the boundary of (X, x) is illustrated in Figure 3.1.

The boundary $\partial(X, x)$ is a closed oriented manifold, whose connected components are the boundaries of the irreducible components of (X, x). If (X, x) is of pure complex dimension n, then its boundary is of real dimension 2n - 1. One may show that $\partial(X, x)$ is independent of the choice of rug function ρ , up to orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms which are well-defined up to isotopy. Moreover, the previous construction allows to get the announced special conic representatives of the singularity:

Proposition 3.24. Assume that the rug function ρ is proper on $\rho^{-1}[0, \epsilon_0]$ and that it is submersive on $\rho^{-1}(0, \epsilon_0]$. Then the pair $(\rho^{-1}[0, \epsilon_0], x)$ is homeomorphic to the cone over $\partial(X, x)$.

Which oriented odd-dimensional manifolds appear as boundaries of isolated complex singularities? If such a singularity has several irreducible components, then its boundary is the disjoint union of the boundaries of its components. Therefore, let us restrict the previous question to the case of *irreducible* isolated singularities.

In complex dimension 1, the answer is simple: one gets only circles. In dimension 2 the answer is much more complicated, but it is also known (see Theorem 3.27 below). In higher dimensions the question is open. Nevertheless, one knows several constraints on the algebraic topological invariants of such boundaries (see Kollár [95]).

Let us restrict now to the study of boundaries of *isolated and irreducible surface singularities*. If (X, x) is such a singularity and $\nu : (\overline{X}, \overline{x}) \to (X, x)$ is its normalization, then the lift $\rho \circ \nu$ of any rug function of (X, x) is a rug function of $(\overline{X}, \overline{x})$. This allows to identify the boundaries of (X, x) and $(\overline{X}, \overline{x})$.

For this reason, in the rest of this section we will assume that (X, x) is a normal surface singularity. The systematic study of the topological structure of boundaries of normal surface singularities started with Mumford's article [130], in which he proved that one could recognize whether a point on a normal surface was smooth only by looking at the topology of the boundary of the germ of surface at this point (see also Hirzebruch [81]):

Theorem 3.25. If the boundary of a normal surface singularity (X, x) is simply connected, then x is a smooth point of X.

In particular, as the boundary of a germ of surface at a smooth point is diffeomorphic to S^3 , this showed that one could not get a counterexample to Poincaré's conjecture by taking the boundary of a surface singularity.

In order to prove Theorem 3.25, Mumford described the boundary as the result of performing an operation which he called **plumbing** on suitable elementary 3-manifolds. The list of those elementary 3-manifolds and the instructions for plumbing them were determined by the weighted dual graph Γ (see Definition 3.14) of any *strict normal crossings* resolution of (*X*, *x*).

Example 3.26. Let us consider again the case of a cone $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}^n$ over an irreducible smooth algebraic curve $\mathbb{P}(X)$ of degree $d \ge 1$, as in Example 3.15. Consider the blow-up $\pi: \tilde{X} \to X$ of 0 in X, whose exceptional divisor E is canonically identified with $\mathbb{P}(X)$. It is a strict normal crossing resolution of X. Then the tubular neighborhoods of 0 in X defined by a rug function lift to tubular neighborhoods of E in \tilde{X} . This allows to identify the boundary $\partial(X, 0)$ with the boundary of such a tubular neighborhood of E in \tilde{X} . As \tilde{X} is the total space of a line bundle of degree -d over $\mathbb{P}(X)$, its zero-section being E, we deduce that $\partial(X, 0)$ is diffeomorphic to the total space of the circle bundle associated to this line bundle. Such a circle bundle is determined up to fiber and orientationpreserving diffeomorphisms by its *Euler number*. When the circle bundle is associated, as is the case here, to a complex line bundle, then its Euler number is equal to the degree of this line bundle. Summarizing, we see that the boundary of the singularity at the vertex of the cone over a smooth irreducible curve of degree d is a circle bundle with Euler number -d over the underlying *Riemann surface of the curve.* Note that, if one restricts to the case where $X = \mathbb{C}^2$, then the previous considerations lead to another proof of Proposition 3.11. The circle bundle structure which one gets on the boundary of a Euclidean ball centered at the origin of \mathbb{C}^2 is nothing else than the classical Hopf fibration on $\mathbb{S}^3 \simeq \partial(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$.

As seen in Example 3.15, the dual graph of the previous resolution of the cone X has only one vertex *i*, with $e_i = d$ and g_i equal to the genus of the smooth projective curve $\mathbb{P}(X)$. In this case one



Figure 3.2. The local situation leading to a plumbing operation

has only one elementary manifold, which is the circle bundle of Euler number $-e_i$ over an oriented closed connected surface of genus g_i . Here one does not perform any plumbing operation.

For an arbitrary normal surface singularity (X, x), one needs to perform plumbing operations in order to reconstruct its boundary $\partial(X, x)$ only when one works with a strict normal crossing resolution of (X, x) whose exceptional divisor E has at least two irreducible components. But the elementary manifolds to be plumbed are still circle bundles over oriented surfaces, as in the previous example.

In order to understand this, let us think at another way of building a tubular neighborhood of E in \tilde{X} , without the help of a rug function:

- By choosing a Riemannian metric on \tilde{X} in a neighborhood of E, one may use the associated exponential map in order to push the disc bundle structure on the normal bundle of each E_i into a disc bundle structure of a tubular neighborhood W_i of E_i . One has to choose discs of sufficiently small radii in the normal bundle.
- By requiring moreover that the metric be chosen such that, at each singular point *p* of *E*, the two components *E_i* and *E_j* meeting at *p* are orthogonal at *p* and totally geodesic in a neighborhood of *p*, one may ensure that *E_i* contains a fiber of the disc bundle of *W_j* in a neighborhood of *p*, and conversely after permuting *i* and *j*.
- Choose more carefully the tubular neighborhoods W_i and W_j such that in the neighborhood of p their intersection gets identified to a product $D_{ij} \times D_{ji}$ of discs by the two bundle projections (see Figure 3.2).
- Ensure also that the global intersection of W_i and W_j is the disjoint union of those local intersections with product structures.
- Take as tubular neighborhood *W* of *E* the union of the individual tubular neighborhoods *W_i*. If one imagines that those disc bundles *W_i* are abstract manifolds, then the operation of gluing which has to be performed in order to get *W* is called **plumbing**.
- The same name applies to the operation which allows to reconstruct ∂W from the circle bundles induced on the boundaries ∂W_i by the disc bundles on W_i . Locally near an intersection point p of E_i and E_j , one removes the solid torus $D_{ij} \times \partial D_{ji}$ from ∂W_i , symmetrically $D_{ji} \times \partial D_{ij}$ from ∂W_j and one identifies the resulting 2-dimensional tori, getting a torus T_{ij} inside ∂W (see again Figure 3.2).

Course nº III— Complex singularities and contact topology



Figure 3.3. Plumbing annuli and Möbius bands

In this way, the oriented 3-manifold ∂W appears decomposed into circle-bundles over compact surfaces with boundary using a finite set of pairwise disjoint tori. Along each such torus, the fibers of the two fibrations meeting along it on both sides have as intersection number ±1.

The resulting manifold with corners *W* is illustrated in Figure 3.3. In order to suggest the complex 2-dimensional situation, we have drawn a real 2-dimensional picture, in which the disc-bundles over closed surfaces are replaced by segment-bundles over circles. In order to indicate that the disc-bundles are non-trivial (which is a consequence of the negative definiteness of the intersection form of the resolution, see Theorem 3.16), we have drawn both annuli and Möbius bands as such segment bundles.

It may be shown, starting from the study done by Mumford in [130], that this second way of constructing a tubular neighborhood of E leads to a 4-dimensional manifold with boundary and corners which is piecewise-diffeomorphic to the tubular neighborhoods constructed using lifts of rug functions. Using also Theorem 3.16, one arrives at:

Theorem 3.27. The oriented boundaries of normal surface singularities are precisely the oriented 3-dimensional manifolds which may be obtained by plumbing circle bundles according to a negative-definite connected weighted graph.

Therefore, the boundaries of normal surface singularities are particular 3-manifolds, obtained by plumbing circle bundles over surfaces following a weighted graph. For this reason, such 3-manifolds were named **graph-manifolds**. Their theory was started by Waldhausen [200]. He looked at the collection of tori which one gets in a graph manifold as images of the tori which were identified after taking out solid tori from the total spaces of the circle bundles. As explained above, on such a torus the intersection number of the fibers arriving from both sides has absolute value 1. Waldhausen considered then more general families of tori, by asking only that their complement be fiberable by circles, but forgetting the condition about intersection numbers. The class of 3-manifolds which admit such a *graph structure* is the same as before, but one has more possibilities of simplification: each time one finds two *parallel* tori, that is, disjoint 2-tori which cobound a thick torus $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^2$, one can eliminate one of them, and obtain again a graph structure on the same 3-manifold. Waldhausen proved in [200] that, when the initial 3-manifold is **irreducible**, that is, indecomposable as a connected sum of two other 3-manifolds non-diffeomorphic to the 3-sphere, a minimal such collection of tori is in general a topological invariant of the 3-manifold:

Theorem 3.28. With the exception of a finite explicit list of 3-manifolds, a minimal collection of tori which correspond to a graph structure on an irreducible closed 3-manifold is unique up to isotopy.

Waldhausen described also a notation for graph structures and characterized using it the graph structures corresponding to the minimal collections of tori. His work was the starting point of a "calculus" elaborated by Neumann [142] for plumbing structures. Neumann applied his calculus to give an algorithm which allowed to determine if a given plumbing graph describes or not a singularity boundary. Using this algorithm, he showed:

Theorem 3.29. The boundary of a normal surface singularity is irreducible. Its oriented topological type determines the weighted dual graph of the minimal strict normal crossings resolution up to isomorphism.

Therefore, one may encode the oriented topological type of the singularity boundary by this graph. Moreover, one has an algorithmic way, given an oriented graph manifold, to determine if it is diffeomorphic to a singularity boundary or not.

Before Neumann's theorem 3.29, Sullivan [186] had given the first example of an irreducible graph manifold which was not a singularity boundary: the 3-dimensional torus. In fact even in higher dimensions, odd-dimensional tori cannot be boundaries of isolated singularities, as was proved first by Durfee and Hain [42] and rediscovered by myself (see [161, Corollary 5.3]).

Waldhausen's structure theorem for graph manifolds was extended later by Jaco & Shalen [87] and Johannson [88] into a structure theorem for any *irreducible* 3-manifolds. Namely, any such manifold contains a finite family of pairwise disjoint and non-parallel incompressible tori, minimal for the property that the components of their complement are either *Seifert-fiberable* or do not contain new incompressible tori (which are not boundary-parallel). Moreover, such a family is unique up to an isotopy. It is now called a *JSJ-family of tori*. This uniqueness theorem was the starting point of *Thurston's geometrization conjecture* about the structure of 3-manifolds.

In this section we have examined till now the way to understand the topological structure of the boundary $\partial(X, x)$ starting from a strict normal crossings resolution. Let us see now how such a resolution allows to compute the homology of the boundary.

The universal coefficients theorem shows that it is enough to compute the homology $H_*(\partial(X, x), \mathbb{Z})$ with integral coefficients. As the boundary is an oriented closed 3-manifold, the Poincaré duality theorem combined with the universal coefficients theorem expressing cohomology in terms of homology implies that:

$$H_2(\partial(X, x), \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^1(\partial(X, x), \mathbb{Z}) \simeq (H_1(\partial(X, x), \mathbb{Z}))^*.$$

Here and in the sequel we use the notation M^* for the **dual** Hom_Z(M, Z) of an abelian group M. Denote by Tors(M) the torsion subgroup of M.

The previous isomorphisms show that the whole homology of $\partial(X, x)$ is determined by the first homology group $H_1(\partial(X, x), \mathbb{Z})$. The following proposition, in which all homology groups are taken with integral coefficients, explains that this group is determined by the intersection form of a strict normal crossings resolution:

Proposition 3.30. Let $\pi : (\tilde{X}, E) \to (X, x)$ be a strict normal crossings resolution of the normal surface singularity (X, x). Denote as before by $(E_i)_{i \in I}$ the irreducible components of E (identified with its support |E|) and by Γ the dual graph of E (seen simply as a topological space). Let Λ be the second homology group $H_2(E) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^I$ and $\Lambda^* \simeq \mathbb{Z}^I$ be its dual. If $\lambda : \Lambda \to \Lambda^*$ denotes the morphism of free abelian groups determined by the intersection form on the oriented 4-manifold \tilde{X} , then:

1. There exists a short exact sequence of abelian groups:

$$0 \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i \in I} H_1(E_i) \longrightarrow H_1(E) \longrightarrow H_1(\Gamma) \longrightarrow 0.$$

2. There exists an exact sequence of abelian groups:

 $\wedge \xrightarrow{\lambda} \wedge^* \longrightarrow H_1(\partial(X, x)) \longrightarrow H_1(E) \longrightarrow 0.$

- 3. $|\Lambda^*/\lambda(\Lambda)| = |\text{Tors}(H_1(\partial(X, x)))|.$
- 4. $H_1(\partial(X, x))/\text{Tors}(H_1(\partial(X, x))) \simeq H_1(E)$. Therefore, the boundary $\partial(X, x)$ and the exceptional divisor *E* have the same first Betti number.

Let us sketch a proof of this proposition, as it allows to understand better the relations between the boundary $\partial(X, x)$, the exceptional divisor *E* and its dual graph Γ .

We consider as before a conic representative X of the singularity and we identify the boundary $\partial(X, x)$ with the boundary $\partial \tilde{X}$ of the oriented smooth 4-dimensional manifold \tilde{X} .

One has the following two continuous maps between topological spaces:

$$\bigsqcup_{i\in I} E_i \xrightarrow{\nu} E \xrightarrow{\psi} \Gamma_i$$

in which ν is the normalization morphism of E. The map ψ is not canonically defined, but only up to homotopy. In order to construct it, one chooses discs D_{ij} as in Figure 3.2 above and one foliates them by concentric circles centered at the chosen intersection point p of E_i and E_j . After doing this in the neighborhood of each singular point of E, one contracts to points the connected components of the complement inside E of the interiors of the various discs D_{ij} , as well as each circle of the various foliated discs. One gets in this way a graph isomorphic to the dual graph Γ . It is this quotient map $E \rightarrow \Gamma$ which we denote by ψ .

The morphisms of the exact sequence of point (1) of Proposition 3.30 are those induced by the maps ν and ψ .

Let us consider now the following neighborhood of $H_1(\partial \tilde{X})$ in the long exact homology sequence with integral coefficients of the pair $(\tilde{X}, \partial \tilde{X})$:

$$H_2(\tilde{X}) \longrightarrow H_2(\tilde{X}, \partial \tilde{X}) \longrightarrow H_1(\partial \tilde{X}) \longrightarrow H_1(\tilde{X}) \longrightarrow H_1(\tilde{X}, \partial \tilde{X}).$$

Using Poincaré-Lefschetz duality for the oriented compact manifold with boundary \tilde{X} , this exact sequence becomes:

As \tilde{X} retracts by deformation onto *E*, which has a structure of *CW*-complex of dimension 2, the previous exact sequence becomes:

As both abelian groups $\bigoplus_{u \in \mathcal{V}} H_1(E_u)$ and $H_1(\Gamma)$ are free, point (1) of the proposition implies that this is also the case for $H_1(E)$. As $\text{Tors}(H^2(E)) \simeq \text{Tors}(H_1(E))$ by the universal coefficients theorem, we get canonical isomorphisms:

$$H^2(E) \simeq H_2(E)^* \simeq \Lambda^*$$

Therefore the exact sequence (3.6) becomes the exact sequence of point (2) of the proposition. Points (3) and (4) are then direct consequences of this exact sequence.

For more details on the construction of the boundary of a singularity, see Looijenga [114, Section 2.A], as well as Durfee [40], which builds a general theory of tubular neighborhoods of compact real subvarieties in real algebraic geometry and Dutertre [43], which extends it to possibly non-compact subvarieties.

For more details about graph-manifolds and the JSJ-decomposition, one may consult Neumann [142], Neumann and Swarup [143] and Popescu-Pampu [160].

3.4. Rational and minimally elliptic surface singularities

Since Clebsch called *genus* the measure of complexity associated by Abel and Riemann to an algebraic curve (see [166, Chapter 20]), the term *genus* flourished as a measure of various complexities in algebraic and analytic geometry. This happened also in singularity theory. The following definition was introduced by Wagreich [197]:

Definition 3.31. Let (*X*, *x*) be a normal surface singularity. Its **geometric genus** is defined as:

$$p_g(X, x) := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R^1 \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\tilde{X}}$$

where $\pi: \tilde{X} \to X$ is any resolution of singularities. Its **arithmetic genus** is defined as:

$$p_a(X, x) := \sup_{Z \ge 0} p_a(Z)$$

where Z varies among the effective divisors supported by the exceptional divisor $Exc(\pi)$ and $p_a(Z)$ denotes the arithmetic genus of Z, introduced in Definition 3.6.

In this definition, $R^1\pi_*$ denotes the first right derived functor of the direct image functor π_* , sending sheaves of $\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{X}}$ -modules into sheaves of \mathcal{O}_X -modules. Let us mention another viewpoint, for the sake of the reader who is not accustomed with this kind of yoga. Namely, one may show that if U is a conic representative of (X, x) chosen using a Euclidean squared distance function as explained at the beginning of Subsection 3.3 and if \tilde{U} is its preimage by the chosen resolution, then:

$$p_g(X, x) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^1(\tilde{U}, \mathcal{O}_{\tilde{U}}).$$

It is a theorem that both the geometric and the arithmetic genera introduced in Definition 3.31 are independent of the chosen resolution (see Wagreich [197, Section 1] or Behnke and Riemenschneider [11, Section 2.3]). One has always the inequalities (which were stated by Wagreich [197, Page 425]; for a proof, see Ishii [86, Theorem 7.2.14]):

$$p_q(X, x) \ge p_a(X, x) \ge p_a(Z_{num}) \ge 0.$$

Recall that the *fundamental cycle* Z_{num} was introduced in Definition 3.18.

By analogy with the fact that among smooth connected compact analytic curves, those of smallest genus are called *rational*, Michael Artin [6] introduced the same terminology for surface singularities:

Definition 3.32. A normal surface singularity (X, x) is called **rational** if its geometric genus vanishes.

M. Artin proved that rational singularities may be characterized topologically (see Artin [6, Proposition 1, Theorem 3], Bădescu [10, Theorem 3.21] or Ishii [86, Theorem 7.3.1]):

Theorem 3.33. A normal surface singularity is rational if and only if one of the following equivalent facts happen:

- 1. One has $p_a(X, x) = 0$.
- 2. There exists a strict normal crossings resolution for which $p_a(Z_{num}) = 0$.
- 3. For all the strict normal crossings resolutions, one has $p_a(Z_{num}) = 0$.

Using Laufer's algorithm (see Proposition 3.19), we see that point (2) of Theorem 3.33 allows to determine readily from the knowledge of the weighted graph of a resolution whether a singularity is rational or not. Using Theorem 3.29, we deduce that:

Theorem 3.34. Let (X, x) be a normal surface singularity. The topological type of its boundary $\partial(X, x)$ determines whether it is rational or not.

In general, the minimal resolution of a normal surface singularity is not a composition of blow-ups of points, and its exceptional divisor has not necessarily normal crossings. The situation is different for rational surface singularities (see Lipman [109, Theorem 4.1], Bădescu [10, Theorem 3.23.3]):

Theorem 3.35. Let (X, x) be a rational surface singularity. Then:

- 1. The surface obtained by blowing up x in X is again normal and has only rational singularities.
- 2. Starting from (X, x) and blowing-up recursively all non-smooth points, one gets in a finite number of steps the minimal resolution of (X, x).

- 3. The exceptional divisor of the minimal resolution of (X, x) has strict normal crossings, its irreducible components are rational and its dual graph is a tree.
- 4. All the resolutions of (X, x) have simple normal crossings divisors whose irreducible components are rational and whose dual graphs are trees.
- 5. Any element of the Lipman semigroup associated to any resolution of singularities of (X, x) may be realised as the exceptional part of a principal divisor.

In fact, the last property may be strengthened into the following characterization of rational singularities (see Lipman [109, Theorem 12.1]):

Proposition 3.36. Let π : $(\tilde{X}, E) \rightarrow (X, x)$ be a resolution of a normal surface singularity X. Then (X, x) is rational if and only if any germ D of effective divisor in the neighborhood of E such that $D \cdot E_i = 0$ for all $i \in I$ is principal.

Theorem 3.33 allows to decide by a finite algorithm whether a normal surface singularity is rational or not whenever one knows the weighted dual graph of some strict normal crossing resolution of it. Let us present a different criterion of rationality, which does not use explicitly resolutions in its statement, even if they are needed in its proof (see Behnke and Riemenschneider [11, Theorem 2.7]):

Theorem 3.37. Assume that $\phi : (Y, y) \rightarrow (X, x)$ is a finite (that is, proper with finite fibers) holomorphic morphism between normal surface singularities. If (Y, y) is rational, then (X, x) is also rational.

As (\mathbb{C}^2 , 0) is rational, an immediate consequence of the theorem is (recall that quotient singularities were introduced in Definition 2.29):

Corollary 3.38. *Quotient surface singularities are all rational.*

Another proof of this fact, valid also in higher dimensions, may be found in Ishii [86, Corollary 7.4.10]. As we won't speak here about higher dimensional rational singularities, we decided not to include their definition in our text.

Among quotient surface singularities, the ones which may be realized as *hypersurface singularities* in \mathbb{C}^3 are exactly those described in the following theorem:

Theorem 3.39. Let (X, x) be a normal surface singularity. Then the following properties are equivalent:

- 1. (X, x) is analytically isomorphic to the germ (\mathbb{C}^2/G , 0), where G is a finite subgroup of SL(2, \mathbb{C}) (one says that it is a Kleinian singularity).
- 2. The anti-canonical cycle (see Definition 3.21) of the minimal resolution of (X, x) is trivial (one says that it is a **Du Val singularity**).
- 3. (X, x) is rational of multiplicity 2 (one says that it is a rational double point).
- 4. (X, x) is rational and numerically Gorenstein (see Definition 3.22).

Kleinian singularities are not only numerically Gorenstein, but even Gorenstein. Indeed, *G* being a subgroup of $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$, it leaves invariant the non-vanishing holomorphic 2-form $dx \wedge dy$ on the affine plane \mathbb{C}^2 with coordinates (x, y). Therefore, this form descends to a holomorphic 2-form on the quotient (\mathbb{C}^2/G , 0). This second form is non-vanishing outside the singular point of the quotient. As this quotient is a normal surface, it is Cohen-Macaulay, and Proposition 2.26 implies that it is moreover Gorenstein.

In fact, there are many more characterizations of Kleinian singularities than those stated in Theorem 3.39. They appeared historically in different contexts under different aspects, some of those contexts having led to the names emphasized in the previous theorem. More precisely:



Figure 3.4. Exceptional divisors of Kleinian singularities and their dual graphs

- Klein [92] was studying the theory of invariants of finite subgroups of SL(2, ℂ);
- Du Val [194] was studying the isolated singularities of surfaces in CP³ which *do not affect* the conditions of adjunction, that is, such that the holomorphic 2-forms defined outside the singular point extended to *holomorphic* 2-forms on any resolution of the singular point (see [166, Chapter 33]);
- Artin [6] showed that any singularity having the same dual graph as those of Du Val's list (even without assuming that they were of embedding dimension 3), were rational of multiplicity 2 and embedding dimension 3.

One has the following "ADE" classification of Kleinian singularities:

(3.7)

$$A_{n}: x^{n+1} + y^{2} + z^{2} = 0 \ (n \ge 1);$$

$$D_{n}: x^{n-1} + xy^{2} + z^{2} = 0 \ (n \ge 4);$$

$$E_{6}: x^{4} + y^{3} + z^{2} = 0;$$

$$E_{7}: x^{3}y + y^{3} + z^{2} = 0;$$

$$E_{8}: x^{5} + y^{3} + z^{2} = 0.$$

On the left is written the standard name of each singularity, and on the right is given a defining equation.

The dual graph of the minimal resolution is each time a tree of smooth rational curves with selfintersections -2 (that is, $\underline{p} = \underline{0}$ and $\underline{e} = \underline{2}$), the number of vertices of the graph associated to X_n being n, and the shape of the graph being the same as the one of the Coxeter diagram of the root lattice of the simple complex Lie algebra with the same name. In the sequel we will say that such weighted graphs are **Kleinian graphs**. Figure 3.4 representing them combines figures from Artin's papers [5] (top) and [6] (bottom). Case i) corresponds to the A_n singularities, case ii) to D_n 's, case iii) to E_6 , case iv) to E_7 and, finally, case v) to the E_8 singularity.

Let us pass now to the quotient surface singularities which are not Kleinian. They were classified by Brieskorn [21] (see also Matsuki [120, Chapter 4.6] or Ishii [86, Theorem 7.4.19]). The simplest ones are the quotients of \mathbb{C}^2 by *cyclic* subgroups of $GL(2, \mathbb{C})$. The quotient of a cyclic group by a subgroup being again cyclic, one may assume that this subgroup is small (see Definition 2.30). This



Figure 3.5. The dual graphs of the minimal resolutions of cyclic quotients

implies that a generator of it may be diagonalised in the form:

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}
\boldsymbol{\xi} & \boldsymbol{0} \\
\boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{\zeta}
\end{array}\right),$$

where ξ and ζ are roots of 1 of the same order. Denote by p > 0 this common order. Then one may express $\zeta = \xi^q$ with $0 \le q < p$. The order of ζ being also equal to p, we see that q is coprime with p. This shows that the following definition exhausts all surface singularities obtainable as quotients of \mathbb{C}^2 by cyclic groups:

Definition 3.40. Let p, q be coprime integers such that p > q > 0. The **cyclic quotient** (or **Hirzebruch-Jung**) **singularity** $(\mathcal{X}_{p,q}, 0)$ is the germ at the image of the origin in \mathbb{C}^2 of the quotient $\mathcal{X}_{p,q}$ of \mathbb{C}^2 by the action $(\xi, (x, y)) \rightarrow (\xi x, \xi^q y)$ of the cyclic group $\{\xi \in \mathbb{C}, \xi^p = 1\} \simeq \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. Its oriented boundary is the (oriented) **lens space** L(p, q).

The alternative name "Hirzebruch-Jung" for cyclic quotient singularities comes from the fact that those singularities appear naturally in the Hirzebruch-Jung method (originating in Jung [91] and Hirzebruch [80]) of resolution of surface singularities by preliminary embedded resolution of the discriminant curve of a finite projection to a smooth surface. Namely, they are the singularities of the normalization of a surface having such a projection whose discriminant has normal crossings (see Laufer [99], Lipman [110] or Popescu-Pampu [164] for details).

The weighted dual graphs of the minimal resolutions of cyclic quotient singularities may be described in the following way, starting from the defining pair (p, q):

Theorem 3.41. The weighted dual graph of the cyclic quotient singularity $\chi_{p,q}$ is illustrated in Figure 3.5. The sequence (b_1, \ldots, b_s) is characterized by the conditions:

$$\begin{cases} b_{i} \geq 2, \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, s\}, \\ \frac{p}{q} = b_{1} - \frac{1}{b_{2} - \frac{1}{\dots - \frac{1}{b_{s}}}} \end{cases}$$

The continued fraction expansion appearing in the previous theorem is called a **Hirzebruch-Jung expansion**. For the importance of such expansions in the study of the topology of normal surface singularities, one may consult my survey [160].

Rational surface singularities are the simplest surface singularities, if one takes the arithmetic genus as a measure of complexity. The next class in terms of this complexity contains therefore the singularities (X, x) with $p_a(X, x) = 1$. Wagreich [197] started their study and called them *elliptic singularities*, by analogy with elliptic curves, whose topological genus is 1. Unlike in the case of rational singularities, this class contains germs with arbitrary high geometric genus. Laufer discovered that there exists a subclass which is also defined topologically, and which has many properties in common with rational singularities. Namely, in [102, Theorems 3.4 and 3.10], he proved:

Theorem 3.42. Let (X, x) be a normal surface singularity. Working with its minimal resolution, the following facts are equivalent:

- 1. One has $p_a(Z_{num}) = 1$ and $p_a(D) < 1$ for all $0 < D < Z_{num}$.
- 2. The fundamental and anti-canonical cycles are equal: $Z_{num} = Z_K$.
- 3. One has $p_{\alpha}(Z_{num}) = 1$ and any connected proper subdivisor of E contracts to a rational singularity.
- 4. $p_g(X, x) = 1$ and (X, x) is Gorenstein.

Laufer introduced a special name (making reference to condition (3)) for the singularities satisfying one of the previous conditions:

Definition 3.43. A normal surface singularity satisfying one of the equivalent conditions stated in Theorem 3.42 is called a **minimally elliptic** singularity.

One sees either from point (2) or from point (3) of Theorem 3.42 that the weighted dual graph of the minimal resolution of (X, x) determines whether this singularity is minimally elliptic or not. It may be shown that this weighted dual graph is determined by that of the minimal strict normal crossings resolution. Therefore, by Theorem 3.29, whether a normal surface singularity is minimally elliptic or not is determined by its topological type (that is, by its boundary, as introduced in Definition 3.23). Note that, by Theorem 3.42, all the singularities realising that topology are necessarily Gorenstein.

Concerning rational singularities, we saw in Theorem 3.39 that only the Kleinian ones are Gorenstein. Kleinian singularities are moreover taut (see Definition 3.47), which is not the case for all the minimally elliptic ones. Nevertheless, Laufer saw that the union of the class of Kleinian singularities and minimally elliptic singularities could be characterized in a subtle way using the property of being Gorenstein (see Laufer [102, Theorem 4.3]):

Theorem 3.44. Let us fix a topological type of normal surface singularities. Then the singularities realising that type are generically Gorenstein if and only if the topological type corresponds either to a Kleinian singularity or to a minimally elliptic singularity.

It is not clear a priori what means a *generic* property of the singularities with given topological type. Laufer gives the following meaning to it: a property is *generic* for a given topological type of singularities if, on the base of the miniversal space of deformations with fixed topological type, the singularities having that property form a dense open set.

If the minimal resolution of a rational singularity has a strict normal crossings exceptional divisor, this is not necessarily the case for minimally elliptic ones. But Laufer [102, Proposition 3.5] described completely the possible exceptions.

Let us introduce the following particular types of minimally elliptic singularities:

Definition 3.45. A normal surface singularity is a **simple elliptic** singularity if it is obtained by contracting a smooth elliptic curve with negative self-intersections embedded in a smooth surface. It is a **cusp** singularity if the weighted dual graph of its minimal strict normal crossings resolution is a circle and p = 0.

Simple elliptic singularities were introduced by K. Saito [172] as the simplest elliptic singularities in the sense of Wagreich and cusp singularities received their name from the fact that they are the singularities obtained by compactifying the *cusps* of the Hilbert modular surfaces (see Hirzebruch [83]). They have the following common characterization with cyclic quotient singularities, proved by Neumann [142]:

Theorem 3.46. If one changes the orientation of the boundary of a normal surface singularity, the resulting 3-manifold is no more orientation-preserving diffeomorphic to the boundary of an isolated surface singularity, excepted for cyclic quotient singularities and cusp-singularities.


Figure 3.6. Inclusions between several classes of surface singularities

The previous two classes of singularities, as well as all Kleinian singularities have moreover the property that their topology determines their analytical type, that is, that they are *taut*:

Definition 3.47. A normal surface singularity or a weighted dual graph is called **taut** if its topological type determines its analytical type.

In [101], Laufer classified all the weighted dual graphs corresponding to taut singularities.

In order to help the reader get oriented among the various classes of surface singularities discussed in this text, I drew in Figure 3.6 an Euler-Venn diagram indicating the inclusion relations between them. The only exceptions are the classes of *taut* and *numerically Gorenstein* singularities, which don't play an important role in these notes.

For more details about Kleinian singularities, one may consult Hazewinkel et al. [76], Durfee [39], Slodowy [177], Cassens & Slodowy [28], Brieskorn [23].

For more details about rational surface singularities, one may consult the original papers of Artin [5], [6], Brieskorn [21], Tjurina [190], Lipman [109], Laufer [100], Lê And Tosun [108], Okuma [147], Stevens [183], Némethi [136], as well as the introductory texts of Behnke and Riemenschneider [11], Reid [168, Sections 4.12–4.15], Némethi [132, Lecture 3], Bădescu [10, Chapters 3-4] and Ishii [86, Section 7.3].

For details about the classification of general normal surface singularities, I recommend Némethi's surveys [132], [134] as well as Reid [168] and Wall [201].

4. Smoothings of singularities and their Milnor fibers

4.1. A prototype: Milnor's study of hypersurface singularities

Mumford's theorem 3.25 characterizes the smooth points of normal surfaces as those for which the boundary of the associated singularity is diffeomorphic to a standard sphere. Around 1965, using recent work of Pham, Brieskorn proved that this is false in any higher dimension: he exhibited isolated hypersurface singularities defined by equations of the form:

$$z_0^{a_0} + \dots + z_n^{a_n} = 0$$

(nowadays such singularities are called *Pham-Brieskorn singularities*, see Example 2.11) and whose boundaries are diffeomorphic to standard spheres.

Moreover, he showed that one could obtain like this also **exotic spheres**, that is, manifolds homeomorphic to standard spheres but not diffeomorphic to them. This was the first construction of such spheres as explicit real algebraic sets, after the discovery of their existence as smooth manifolds by Milnor [127]. Brieskorn's work intrigued a lot Milnor, who began to think about this discovery. His reflexions led to the book [129], which founded the topological theory of hypersurface singularities. See Brieskorn [23] and Durfee [41] for more details about the previous discoveries.

Let me describe briefly the main geometric actors introduced by Milnor [129].

Assume that $f : (\mathbb{C}^n, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ is a germ of holomorphic function having an *isolated* critical point at 0. Then Milnor considered the following objects associated to it:

- 1. A sufficiently small Euclidean ball B_{ϵ} centered at the origin.
- 2. The intersection $M_{\epsilon} := f^{-1}(0) \cap \partial B_{\epsilon}$ of the critical level $f^{-1}(0)$ with the boundary of that ball.
- 3. The pieces $F_{\epsilon,\lambda}$ contained in B_{ϵ} of nearby regular levels $f^{-1}(\lambda)$, for $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ sufficiently small.
- 4. The intersections $B_{\epsilon} \cap f^{-1}(\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^2)$ for $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, where $\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^2 \subset \mathbb{C}$ denotes the closed disc of radius δ .
- 5. The family $(F_{\epsilon,\lambda})_{|\lambda|=const}$ of such pieces, for a fixed non-zero absolute value of the level.
- 6. The map $\theta := \arg f : \partial B_{\epsilon} \setminus M_{\epsilon} \to S^1$ defined by the argument of f.

Milnor proved in [129] that:

- 1. The radius $\epsilon > 0$ may be chosen such that the critical level $f^{-1}(0)$ intersects transversally all the spheres of radius $\leq \epsilon$ centered at the origin. One calls such a ball B_{ϵ} a **Milnor ball** and its boundary a **Milnor sphere** with respect to f.
- 2. If B_{ϵ} is a Milnor ball, then the pair $(\partial B_{\epsilon}, M_{\epsilon})$ is independent of the choices, up to diffeomorphisms whose isotopy classes are well-defined. One calls it the **embedded link** of the critical point. Note that M_{ϵ} is then a representative of the *boundary* or *link* of the isolated hypersurface singularity ($f^{-1}(0), 0$) (see Definition 3.23).
- 3. One may choose $\delta > 0$ such that the various sets $F_{\epsilon,\lambda}$ are diffeomorphic smooth manifoldswith-boundaries whose boundaries are diffeomorphic to M_{ϵ} , for each $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that $|\lambda| < \delta$.

Course nº III- Complex singularities and contact topology



Figure 4.1. Milnor's view of an isolated critical point of holomorphic function

- 4. Whenever B_{ϵ} is a fixed Milnor ball, one may choose $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small such that $T_{\epsilon,\delta} := B_{\epsilon} \cap f^{-1}(\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^2)$ is homeomorphic to a ball and the restriction of f to $T_{\epsilon,\delta} \setminus F^{-1}(0)$ is a locally trivial fibration above $\mathbb{D}_{\delta}^2 \setminus \{0\}$. One calls the manifold with corners $T_{\epsilon,\delta}$ a **Milnor tube**.
- 5. The family $(F_{\epsilon,\lambda})_{|\lambda|=const}$ is a locally trivial fibration over the circle. It is called the **Milnor fibration** associated to the germ *f* and its fibers $F_{\epsilon,\lambda}$ are called the **Milnor fibers** of *f*.
- 6. (M_{ϵ}, θ) is an open book in ∂B_{ϵ} , whose associated fibration is isomorphic to the Milnor fibration. One calls it the **Milnor open book**.

The term "open book" was introduced later, by Winkelnkemper [205]. Here is its definition:

Definition 4.1. An **open book** on a closed manifold V is a pair (K, θ) consisting of:

- 1. a codimension 2 submanifold $K \subset W$, called the **binding**, with a trivialized normal bundle;
- 2. a fibration θ : $W \setminus K \to \mathbb{S}^1$ which, in a trivialized tubular neighborhood $\mathbb{D}^2 \times K$ of K, is the normal angular coordinate (that is, the composition of the first projection $\mathbb{D}^2 \times K \to \mathbb{D}^2$ with the angular coordinate $\mathbb{D}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{S}^1$). The closures of the fibers of θ are called the **pages** of the open book.

In Figure 4.2 is represented a local view of an open book on a 3-dimensional manifold, in the neighborhood of a point of its binding. This view illustrates the fact that all the pages share the same boundary, which is the binding. As a simple example of open book, one may think about the system of meridians on a 2-dimensional sphere (parametrised by their longitudes), the binding being in this case the union of the two poles (see Figure 4.3). Note that this is not a Milnor open book, as the ambient manifold is even-dimensional.

A fundamental theorem of Milnor [129, Theorem 6.5] about the structure of Milnor fibers is:

Theorem 4.2. The Milnor fibers of a germ of holomorphic function $f : (\mathbb{C}^n, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ with isolated critical point is homotopically equivalent to a bouquet of a finite number of spheres of dimension n.

The number of such spheres bears since then Milnor's name:



Figure 4.2. A local view of an open book near a point of its binding



Figure 4.3. An open book on the 2-dimensional sphere

Definition 4.3. Let $f : (\mathbb{C}^n, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ be a germ of holomorphic function with an isolated critical point. Then the number of *n*-spheres in a bouquet realization of the homotopy type of the Milnor fibers of *f* is called the **Milnor number** $\mu(f)$ of *f*.

The Milnor number has also an algebraic description:

Theorem 4.4. The Milnor number of the germ $f : (\mathbb{C}^n, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ with isolated critical point is equal to the dimension of the complex vector space

$$\mathbb{C}\{z_1,\ldots,z_n\}/\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_1},\ldots,\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_n}\right).$$

A proof of this theorem was sketched by Milnor in [129, Problem 3 of Appendix B]; another proof by Pham was sketched by Lê in [105, Page 175]. Detailed proofs may be found in Brieskorn [22] and in Orlik's survey [148].

The study of the structure of the Milnor fibration associated to an isolated critical point of holomorphic function is one of the mainstreams of singularity theory. Hundreds of papers have been dedicated to it. The main theme is to understand the action of the monodromy on the homology of the fiber and its relations with other invariants, as asymptotic integrals and mixed Hodge structures. We won't pursue these themes here, but we will examine instead the way to associate Milnor fibers even to singularities which are not hypersurfaces.

For more details about Milnor fibrations, one may read Milnor's book [129], as well as the surveys of Arnold, Gussein-Zade and Varchenko [2, Chapter I], Teissier [188], Némethi [133] and Budur [26]. Vor various interpretations of the Milnor number, see Orlik's survey [148].

4.2. General facts about deformations and smoothings

Let us look a little differently at a holomorphic germ $f : (\mathbb{C}^n, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ with an isolated critical point at the origin. After having done Milnor's construction explained at the beginning of subsection 4.1 and illustrated in Figure 4.1, we may think that the set of Milnor fibers $F_{\epsilon,\lambda} := f^{-1}(\lambda) \cap B_{\epsilon}$ parametrized by $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^2_{\delta} \setminus \{0\}$ is a family of smooth manifolds converging to the singular space $f^{-1}(0) \cap B_{\epsilon}$.

Is it possible to see analogously any complex analytic singularity as a limit of smooth spaces?

One needs a little care in the definition of such a limit process. The usual way in analytic geometry to conceptualize limits is to take *analytic families* of objects and to see how the nearby members approach a special member of the family. The constraint that the families be *analytic* means that the members of the family are requested to be the fibers of a complex analytic morphism.

Such a definition of *family* of analytic spaces is too general. For example, if one looks at the morphism of blow-up of the vertex 0 of a cone X of dimension at least 2 (see Example 2.34) and at the special fiber over 0, one would be forced to think at the projectivised cone $\mathbb{P}(X)$ as a limit of points, which is not desirable. In order to get a notion more proximate to the intuition, one would like to impose at least that all the fibers of the morphism be *equidimensional*. The algebraic notion of *flatness* ensures this property and in fact much more. That is why one restricts in the following way the notion of *analytic family*:

Definition 4.5. Let (X, x) be a germ of a not necessarily reduced complex analytic space. A **deformation** of (X, x) is a germ of *flat* morphism $\psi : (Y, y) \rightarrow (S, s)$ together with an isomorphism between (X, x) and the special fiber $(\psi^{-1}(s), y)$.

Let us explain also the notion of *flat* morphism, used in the previous definition:

Definition 4.6. Let A be a commutative ring. An A-module M is called **flat** if for any injective morphism of A-modules $N_1 \rightarrow N_2$, the induced morphism $N_1 \otimes M \rightarrow N_2 \otimes M$ is still injective.

A morphism ψ : (*Y*, *y*) \rightarrow (*S*, *s*) of germs of analytic spaces is called **flat** if the corresponding morphism ψ^* : $\mathcal{O}_{S,s} \rightarrow \mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ of local rings makes $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ a flat $\mathcal{O}_{S,s}$ -module.

It is difficult to explain more geometrically the meaning of this notion. For instance, Mumford said about it in [131, Section III.10] that "the concept of flatness is a riddle that comes out of algebra, but which technically is the answer to many prayers."

When the germ (X, x) is reduced, then a germ of holomorphic function $f \in \mathfrak{m}_{X,X}$ is flat as a morphism $f : (X, x) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ if and only if f is not a divisor of zero. Such deformations over germs of smooth curves are called 1-**parameter deformations**. The simplest example is obtained when $(X, x) = (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$ and f has an isolated critical point at $0 \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Then one gets the situation considered by Milnor and recalled in Subsection 4.1, in which now f is thought as a deformation of the singularity (Z(f), 0).

In general, to think about a flat morphism as a deformation means to see it as a family of continuously varying fibers and to concentrate on a particular fiber. Of course, in order to speak about such fibers as well-defined topological spaces, one needs first to choose convenient representatives of the various germs, in a way which generalizes the one explained in Subsection 4.1 (see also Theorem 4.16 below). If one starts from an analytic family, one gets new families by rearranging the fibers in the following way:

Definition 4.7. Let ψ : $(Y, y) \rightarrow (S, s)$ be a morphism of germs of analytic spaces. A second morphism ψ_1 : $(Y_1, y_1) \rightarrow (S_1, s_1)$ is obtained by **base change** from ψ if it may be included in a cartesian diagram of the form:



that is, if $\psi_1 = \chi^* \psi$. One says in this case that ψ_1 is obtained from ψ through the base change χ .

Note that the fibers of ψ_1 are precisely the fibers of ψ lying above the points of the image of the morphism χ . In particular, the special fiber is unchanged. Moreover, it is a basic property of flat morphisms to remain flat after base changes. For this reason, by base changes the deformations of a singularity (X, x) are transformed into other such deformations.

In order to compute the base change $\psi_1 = \chi^* \psi$, one has to write the equations defining the graph of the deformation ψ and to replace then the variables used to describe its base *S* using the equations defining the graph of the morphism χ .

Example 4.8. Consider the holomorphic germ $f : (\mathbb{C}^3, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ defined by $f(x, y, z) = x^2 + y^2 + z^2$. Look at it as a deformation of the isolated surface singularity (Z(f), 0). If one denotes by t the variable of the base $(\mathbb{C}, 0)$, then the equation of the graph of f is $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = t$. Consider the morphism $\chi : (\mathbb{C}, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ defined by $\chi(u) = u^2$. Its graph has the equation $u^2 = t$. Replacing the variable t in the equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = t$ using the equation $u^2 = t$, one gets the equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = u^2$. It defines the total space Y_1 of the deformation f_1 obtained from f through the base change χ . This total space is a hypersurface in the affine space \mathbb{C}^4 of coordinates (x, y, z, u) and the morphism f_1 is simply the restriction to it of the natural projection to the axis of the coordinate u.

One is particularly interested in the situations in which there exist deformations generating all other deformations by base changes. The following definition is a reformulation of [68, Definition 1.8, page 234]:

Definition 4.9.

- 1. A deformation ψ of (*X*, *x*) is **complete** if any other deformation is obtainable from it by a base change.
- 2. A complete deformation ψ of (X, x) is called **versal** if for any other deformation over a base (T, t) and any identification of the induced deformation over a subgerm $(T', t) \hookrightarrow (T, t)$ with a morphism obtained from ψ by base change, one may extend this identification over all (T, t).
- 3. A versal deformation is **miniversal** if the embedding dimension of its base (*S*, *s*) is as small as possible.

Obviously, miniversal deformations are versal, and versal deformations are complete. Such deformations do not necessarily exist. But, whenever a miniversal deformation exists, it results easily from the definition that its base space is unique *up to non-unique isomorphism* (only the tangent map to the isomorphism is unique). For this reason, one does not speak about a *universal* deformation, and the word "miniversal" was coined, with the variant "semi-universal".

In many references, versal deformations are defined as the complete ones in Definition 4.9. Then is stated usually the theorem that the base of a versal deformation is isomorphic to the product of the base of a miniversal deformation and of a *smooth* germ. With this weaker definition, the theorem is false. Indeed, starting from a complete deformation, by doing the product of its base with *any* germ (not necessarily smooth) and by taking the pull-back, we would get again a complete deformation. This shows that a complete deformation is not necessarily versal.

The following crucial existence theorem of versal deformations was proved by Schlessinger [174] in the formal category and by Grauert [63] in the holomorphic category (see also Tyurina [191], Hauser [74] and de Jong and Pfister [90, Section 10.3]):

Theorem 4.10. Let (X, x) be an isolated singularity. Then it admits miniversal deformations, which are unique up to (non-unique) isomorphisms.

Let us come back to the situation we were speaking about at the beginning of the section, where a singularity is seen as a limit of *smooth* spaces. The following vocabulary is used in this context:

Definition 4.11. A **smoothing** of a singularity (X, x) is a 1-parameter deformation $f : (Y, y) \rightarrow (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ of it whose general fiber is smooth in a neighborhood of y. A singularity is **smoothable** if it admits a smoothing. A **smoothing component** is an irreducible component of the reduced miniversal base space of (X, x), over which the generic fibers are smooth.

Isolated complete intersection singularities have very special miniversal deformations, as shown by the following result of Tyurina [191] (see also Looijenga [114, Chapter 6] or Greuel, Lossen and Shustin [68, Theorem 1.16]):

Theorem 4.12. If ψ : (Y, y) \rightarrow (S, s) is a miniversal deformation of an isolated complete intersection singularity, then both (Y, y) and (S, s) are smooth.

The miniversal deformations of isolated complete intersections may be described concretely. Let us state this description in the case of isolated hypersurface singularities (as a particular case of [68, Theorem 1.16]):

Theorem 4.13. Assume that $f \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ with f(0, ..., 0) = 0 has an isolated critical point at 0 and that $g_1, ..., g_\tau \in \mathbb{C}\{z_1, ..., z_n\}$ descend to a basis of the complex vector space

(4.1)
$$\mathbb{C}\{z_1,\ldots,z_n\}/\left(f,\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_1},\ldots,\frac{\partial f}{\partial z_n}\right).$$

Define $(Y, 0) \hookrightarrow (\mathbb{C}^n_{z_1,...,z_n} \times \mathbb{C}^{\tau}_{t_1,...,t_{\tau}}, 0)$ as the zero-locus $Z(f + t_1g_1 + \cdots + t_{\tau}g_{\tau})$. Then the restriction to (Y, 0) of the canonical projection $(\mathbb{C}^n_{z_1,...,z_n} \times \mathbb{C}^{\tau}_{t_1,...,t_{\tau}}, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^{\tau}_{t_1,...,t_{\tau}}, 0)$ is a miniversal deformation of the isolated hypersurface singularity (Z(f), 0).

In honor of Tyurina's work [191], the dimension $\tau(f)$ of the complex vector space (4.1) is called the **Tyurina number** of the function f with isolated critical point. It may be checked formally that it is an invariant of the isolated hypersurface singularity (Z(f), 0). Theorem 4.13 gives a good reason for this invariance: τ is equal to the dimension of the miniversal base of (Z(f), 0).

Note that Theorem 4.4 implies that the Tyurina number of f is not greater than its Milnor number: $\tau(f) \le \mu(f)$. Kyoji Saito proved in [171] that one has the equality $\tau(f) = \mu(f)$ if and only if f may be transformed into a quasi-homogeneous polynomial by a holomorphic automorphism (change of variables) of (\mathbb{C}^n , 0).

Example 4.14. Let us see an example of application of Theorem 4.13. Consider the function $f(x, y, z) = x^2 + y^2 + z^2$ of Example 4.8. Then $(f, \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial y}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial z}) = (x^2 + y^2 + z^2, 2x, 2y, 2z) = (x, y, z) = <math>(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial y}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial z})$. Therefore, one has $\tau = \mu = 1$ and one may take $g_1 = 1$. The total space $(Y, 0) \hookrightarrow (\mathbb{C}^3_{x,y,z} \times \mathbb{C}_{t_1}, 0)$ is defined by the equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 + t_1 = 0$. Therefore, it is obtained from the deformation $f : (\mathbb{C}^3, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ of (Z(f), 0) by the base change $t_1 = -t$. This base change being an analytic isomorphism, we see that f itself is in this case a miniversal deformation of (Z(f), 0).

The miniversal base (S, s) of a general isolated singularity is not necessarily smooth or even reduced. Moreover, its reduction (S_{red}, s) may be reducible. The first example of this phenomenon was discovered by Pinkham [158, Chapter 8] (see also Behnke and Riemenschneider [11, Section 3.3]):

Proposition 4.15. The germ at the origin of the cone over the rational normal curve of degree 4 in \mathbb{P}^4 has a reduced miniversal base space with two irreducible components. Both of them are smoothing components.

I will give more details about Pinkham's example in Subsection 4.4 below. Let me mention also that, as was shown by Vakil [193], up to smooth factors, *any* germ of complex analytic space may occur as the base of the miniversal deformation of an isolated singularity of dimension 3.

Not all isolated singularities are smoothable. The most extreme case is attained with **rigid** singularities, which are not deformable at all in a non-trivial way. For example, quotient singularities of dimension \geq 3 are rigid (see Schlessinger [175]). Let us note that the following conjecture (see [68, Conjecture II.1.1]), which goes back to the 1970s, is still open:

"There exist no rigid singular reduced curve singularities and no rigid singular normal surface singularities."

In [161, Proposition 4.5], I gave a purely topological obstruction to smoothability for singularities of dimension \geq 3. In dimension 2 no such criterion is known in full generality. But for *Gorenstein* normal surface singularities, one has the constraint of Theorem 4.18 below.

Let us look now at the *topological structure* of the generic fibers above a smoothing component. We want to localize the study of the family in the same way as Milnor localized the study of a function on \mathbb{C}^n near an isolated critical point. This is possible (see Looijenga [114, Section 2.8]):

Theorem 4.16. Let (X, x) be an isolated singularity. Let $\psi : (Y, y) \to (S, s)$ be a miniversal deformation of it. Then, there exist (Milnor) representatives Y_{red} and S_{red} of the reduced total and base spaces of ψ such that the restriction $\psi : \partial Y_{red} \cap \psi^{-1}(S_{red}) \to S_{red}$ is a trivial C^{∞} -fibration. Moreover, one may choose such representatives such that over each smoothing component S_i , one gets a locally trivial C^{∞} -fibration $\psi : Y_{red} \cap \psi^{-1}(S_i) \to S_i$ outside a proper analytic subset.

Hence, for each smoothing component S_i , the oriented diffeomorphism type of the oriented manifold with boundary $(Y_{red} \cap \psi^{-1}(s), \partial Y_{red} \cap \psi^{-1}(s))$ does not depend on the choice of the generic element $s \in S_i$: it is called the **Milnor fiber** of that component. Moreover, its boundary $\partial Y_{red} \cap \psi^{-1}(s)$ is canonically identified with the boundary $\partial (X, x)$ of (X, x) up to isotopy.

By looking at the various isolated singularities with the same topological type as a given singularity, one gets a set of Milnor fibers which is a topological invariant of the singularity. As explained in the introduction, the aim of this paper is to describe the classes of *surface* singularities for which the answer to the next question is known:

Given an isolated singularity (X, x), identify the Milnor fibers of all (normal) isolated singularities with the same topological type as (X, x) among the various oriented smooth manifolds having $\partial(X, x)$ as their boundary.

The cases in which the answer to the previous question is known are described in Subsection 6.2. All of them being surface singularities, let us see now some general results about the smoothings of surface singularities.

For more details about flatness, one may consult Mumford [131, Section III.10], Fischer [55, Chapter 3], de Jong and Pfister [90, Section 10.2]. For more details on deformations and smoothings, one may consult Teissier [187, Section 4], de Jong and Pfister [90, Section 10.3], Stevens [182], Greuel, Lossen and Shustin [68] as well as the papers of the collective volume [140].

4.3. General properties of smoothings of normal surface singularities

In dimension 2, no purely topological obstruction to smoothability for *all* normal singularities seems to be known, in contrast with higher dimensions (see Popescu-Pampu [161, Proposition 4.5]).

But there exist such obstructions for special *Gorenstein* (see Definition 2.25) normal surface singularities (see also [201]), as a consequence of Steenbrink's theorem 4.18 below.

In order to state that theorem, we need a new definition:

Definition 4.17. Let (X, x) be an isolated surface singularity and F a Milnor fiber of it associated to some smoothing component of its miniversal base space. The **Milnor number** μ of F is its second Betti number dim_R $H_2(F, \mathbb{R})$. One decomposes it as a sum of three terms:

- μ_0 is the dimension of the kernel of the intersection form on $H_2(F, \mathbb{R})$.
- μ_+ is the maximal dimension of a vector subspace of $H_2(F, \mathbb{R})$ on which the intersection form is positive definite.
- μ_{-} is the maximal dimension of a vector subspace of $H_2(F, \mathbb{R})$ on which the intersection form is negative definite.

That is, the triple (μ_0, μ_+, μ_-) is the inertia index of the intersection form on the real second homology with real coefficients of the Milnor fiber. It is an invariant of the chosen smoothing component.

Note that, when (X, x) is a hypersurface singularity, the notion of Milnor number introduced in Definition 4.17 coincides with that of Definition 4.3.

Here comes the announced theorem of Steenbrink [178], in which $p_g(X, x)$ denotes the geometric genus of (X, x) (see Definition 3.31) and $b_1(\partial(X, x))$ denotes the first Betti number of the boundary of (X, x):

Theorem 4.18. Let (X, x) be a Gorenstein normal surface singularity. If it is smoothable, then all its Milnor fibers satisfy:

(4.2)

)
$$\mu_{-} = 10 p_{g}(X, x) - b_{1}(\partial(X, x)) + (Z_{K}^{2} + |I|).$$

In particular, if a Gorenstein normal surface singularity is smoothable, then:

$$10 \, p_g(X, x) - b_1(\partial(X, x)) + (Z_{\kappa}^2 + |I|) \ge 0.$$

Note that, by point (4) of Proposition 3.30, the first Betti number $b_1(\partial(X, x))$ may be computed from any strict normal crossings resolution with exceptional divisor $E = \sum_{i \in I} E_i$ as:

$$b_1(\partial(X, x)) = b_1(\Gamma) + 2\sum_{i \in I} p_i,$$

where p_i denotes the genus of E_i and Γ denotes the dual graph of E. The term $Z_K^2 + |I|$ may also be computed using any normal crossings resolution, and is again a topological invariant of the singularity.

Theorem 4.18 gives non-trivial obstructions on the topology of smoothable normal Gorenstein surface singularities.

Example 4.19. For instance, Theorem 4.18 implies that among *simple elliptic* singularities (Definition 3.45), the smoothable ones have minimal resolutions whose exceptional divisor is an elliptic curve with self-intersection $\in \{-9, -8, ..., -1\}$. It is possible to prove that in fact all simple elliptic singularities whose resolution satisfies this constraint are smoothable.

One gets analogous constraints on the topology of smoothable *minimally elliptic* singularities (see Definition 3.43), a class determined by its topological type (see Theorem 3.42).

In what precedes, we have spoken only about μ_- . There is also a theorem concerning μ_0 and μ_+ , proved first by Durfee [38] for isolated hypersurface singularities, then by Steenbrink [178] in this full generality:

Theorem 4.20. Any Milnor fiber of a normal surface singularity (X, x) satisfies:

$$\mu_0 + \mu_+ = 2 p_q(X, x).$$

By adding the formulae of Theorems 4.18 and 4.20, one gets an expression of the Milnor number μ in terms of analytic invariants of the starting normal surface singularity, whenever it is Gorenstein. This generalizes Laufer's theorem [103, Theorem 1], proved for isolated hypersurface singularities in \mathbb{C}^3 .

An immediate consequence of Theorem 4.20, of Definition 3.32 and of Theorem 4.24 below is:

Corollary 4.21. Let (X, x) be a normal surface singularity. Then the following properties are equivalent:

- (X, x) is rational.
- (*X*, *x*) admits a smoothing for which the intersection form on the second homology of the Milnor fiber is negative definite.
- (X, x) is smoothable and all the Milnor fibers of (X, x) have negative definite intersection forms on their second homology groups.

Theorem 4.20 shows that $\mu_0 + \mu_+$ is not a topological invariant of the singularity, but it is an analytical one (it does not depend on the smoothing component). In turn, μ_0 is topological, as was proved by Greuel and Steenbrink [67]:

Theorem 4.22. Any Milnor fiber of a normal surface singularity (X, x) has vanishing first Betti number, which is equivalent to:

$$\mu_0=b_1(\partial(X,x)).$$

In fact, Greuel and Steenbrink proved in [67] the vanishing of the first Betti number (for homology with real coefficients) of a Milnor fiber of a *normal* isolated singularity of arbitrary dimension \geq 2. Note that for hypersurfaces, this results from Milnor's theorem 4.2.

Combining Theorems 4.20 and 4.22, one gets the following constraint on the geometric genus, purely in terms of the topological type of (X, x):

Corollary 4.23. For any normal surface singularity (*X*, *x*), one has:

$$2 p_g(X, x) \ge b_1(\partial(X, x)).$$

Let me explain the reason of the equivalence formulated in Theorem 4.22. One has the following analog of the exact sequence (3.5), which is proved exactly in the same way:

(4.3)
$$H_2(F) \longrightarrow H^2(F) \longrightarrow H_1(\partial F) \longrightarrow H_1(F) \longrightarrow H^3(F).$$

Here *F* denotes the Milnor fiber under consideration and this time we work with *real* (co)homology. As the Milnor fiber *F* has the homotopy type of a CW-complex of dimension at most 2 (see Theorem 5.10 below), we deduce that $H^3(F) = 0$. As we work with real coefficients, we have moreover $H^2(F) \simeq H_2(F)^*$. We deduce therefore from (4.3) the following short exact sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow H_2(F)^*/h(H_2(F)) \longrightarrow H_1(\partial F) \longrightarrow H_1(F) \longrightarrow 0,$$

in which $h: H_2(F) \longrightarrow H_2(F)^*$ is the map induced by the intersection form on the second homology of the Milnor fiber F. This short exact sequence shows that one has the equivalence:

$$H_1(F) = 0 \iff \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H_2(F)^* / h(H_2(F)) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} H_1(\partial F).$$

This implies the equivalence formulated in Theorem 4.22.

As the only Gorenstein rational singularities are the Kleinian ones (see Theorem 3.39), we see that Theorem 4.18 does not help to decide whether a given rational surface singularity is smoothable or not. In fact, one has the following theorem of M. Artin [7]:

Theorem 4.24. All rational surface singularities are smoothable. Moreover, any irreducible component of the reduced miniversal base space of such a singularity is a smoothing component.

Among the components of the reduced miniversal base space S_{red} of a rational surface singularity, Artin showed that there is a distinguished one (called now the **Artin component**) which may be characterized in the following way:

Theorem 4.25. Let (X, x) be a rational surface singularity and $\psi : (Y, y) \rightarrow (S, s)$ its miniversal deformation. Then the reduced base space S_{red} contains a unique irreducible component (T, s) such that the restriction $\psi_T : (Y_T, y) \rightarrow (T, s)$ of the miniversal deformation to T admits a simultaneous resolution after a finite base change.

To say that $\psi_T : (Y_T, y) \to (T, s)$ admits a simultaneous resolution after a finite base change means that there exists a finite surjective morphism $\beta : (\overline{T}, \overline{s}) \to (T, s)$ such that the morphism $\psi_{\overline{T}} : (Y_{\overline{T}}, y) \to (\overline{T}, \overline{s})$ obtained from ψ through the base change β (see Definition 4.7) admits a simultaneous resolution of its fibers. In turn, this means that there exists a morphism $\pi : (Z, \tilde{X}) \to (Y_{\overline{T}}, y)$ which restricts to resolutions of singularities over every fiber of $\psi_{\overline{T}}$ in the neighborhood of x. That is, one has a commutative diagram



such that its restriction over each point t of (a representative of) \overline{T} is a resolution of singularities of the surface $\psi_{\overline{\tau}}^{-1}(t)$.

All the fibers of the analytic morphism $(Z, \tilde{X}) \rightarrow (\overline{T}, \overline{s})$ being smooth, one may apply to a wellchosen representative of the previous morphism a version of Ehresmann's theorem adapted to proper morphisms between manifolds with boundary. One deduces from it that all those fibers are diffeomorphic to the total space of the given resolution \tilde{X} of X.

Example 4.26. Consider again the holomorphic function $f(x, y, z) = x^2 + y^2 + z^2$ of Example 4.8. We saw in Example 4.14 that f is a miniversal deformation of the normal surface singularity (Z(f), 0). We recognize it as the A_1 Kleinian singularity (see formulae (3.7)). Therefore, it is a rational surface singularity. As for all isolated complete intersection singularities, the miniversal base space is smooth (see Theorem 4.12), therefore irreducible. Theorem 4.25 implies therefore that there exists a finite base change of the deformation f of (Z(f), 0) which admits a simultaneous resolution.

How to obtain it concretely? Well, the base change $t = u^2$ of Example 4.8 works! Indeed, the equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = u^2$ of the total space Y_1 of the deformation f_1 obtained after this base change may be rewritten in the form $z_1z_2 - z_3z_4 = 0$, by the complex linear change of variables $x + iy = 2z_1, x - iy = 2z_2, u + z = 2z_3, u - z = 2z_4$. One recognizes the 3-dimensional isolated singularity of Example 2.42. We saw there that this singularity admits small resolutions. Consider one of those resolutions $\pi : \tilde{Y}_1 \rightarrow Y_1$. It may be shown by elementary computations in affine charts that



is a diagram of simultaneous resolution, that is, that it has all the properties mentioned about the diagram (4.4). In order to do those computations, one needs only to know that the two small resolutions of (Y_1 , 0) may be obtained by starting either from $z_2/z_4 = z_3/z_1$ or from $z_2/z_3 = z_4/z_1$, seen as rational maps $Y_1 \dots \rightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$.

As explained in [23], this example, worked out by Atiyah at the end of the 1950s, was the starting point of Brieskorn's reflections leading him to the discovery that the boundaries of certain Pham-Brieskorn singularities (see Example 2.11) are exotic spheres.

Let us consider again arbitrary rational surface singularities. It may be shown that the simultaneous resolution of Theorem 4.25 restricts to the minimal resolution above the special fiber, which

is the initial singularity. Moreover, it restricts to isomorphisms above the generic fibers. Using again Ehresmann's theorem, one gets:

Proposition 4.27. The Milnor fibers associated to the Artin component of a rational surface singularity are diffeomorphic to a tubular neighborhood of the exceptional divisor of the minimal resolution of the singularity.

Theorems 4.18 and 4.20 imply that all smoothings of Gorenstein normal surface singularities have the same Milnor number $\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_+ + \mu_-$. This is analogous to the following theorem of Buchweitz and Greuel [25], proved before by Milnor [129, Theorem 10.5] for *plane* curve singularities (that is, hypersurface singularities of dimension 1):

Theorem 4.28. Let (X, x) be a smoothable reduced curve singularity with $r \ge 1$ irreducible components. Then all its Milnor fibers are connected and their first Betti number μ depends only on analytical invariants of (X, x):

$$\mu = 2 \,\delta(X, x) - r + 1.$$

For arbitrary normal surface singularities, the Milnor number may vary among the smoothing components, as illustrated by Pinkham's example described in Subsection 4.4. But its variation is determined by the variation of the dimension of the corresponding smoothing component in the miniversal base space. This results from Theorem 4.29 below, which is a consequence of results of Wahl [198, Theorem 3.13], Greuel and Looijenga [66] and Looijenga [115, Appendix].

In order to state it, we need to introduce the following analog of the geometric genus (see Definition 3.31):

$$\theta := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R^1 \pi_* \Theta_{\tilde{X}}$$

where $\pi : \tilde{X} \to X$ is any resolution of singularities and $\Theta_{\tilde{X}}$ is the sheaf of germs of holomorphic vector fields on \tilde{X} . As for the geometric genus, it may be seen that this definition is independent of the resolution, and that $\theta \in \mathbb{Z}_+$.

Theorem 4.29. Let X be a normal surface singularity. Consider a smoothing component of its reduced miniversal base space. Denote by $\beta > 0$ its dimension and by μ the Milnor number of a corresponding Milnor fiber. Then, working with the minimal resolution of (X, x):

(4.5)
$$2 \mu - \beta = 14 p_g - \theta - 2 b_1(\partial(X, x)) + 2 |I|.$$

Note that the right-hand side of equation (4.5) is an analytic invariant of (*X*, *x*). The specification that one works with the minimal resolution (not necessarily a normal crossings one!) allows to determine the value of $|I| = b_2(E)$.

Wahl proved a prototype of Theorem 4.29 in [198, Theorem 3.13]. He used another definition of the number β , still depending only on the smoothing component whose Milnor fiber is analysed. He used also the hypothesis that there exists a smoothing of the singularity (*X*, *x*) inside the given smoothing component which may be *globalized*, in the sense that it may be realized by a global deformation of a projective variety with only one singularity. Wahl conjectured that for an isolated singularity of arbitrary dimension, his definition of the number β could be interpreted as the dimension of the smoothing component under consideration ([198, Conjecture 4.2]). This conjecture was proved by Greuel and Looijenga in [66]. Moreover, Looijenga proved in [115, Appendix] that all smoothings of isolated singularities could be globalized. In this way one arrives at the statement of Theorem 4.29.

In fact, Wahl stated in the following way relation (4.5):

$$\beta = \theta - 14 p_g + 2(\chi(F) - \chi(E)),$$

in which χ denotes the Euler-Poincaré characteristic and *E* denotes the exceptional divisor of the minimal resolution. We leave as an exercise to the reader to show that both relations are equivalent (indication: use Proposition 3.30 (4)).

For more details on Milnor fibers of smoothings of normal surface singularities, one may consult Wahl [198], Greuel and Looijenga [66], Looijenga and Wahl [116], Wahl [199] as well as the surveys [11] of Behnke and Riemenschneider and [135] of Némethi.

Course nº III— Complex singularities and contact topology



Figure 4.4. The method of sweeping out the cone with hyperplane sections

4.4. Pinkham's example with two smoothing components

Let us begin this section by explaining a general method for constructing smoothings, by "*sweep-ing out the cone with hyperplane sections*", in the words of Pinkham [158, Page 46]. It is probably the easiest way to construct smoothings, which explains why a drawing similar to Figure 4.4 was represented on the cover of Stevens' book [182]. My explanation follows the one I gave in [165, Section 4].

Let V be a complex vector space, whose projectivisation is denoted $\mathbb{P}(V)$: set-theoretically, it consists of the lines of V. Let A be a smooth subvariety of $\mathbb{P}(V)$. Denote by $C_A \hookrightarrow V$ the affine cone over it, and by $\overline{C_A} \hookrightarrow \overline{V}$ the associated *projective cone*. Here \overline{V} denotes the projective space of the same dimension as V, obtained by adjoining $\mathbb{P}(V)$ to V as hyperplane at infinity. That is:

$$\overline{V} = \mathbb{P}(V \oplus \mathbb{C}) = V \cup \mathbb{P}(V).$$

The projective cone $\overline{C_A} = C_A \cup A$ is the Zariski closure of C_A in \overline{V} . The vertex of either cone is the origin O of V.

Assume now that $H \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}(V)$ is a projective hyperplane which intersects A transversally. Denote by:

$$B := H \cap A$$

the corresponding hyperplane section of A. The affine cone C_H over H is the linear hyperplane of V whose projectivisation is H. The associated projective cone $\overline{C_H} \hookrightarrow \overline{V}$ is a projective hyperplane of \overline{V} .

Let *L* be the pencil of hyperplanes of \overline{V} generated by $\mathbb{P}(V)$ and $\overline{C_H}$. That is, it is the pencil of hyperplanes of \overline{V} passing through the "axis" *H*. In restriction to *V*, it consists in the levels of any linear form $f: V \to \mathbb{C}$ whose kernel is C_H . The 0-locus of $f|_{C_A}$ is the affine cone C_B over *B*.

As an immediate consequence of the fact that H intersects A transversally, we see that C_B has an isolated singularity at O and that all the non-zero levels of $f|_{C_A}$ are smooth. Moreover, f is not a zero-divisor in the local ring of C_A at its vertex. This shows that:

Lemma 4.30. The map $f|_{C_A} : C_A \to \mathbb{C}$ gives a smoothing of the isolated singularity (C_B, O).

Since the complement $C_A \setminus O$ of the vertex in the cone C_A is invariant under the natural \mathbb{C}^* -action by scalar multiplication on V, the Milnor fibers of $f|_{C_A} : (C_A, O) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ are diffeomorphic

to the global (affine) fibers of $f|_{C_A} : C_A \to \mathbb{C}$. Those fibers are the complements $(W \cap \overline{C_A}) \setminus B$, for the members W of the pencil L different from $\overline{C_H}$ and $\mathbb{P}(V)$. But the only member of this pencil which intersects $\overline{C_A}$ non-transversally is $\overline{C_H}$, which shows that the pair $(W \cap \overline{C_A}, B)$ is diffeomorphic to $(\mathbb{P}(V) \cap \overline{C_A}, B) = (A, B)$. Therefore:

Proposition 4.31. The Milnor fibers of the smoothing $f|_{C_A} : (C_A, O) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ of the singularity (C_B, O) are diffeomorphic to the affine subvariety $A \setminus B$ of the affine space $\mathbb{P}(V) \setminus H$.

The previous method may be applied to construct smoothings of germs of affine cones C_B at their vertices. In order to apply it, one has therefore to find another subvariety A of the same projective space, containing B, such that B is a section of A by a hyperplane intersecting it transversally. In general, this is a difficult problem.

An important point to be understood here is that, even if (C_A, O) is normal, this is not necessarily the case for its hyperplane section (C_B, O) . More generally, if (Y, y) is a normal isolated singularity and $f : (Y, y) \rightarrow (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ is a holomorphic function such that the germ $(f^{-1}(0), y)$ is reduced and with isolated singularity, this germ is not necessarily normal. Using this observation and the method of sweeping out the cone, I proved in [165] the following proposition which has to be contrasted with the fact that simple elliptic singularities are smoothable only for a finite number of topological types (see Example 4.19):

Proposition 4.32.

- 1. For every simple elliptic singularity (X, x), there exists a smoothable isolated singularity whose normalization is (X, x). Moreover, one may realize it as the germ of a cone at its vertex.
- 2. For every normal surface singularity (X, x), there exists a smoothable isolated singularity whose normalization is (X, x)

In [158], Pinkham developed a deformation theory for the singularities of normal cones at their vertices, and more generally for the singularities of normal complex affine varieties endowed with a \mathbb{C}^* -action. This class contains that of quotient singularities (see Definition 2.29) because the given linear action of the finite group on \mathbb{C}^n commutes with the usual \mathbb{C}^* -action by scalar multiplication, which shows that this last action descends to the quotient of \mathbb{C}^n by the finite group.

Pinkham looked in particular at the germs at their vertices of the affine cones over all the *rational normal curves*:

Definition 4.33. Consider an integer $p \in \mathbb{Z}_+^*$. A **rational normal curve of degree** p is a projective curve in \mathbb{P}^p which is projectively equivalent to the image of the following **Veronese embedding**:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} v_{\rho}: & \mathbb{P}^{1} & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{P}^{\rho} \\ & & [x:y] & \longrightarrow & [x^{\rho}:x^{\rho-1}y:x^{\rho-2}y^{2}:\cdots:y^{\rho}]. \end{array}$$

One may show that the rational normal curves in \mathbb{P}^p are precisely the irreducible curves of degree p in \mathbb{P}^p which are not contained in any hyperplane.

The singularities of the cones over the rational normal curves are special types of cyclic quotient singularities (see Definition 3.40):

Proposition 4.34. The singularity of the cone over the rational normal curve of degree p is the cyclic quotient singularity ($\chi_{p,1}$, 0).

Let me explain a proof of this proposition, as it illustrates the way one may arrive at defining systems of equations for *all* quotient surface singularities. This proof generalizes the arguments given in Example 2.31.

Let us start from the defining action

$$(\xi, (x, y)) \longrightarrow (\xi x, \xi y)$$

of the singularity ($\mathcal{X}_{p,1}$, 0). In order to compute the quotient of the plane \mathbb{C}^2 with coordinates (x, y) by this action, one looks first at the subalgebra of $\mathbb{C}[x, y]$ containing the polynomials which are invariant under the action. An invariant polynomial is a sum of invariant monomials, because the monomials are eigenvectors of the action. As $(\xi, x^a y^b) \rightarrow (\xi x)^a (\xi y)^b = \xi^{a+b} x^a y^b$, we see that the monomial $x^a y^b$ is invariant if and only if $a + b \equiv 0 \pmod{p}$. One deduces easily from this fact that the subalgebra of invariant polynomials is:

$$\mathbb{C}[x^p, x^{p-1}y, x^{p-2}y^2, \dots, y^p]$$

This is the algebra of restrictions of polynomials in $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2, ..., z_p]$ to the image of the polynomial morphism:

(4.6)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{C}^2 & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{C}^{p+1} \\ (x,y) & \longrightarrow & (x^p, x^{p-1}y, x^{p-2}y^2, \dots, y^p) \end{array}$$

Looking at Definition 4.33, one recognizes this image as the cone over a rational normal curve of degree p, which proves Proposition 4.34.

For the moment, this cone is described parametrically. One may show that a defining set of polynomials for it may be obtained by taking the 2×2 minors of the following matrix:

(4.7)
$$\begin{pmatrix} z_0 & z_1 & \cdots & z_{p-1} \\ z_1 & z_2 & \cdots & z_p \end{pmatrix}.$$

We will use this observation in a few moments.

Pinkham proved the following strengthened form of Proposition 4.15:

Proposition 4.35. The singularities at the vertices of the cones over the rational normal curves have smooth miniversal base spaces, with the only exception of the singularity ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0), whose miniversal base space has two irreducible components which are both smooth, of dimensions 1 and 3, and intersect transversally.

Among the two irreducible components of the miniversal base of ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0), the one of dimension 3 is the Artin component characterized in Theorem 4.25. Of course, for the other cones over the rational normal curves, the only component is also the Artin component. Pinkham proved that in all cases, the total space of the deformation of ($\chi_{p,1}$, 0) above the Artin component may be defined by taking the 2 × 2 minors of the following deformation of the matrix (4.7):

(4.8)
$$\begin{pmatrix} z_0 & z_1 + t_1 & \cdots & z_{p-1} + t_{p-1} \\ z_1 & z_2 & \cdots & z_p \end{pmatrix}.$$

The deformation morphism is obtained by restricting to this total space the projection of the complex space \mathbb{C}^{2p} with coordinates $(z_0, \ldots, z_p, t_1, \ldots, t_{p-1})$ to the "parameter space" \mathbb{C}^{p-1} with coordinates (t_1, \ldots, t_{p-1}) .

The fact that in the case p = 4 one gets a second type of deformation originates in the possibility to represent in this case the collection of defining polynomials of ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0) as the set of 2 × 2 minors of the second matrix:

One may deform this system of equations by taking the 2×2 minors of the following deformed matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} z_0 & z_1 & z_2 \\ z_1 & z_2 + s & z_3 \\ z_2 & z_3 & z_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that here one has one deformation parameter s, which parametrizes the component of dimension 1 in the miniversal base space of ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0).

In the affine space \mathbb{C}^6 with coordinates (z_0, \ldots, z_4, s) , consider the new coordinate (linear form) $z_5 := z_2 + s$. The total space Y of the deformation may therefore be defined by the vanishing of the 2 × 2 minors of the matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} z_0 & z_1 & z_2 \\ z_1 & z_5 & z_3 \\ z_2 & z_3 & z_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In the same way as the cone over the rational normal curve of degree p could be described parametrically by the morphism (4.6), one may also describe Y parametrically by the morphism:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} V: & \mathbb{C}^3 & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{C}^6 \\ & (u,v,w) & \longrightarrow & (u^2,uw,uv,vw,v^2,w^2) \end{array}'$$

where the parameters of \mathbb{C}^6 are (z_0, \ldots, z_4, z_5) . The induced morphism $\mathbb{P}^2 \to \mathbb{P}^5$ is called also a **Veronese embedding**, this time of the projective plane as a surface of degree 2 in \mathbb{P}^5 . Its image is the **Veronese surface** $A \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^5$. Therefore Y gets identified with the cone C_A over this projective surface.

The morphism V gets reexpressed in the following way if one passes to the initial coordinate system (z_0, \ldots, z_4, s) on \mathbb{C}^6 :

(4.9)
$$V: \quad \mathbb{C}^3 \longrightarrow \quad \mathbb{C}^6$$
$$(u, v, w) \longrightarrow (u^2, uw, uv, vw, v^2, w^2 - uv)$$

This shows that the smoothing is obtained by the method of sweeping out the cone by the hyperplane section. The total space Y of the smoothing is the cone C_A over the Veronese surface A. The kernel of the linear form s which defines the deformation parameter intersects C_A along the cone C_B over a curve $B \hookrightarrow A$. Using the coordinates (u, v, w) on C_A and looking at the last coordinate of (4.9), we see that C_B is defined by the equation $w^2 - uv = 0$. Proposition 4.31 implies:

Proposition 4.36. The Milnor fibers associated to the irreducible component of dimension 1 of the miniversal base of the cyclic quotient singularity ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0) are diffeomorphic to the complement of a smooth conic curve in the complex projective plane.

What is the Milnor number of those Milnor fibers? One could use Theorem 4.29, which implies that:

$$(4.10) 2\mu_3 - 3 = 2\mu_1 - 1.$$

Here we denote by μ_k the Milnor number of the Milnor fiber associated to the component of dimension k. As the component of dimension 3 is the Artin component, we know that its Milnor fiber is diffeomorphic to a tubular neighborhood of the exceptional divisor in the minimal resolution. Therefore $\mu_3 = 1$, and the equality (4.10) implies that:

(4.11) $\mu_1 = 0.$

In fact, it is possible to understand better the topological structure of this Milnor fiber, in such a way that the previous equality will appear obvious. Indeed, one has the following result of Lê, Seade and Verjovsky [106, Theorem 1.1] (see also Seade [176, Chapter V]), valid in arbitrary dimension:

Proposition 4.37. The complement of a smooth quadric hypersurface in the complex projective space \mathbb{CP}^n is diffeomorphic to the total space of the tangent bundle of the real projective space \mathbb{RP}^n .

Let us see a proof of this proposition. The key point is to look at the special quadric hypersurface *Q* defined by the equation

(4.12)
$$z_0^2 + z_1^2 + \dots + z_n^2 = 0$$

inside the complex projective space \mathbb{CP}^n with homogeneous coordinates $[z_0 : z_1 : \cdots : z_n]$. The cone C_Q over Q is the affine hypersurface of \mathbb{C}^{n+1} defined by the same equation (4.12). Let us consider

the defining quadratic form q of C_Q :

 $\begin{array}{cccc} q: & \mathbb{C}^{n+1} & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{C} \\ & (z_0, z_1, \dots, z_n) & \longrightarrow & z_0^2 + z_1^2 + \dots + z_n^2 \end{array}$

and its level 1:

$$F := q^{-1}(1).$$

The polynomial q being homogeneous, the affine manifold F is diffeomorphic with the Milnor fiber of q at the origin of \mathbb{C}^{n+1} .

Let us denote $Z := (z_0, ..., z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ and decompose it into its real and imaginary parts:

$$Z = X + iY, X, Y \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}.$$

The defining equation q = 1 of F is equivalent to the system of equations:

(4.13)
$$\begin{cases} ||X||^2 = ||Y||^2 + 1\\ X \cdot Y = 0 \end{cases}$$

in which $|| \cdot ||$ denotes the standard euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , obtained by restricting the quadratic form q from \mathbb{C}^{n+1} to \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , and $X \cdot Y$ denotes the associated scalar product.

Proposition 4.38. The map:

$$\Psi: F \longrightarrow \mathbb{S}^n \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$$
$$Z = X + iY \longrightarrow \left(\frac{X}{||X||}, Y\right)$$

induces a diffeomorphism from F to the total space of the tangent bundle TS^n , which sends the antipodal map:

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} \mathsf{A}: & \mathsf{F} & \longrightarrow & \mathsf{F} \\ & & Z & \longrightarrow & -Z \end{array}$$

into the differential of the antipodal map of \mathbb{S}^n .

Here \mathbb{S}^n is the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} for the norm $||\cdot||$. The total space $T\mathbb{S}^n$ of its tangent bundle is realized as the submanifold of $\mathbb{S}^n \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ formed by the couples (X, Y) with Y orthogonal to X. The equations (4.13) show that the image of Ψ is included in $T\mathbb{S}^n$. They allow to construct explicitly an inverse, which may be seen to be smooth. This proves the first statement of the previous proposition. The property about antipodal maps is also easy to check directly using the equations (4.13).

Proposition 4.37 is now a direct consequence of Proposition 4.38. Indeed, by restricting to F the projectivisation map

$$\mathbb{C}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{CP}^n,$$

we get a Galois cover of degree 2 of the complement $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus Q$. The Galois group acts precisely as the antipodal map A on F. Therefore, the complement $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus Q$ is diffeomorphic to the quotient of Fby this antipodal map. By Proposition 4.38, we see that $\mathbb{CP}^n \setminus Q$ is diffeomorphic to the quotient of $T\mathbb{S}^n$ by the diffeomorphism of the antipodal map on \mathbb{S}^n . But this last quotient is $T\mathbb{RP}^n$, which ends the proof of Proposition 4.37.

Returning to Pinkham's example, we may summarize the previous results as the following supplement of Proposition 4.15:

Proposition 4.39. The Milnor fibers of the cyclic quotient singularity ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0) are diffeomorphic to:

- the total space of the complex line bundle of degree -4 over CP¹, for the component of dimension 3 (the Artin component);
- the total space of the tangent bundle to the real projective plane ℝP², for the component of dimension 1.

	Affine geometry	Complex geometry
(1)	The model real line ${\mathbb R}$	The model complex line ${\mathbb C}$
(2)	An open subset $U \subset \mathbb{R}$	An open subset $U \subset \mathbb{C}$
(3)	An affine function $U \to \mathbb{R}$	A holomorphic function $U \to \mathbb{C}$
(4)	An affine function $U \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$	A harmonic function $U \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$
(5)	The relation $h\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right) = \frac{h(a) + h(b)}{2}$	The relation $h(A) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{S}^1_{A,r}} h ds$
(6)	On a compact interval an affine function	On a compact disc a harmonic function
Ϊċ <u>1</u>	is determined by its boundary values	is determined by its boundary values
(7)	The relation $h'' = 0$	The relation $\Delta h = 0$
(8)	The condition $\rho'' \ge 0$	The condition $\Delta \rho \ge 0$
(9)	A (strictly) convex function $\rho: U \to \mathbb{R}$	A (strictly) subharmonic function $\rho: U \to \mathbb{R}$
(10)	An affine manifold of dimension 1	A complex manifold of dimension 1
	(a real affine curve)	(a complex curve)
(11)	A real affine manifold	A complex manifold
(12)	An affine map from $U \subset \mathbb{R}$	A holomorphic map from $U \subset \mathbb{C}$
	to a real affine manifold	to a complex manifold
(13)	An affine real-valued function	A holomorphic complex-valued function
	on a real affine manifold	on a complex manifold
(14)	An affine real-valued function	A pluriharmonic real-valued function
	on a real affine manifold	on a complex manifold
(15)	The condition Hess $\rho \ge 0$	The condition $-dd^c \rho \ge 0$
	on a real affine manifold	on a complex manifold
(16)	A (strictly) convex function	A (strictly) plurisubharmonic function
	on a real affine manifold	on a complex manifold

Figure 5.1. Analogies between real affine geometry and complex geometry

As the total space of the tangent bundle $T\mathbb{RP}^2$ retracts by deformation onto \mathbb{RP}^2 , they have the same second Betti number. As \mathbb{RP}^2 is a non-orientable surface, we see that $H_2(\mathbb{RP}^2, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$. This implies indeed that the Milnor number of the corresponding Milnor fibers is 0, as stated in relation (4.11).

Nowadays one knows handlebody presentations of the Milnor fibers of *all* cyclic quotient singularities. This is a consequence of the proof of a conjecture of Lisca [112, Page 16] by Némethi and myself [137]. This conjecture related the smoothings of cyclic quotient singularities with the *Stein fillings* of their *contact boundaries*. In order to explain this conjecture and the principle of its proof, let us pass now to the basics of contact topology.

A different way of analysing the structure of the Milnor fiber of $(\chi_{4,1}, 0)$ above the miniversal component of dimension 1, valid for more general singularities, was described by Wahl [198, Sections 5.8, 5.9].

5. Plurisubharmonic functions, Stein manifolds and contact manifolds

5.1. Basic analogies between affine geometry and complex geometry

When one is thinking about the geometry or topology of *complex manifolds*, it may be useful to look for analogies with the geometry of *real manifolds endowed with an affine structure*. In Figure 5.1 one may find a table of basic such analogies. Let us make a few comments about them.

- In lines (1) and (2) appear the basic building blocks allowing to construct manifolds of the two kinds, by performing cartesian products in order to augment the dimension and gluing of charts in order to enrich the topology.
- In lines (3) and (4) we state that both holomorphic functions $U \to \mathbb{C}$ and harmonic functions $U \to \mathbb{R}$ (where U is an open subset of \mathbb{C}) may be seen as analogs of affine functions $U \to \mathbb{R}$ (where U is an open subset of \mathbb{R}). In the first case one thinks of both types of maps as structure-preserving ones. In the second case one thinks about them as functions with the property that their values at the center of any ball (a segment, respectively a disc) is equal to the mean of their values on the boundary of the ball. Those relations are explicitly written for both cases in line (5). They imply that the value at the center of the ball is determined by the boundary values. More generally, one has the property of line (6). It is a good exercise to write the corresponding generalizations of the relations of line (5) and to understand in which sense the ingredients of those generalizations are analog of each other.
- On line (7), h'' denotes the second derivative of the function h defined on an open subset of \mathbb{R} and $\Delta h := \left(\partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2\right)h$ denotes the *Laplacian* of the function h defined on an open subset of $\mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$. The relation h'' = 0 is identically true if and only if h is affine, and the relation $\Delta h = 0$ is identically true if and only if h is affine.
- The conditions written on line (8), generalizations of those of line (7), are definitions of the notions written in the same column on line (9) (for sufficiently regular functions). The strict inequalities correspond to the corresponding strict notions. Note that on a compact interval a convex function has a graph lying below the graph of the unique affine function with the same boundary values. One may show that the analogous property holds for a subharmonic function on a compact disc in C: its graph lies below the graph of the unique harmonic extension of its boundary values to the whole disc. This is in fact the reason of the standard name "subharmonic". The analogous name for a convex function on a real interval would be "subaffine".
- Both types of curves on line (10) may be defined by gluing open sets from line (2) using homeomorphisms from line (3).
- Both types of manifolds on line (11) may be locally described as cartesian products of open sets from line (2). Then the gluing of charts is done using tuples of functions which restrict to functions from line (3) on each factor of such a product.
- In line (12) one has the notion of parametrized distinguished subobjects of dimension 1 in both geometries. As for the affine space ℝⁿ one gets simply the affinely parametrized lines, one may think about them as *geodesics*. In model charts, both types of geodesics may be described using tuples of maps from line (3).
- In lines (13) and (14) we mentioned that both holomorphic functions and pluriharmonic functions on a complex manifold may be seen as analogs of affine real-valued functions on a real affine manifold. In the first case we get in restriction to geodesics the types of functions from line (3) and in the second case we get the types of functions from line (4).
- The conditions of line (15) are generalizations to manifolds of arbitrary dimension of the conditions of line (8). In fact, in both cases a real-valued function *ρ* satisfies them identically if and only if it satisfies the corresponding condition (8) in restriction to any geodesic (map of the kind described in line (12)). The *Hessian* Hess*ρ* is a field of quadratic forms on the tangent bundle of the affine manifold defined in the following way: for any point *p* and tangent vector *V* at *p*, extend canonically *V* by parallelism to a neighborhood of *p* (this extension is made possible by the presence of the affine structure) and define (Hess *ρ*)(*V*) as the second Lie

derivative $L_V^2 \rho$ of ρ in the direction of V. The object $-dd^c \rho$ is a real-valued differential form of degree 2, whose definition will be explained below.

• The functions on line (16) are definable by the corresponding condition on line (15).

We won't pursue these analogies here. We mentioned them only because we believe that real affine geometry is simpler to grasp in first instance than complex geometry.

The reader interested in developing her/his intuition about such analogies may consult the books [85] of Hörmander and [33] of Cieliebak and Eliashberg.

5.2. Plurisubharmonic functions

We have stated in the last line of Figure 5.1 that plurisubharmonic functions are analogs of convex functions on affine manifolds. Their precise definition is:

Definition 5.1. A smooth real-valued function ρ defined on a complex manifold M is **plurisubharmonic** (abbreviated **psh**) if $-dd^c \rho \ge 0$. It is called **strictly plurisubharmonic** (abbreviated **spsh**) if one has the stronger inequality $-dd^c \rho > 0$.

Here *d* denotes the operator of exterior differentiation of differential forms. Its definition needs only the underlying structure of differential manifold of the complex manifold *M* under consideration. By contrast, the operator d^c uses the complex structure:

$$(5.1) dc \rho := d\rho \circ J,$$

where *J* is the field of multiplications by *i* on the complex tangent bundle of the manifold, identified as a real vector bundle with the real tangent bundle of the underlying differentiable manifold. In particular:

$$(5.2) J^2 = -Id_{TM}.$$

Introduce now the following real-valued differential forms on *M*:

(5.3)
$$\begin{aligned} \lambda_{\rho} &:= -d^{c}\rho\\ \omega_{\rho} &:= d\lambda_{\rho}. \end{aligned}$$

By definition 5.1, the function $\rho : M \to \mathbb{R}$ is psh if and only if $\omega \ge 0$. What does it mean for a differential form of degree 2 to be non-negative ? This is again a concept which is defined using the complex structure:

Definition 5.2. A smooth real-valued differential 2-form ω on M is called **non-negative**, written $\omega \ge 0$ (respectively **positive**, written $\omega > 0$) if it is *J*-invariant, that is:

(5.4)
$$\omega(JV, JW) = \omega(V, W)$$

for all tangent vectors V, W of M based at the same point and if:

(5.5)
$$\omega(V, JV) \ge 0$$
 (respectively $\omega(V, JV) > 0$)

for all non-zero tangent vectors to *M*.

The **associated Riemannian metric** of a positive 2-form ω is defined by:

(5.6)
$$g(V,W) := \omega(V,JW).$$

Note that the inequality g(V, V) > 0 is true for all non-zero tangent vectors, as an immediate reformulation of the strict inequality (5.5) and that the symmetry property g(V, W) = g(W, V) results from (5.4), replacing first W by JW and using then the identity (5.2). Therefore, g is indeed a Riemannian metric for any positive 2-form ω .

It is simple to verify that the 2-form ω_{ρ} is *J*-invariant for any smooth real-valued function ρ defined on *M*. Therefore, in order to check whether ρ is psh or spsh, one has to check simply whether one has the corresponding inequality (5.5). Let us restrict for the moment to the case where M is an open subset of \mathbb{C} . The next result shows that in this case the condition of line (15) of Figure 5.1 allowing to define (s)psh functions is equivalent to the (strict) condition of line (8), allowing to define (strictly) subharmonic functions. This explains the qualificative "plurisubharmonic": such a function is subharmonic in restriction to *all* the parametrized "geodesics" of the complex manifold.

Proposition 5.3. Let $U \subset \mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$ be open and let $\rho : U \to \mathbb{R}$ be smooth. Then:

 $(5.7) - dd^c \rho = (\Delta \rho) \, dx \wedge dy.$

As a consequence, the condition $-dd^c \rho \ge 0$ is equivalent to the condition $\Delta \rho \ge 0$.

One may prove easily this proposition using the following relations:

$$z = x + iy$$

$$d\rho = (\partial_z \rho) dz + (\partial_{\overline{z}} \rho) d\overline{z}$$

$$d^c \rho = (i\partial_z \rho) dz - (i\partial_{\overline{z}} \rho) d\overline{z}$$

$$\partial_z = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x - i\partial_y)$$

$$\partial_{\overline{z}} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x + i\partial_y)$$

Assume now that $\rho: M \to \mathbb{R}$ is strictly plurisubharmonic. Introduce also the following notations:

(5.8)
$$g_{\rho} :=$$
 the Riemannian metric associated to the positive form ω_{ρ} ,

(5.9)
$$\Lambda_{\rho} :=$$
 the gradient vector field of ρ relative to g_{ρ} .

I want to explain now that this gradient vector field has also a *symplectic* interpretation. First of all, recall that a **symplectic form** on a smooth manifold is a closed 2-form ω which is non-degenerate at every point. This last condition means that the duality morphism associated to ω

(5.10)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} T_{\rho}M & \longrightarrow & T_{\rho}^{*}M \\ V & \longrightarrow & i_{V}\omega := \omega(V, \cdot) \end{array}$$

is an isomorphism at each point $p \in M$.

A positive 2-form is automatically non-degenerate and a 2-form of the type ω_{ρ} is automatically closed, because it is exact (see relations (5.3)). Therefore, ω_{ρ} is a symplectic form whenever ρ is spsh. By construction, the 1-form λ_{ρ} is a primitive of it. It is therefore a Liouville form for ω_{ρ} , and one may consider also its associated Liouville vector field in the following sense:

Definition 5.4. Let ω be an exact symplectic form on the smooth manifold *M*. A **Liouville form** of ω is a smooth primitive λ of it:

 $(5.11) d\lambda = \omega.$

A **Liouville vector field** of ω is a smooth vector field Λ such that the associated Lie derivative leaves ω invariant:

(5.12)

$$L_{\Lambda}\omega = \omega.$$

A Liouville vector field and a Liouville form of ω are **associated to each other** if they correspond by the isomorphism (5.10):

$$(5.13) i_{\Lambda}\omega = \lambda.$$

In fact, a vector field Λ is Liouville if and only if the 1-form λ corresponding to it through equation (5.13) is Liouville. This is an immediate consequence of **Cartan's relation**

$$L_{\Lambda} = i_{\Lambda} \circ d + d \circ i_{\Lambda}$$

applied to ω .

The announced symplectic interpretation of the gradient vector field Λ_{ρ} is as a *Liouville vector* field of the symplectic form ω_{ρ} :

Proposition 5.5. The gradient vector field Λ_{ρ} of the spsh function ρ relative to the Riemannian metric g_{ρ} is equal to the Liouville vector field of ω_{ρ} associated to its Liouville form λ_{ρ} .

Indeed, the defining relation

$$d\rho(V) = g_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\rho}, V)$$

of the gradient vector field Λ_{ρ} (for all tangent vectors V) may be successively reformulated in the following ways:

$$d\rho(V) = g_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\rho}, V)$$

$$\stackrel{(5.6)}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad d\rho(V) = \omega_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\rho}, JV)$$

$$\stackrel{(5.1)+(5.2)}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad d^{c}\rho(V) = \omega_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\rho}, -V)$$

$$\stackrel{(5.3)}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad \lambda_{\rho}(V) = \omega_{\rho}(\Lambda_{\rho}, V)$$

$$\stackrel{\forall V}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad \lambda_{\rho} = i_{\Lambda_{\rho}}\omega_{\rho}.$$

This last relation proves Proposition 5.5.

One of the simplest examples of spsh functions is the squared-distance function ρ_0 to the origin in \mathbb{C}^n (see Equation (3.4)):

Proposition 5.6. The function $\rho_0(z_1, ..., z_n) := |z_1|^2 + \cdots + |z_n|^2$ is spsh on \mathbb{C}^n . Its associated Riemannian metric g_{ρ_0} is the standard Euclidean metric on $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ and its associated Liouville vector field Λ_{ρ_0} is the radial vector field: $\Lambda_{\rho_0}(p) = p$ for all $p \in \mathbb{C}^n$.

The restriction of a spsh function on a complex manifold to a submanifold is again spsh. For this reason, the restriction ρ of ρ_0 to any complex submanifold X of \mathbb{C}^n is again spsh. If X is moreover a closed subset of \mathbb{C}^n , then ρ is *proper* and *bounded from below* (as a consequence of the fact that ρ_0 has these two properties). Therefore X is a *Stein manifold*, in the following sense:

Definition 5.7. A **Stein manifold** is a complex manifold which admits a proper spsh function bounded from below.

As we have seen, the closed complex submanifolds of some model complex space \mathbb{C}^n are Stein. Grauert [61] proved the converse:

Theorem 5.8. Any connected Stein manifold may be embedded as a closed complex submanifold of some complex affine space \mathbb{C}^n .

One may see alternative characterizations of Stein manifolds in Cieliebak and Eliashberg [33, Section 5.3].

By arbitrarily C^2 -small perturbations, any proper spsh function bounded from below on a Stein manifold X may be transformed into a function of the same kind which is moreover *Morse*. For instance, if the function is the restriction of ρ_0 , given some embedding of X in \mathbb{C}^n , then one may take instead the squared-distance function to a generic point in some arbitrarily fixed neighborhood of the origin of \mathbb{C}^n .

Once one has a proper Morse function bounded from below on a smooth manifold, a fundamental theorem of Morse theory (see Milnor [128, Theorem 3.5]) implies that the manifold has the homo-topy type of a CW-complex of dimension equal to the maximal index of the critical points of the function.

Strictly pluri-subharmonic functions have constrained indices:

Proposition 5.9. The indices of the critical points of a Morse spsh function on a complex manifold of complex dimension n are at most equal to n.

Therefore, one has the following fundamental topological property of Stein manifolds, discovered by Thom (see Milnor [128, Theorem 7.2]):

Theorem 5.10. A Stein manifold of complex dimension n has the homotopy type of a CW-complex of dimension at most n. In particular, a Milnor fiber of a smoothable singularity of complex dimension n has the homotopy type of a CW-complex of dimension at most n.

Let us see an intrinsic proof of Proposition 5.9, which uses the symplectic interpretation of the gradient vector field Λ_{ρ} stated in Proposition 5.5 (see details in Cieliebak and Eliashberg [33, Section 2.8]). Let $\rho \in X$ be a critical point of ρ and let D_{ρ} be the *stable cell* centered at it, formed as the union of the Λ_{ρ} -orbits which tend to p when the time goes to $+\infty$. Its dimension is by definition the index $\operatorname{ind}_{p}(\rho)$ of the function ρ at p. Assume by contradiction that this index is > n. Therefore the intersection $T_{p}D_{p} \cap J(T_{p}D_{p})$ of the tangent space to the stable cell at p and of its image by the complex multiplication J is of positive dimension. Let $D_{\rho}^{\mathbb{C}}$ be the union of the Λ_{ρ} -orbits which tend to p tangentially to this intersection. It is a smooth ball of even positive dimension contained in D_{p} . As ω_{ρ} is symplectic on its tangent space at p, this will also be the case on some neighborhood $\rho^{-1}[\rho(p) - \epsilon, \rho(p)] \cap D_{\rho}^{\mathbb{C}}$ of it (where $\epsilon > 0$ is sufficiently small). But the positive flow of Λ_{ρ} shrinks such a neighborhood strictly, which contradicts the fact that this flow dilates ω_{ρ} exponentially (see Equation 5.12). This contradiction proves the desired inequality $\operatorname{ind}_{p}(\rho) \leq n$.

For more details about Stein manifolds, one may consult Grauert and Remmert's book [64], Peternell's survey [154] and Cieliebak and Eliashberg's book [33].

5.3. Contact manifolds and their fillings

In the previous section we saw that a spsh function ρ on a complex manifold determines canonically a Riemannian metric, a symplectic structure, a vector field and a 1-form, which are related by various relations. We will examine now in which way those objects interact with the smooth levels of ρ . For simplicity, we will drop the dependency on ρ from our notations.

Let $M \hookrightarrow X$ be a regular level of ρ . It is a smooth hypersurface of X seen as a real manifold. Consider the restriction of the Liouville form λ of Equation (5.3) to M:

 $\alpha := \lambda|_M.$

If V is a tangent vector to X at a point p, we denote by V^{\perp} the real hyperplane of T_pX which is g-orthogonal to V. One has the following properties, whose proofs we leave as an exercise to the reader (hint: use the equivalence $\lambda(V) = 0 \iff g(J\Lambda, V) = 0$):

Proposition 5.11. At all the points of the smooth level manifold M of the spsh function ρ one has the following properties (see Figure 5.2):

- 1. $TM = \Lambda^{\perp}$.
- 2. ker $\lambda = (J\Lambda)^{\perp} = J(TM)$.
- 3. ker $\alpha = TM \cap J(TM)$.
- 4. $d\alpha$ is symplectic in restriction to ker α .

Therefore, α is a *contact form* on the manifold *M*, in the following sense:

Definition 5.12. A **contact form** on a smooth manifold *M* is a smooth real-valued 1-form α such that $d\alpha$ is symplectic in restriction to ker α .

A basic fact about bilinear symplectic forms is that they exist only on even-dimensional vector spaces. As the kernel of a linear form on a vector space is either a hyperplane or the whole vector space, this shows that the field of kernels of a contact form on a manifold is necessarily of constant even dimension. The differential $d\alpha$ being symplectic, the form α cannot be identically 0, which shows that ker α is a field of hyperplanes on M. This implies that M is of odd dimension and that ker α is a *contact structure*, in the following sense:



Figure 5.2. An illustration of Proposition 5.11



Figure 5.3. The contact structure ker(dz + xdy)

Definition 5.13. A **contact structure** on a smooth manifold *M* is a smooth field ξ of hyperplanes which may be locally defined in the neighborhood of any point of *M* as the field of kernels of a contact form. A contact structure is called **oriented** if the vector bundle ξ is oriented and **cooriented** if its normal vector bundle *TM*/ ξ is oriented. A manifold endowed with a contact structure is called a **contact manifold**.

Example 5.14. The 1-form $\alpha := dz + xdy$ is a contact form on \mathbb{R}^3 . Its associated contact structure ker α is represented in Figure 5.3. Note that it is invariant by translations parallel to the plane of coordinates (y, z). For this reason it is enough to understand how varies the plane field along the *x*-axis. I drew five of those planes, as well several of their translates.

The previous example allows in fact to understand the local structure of *all* contact structures on 3-manifolds. Indeed, in arbitrary dimensions contact forms have no local invariants (like complex

structures and unlike Riemannian structures) as emphasized by the following result of Darboux (see Geiges [57, Theorem 2.5.1]):

Theorem 5.15. If α is a contact form on a (2n + 1)-dimensional manifold M, then in the neighborhood of any point of M there exist local coordinates $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_n, y_n, z)$ such that:

$$\alpha = dz + \sum_{k=1}^n x_k \, dy_k.$$

Globally the situation is distinct, due to the fact that there is a canonical vector field attached to any contact form: its so-called *Reeb vector field*, uniquely determined by the requirements to be in the kernel of $d\alpha$ and to have length 1 when measured by α . Then any dynamical invariants of the Reeb vector field are invariants of the contact form, which makes one feel that by deforming a form, the global structure may change drastically. In fact one can get subtle invariants from the study of Reeb vector fields. This is the subject of *contact homology*, but we won't speak about it here.

When one works with a contact structure instead of a contact form, the situation becomes completely different. Indeed, on a closed manifold there is an Ehresmann-type theorem, proved by Gray [65] (see also Geiges [57, Theorem 2.2.2]):

Theorem 5.16. Two homotopic contact structures on a closed manifold are isotopic.

The previous theorem shows that on closed manifolds, contact structures have no moduli, that is, that their classification up to isotopy is discrete. This is the reason why, when looking at the tangent distribution to a real hypersurface of a complex manifold, one does not keep the field of complex operators $J : \xi \rightarrow \xi$ as a supplementary structure. Indeed, then one would keep moduli, that is, the analog of Gray's theorem would not be true.

The first question which one asks in any classification problem is that of *existence* of the objects. In what concerns contact structures, the situation was settled first on closed 3-dimensional manifolds. Before explaining this, let us make a remark about contact structures in dimension 3:

Proposition 5.17. Any contact structure on a smooth 3-manifold induces a canonical orientation. Therefore, any 3-manifold which may be endowed with a contact structure is orientable.

In order to understand this fact, let us choose locally a defining contact 1-form α of the given contact structure ξ . As $d\alpha$ is by definition symplectic in restriction to ξ , this shows that the 3-form $\alpha \wedge d\alpha$ is everywhere non-zero on its domain. Therefore, it defines an orientation on this domain. The point is that this orientation is independent of the choice of defining 1-form. Indeed, a second such form α' may be written as $\alpha' = u\alpha$, where u is a smooth and non-vanishing function. Consequently, $\alpha' \wedge d\alpha' = u^2 \alpha \wedge d\alpha$, which shows that the orientations defined by $\alpha' \wedge d\alpha'$ and $\alpha \wedge d\alpha$ are the same.

Now, if a given 3-manifold is already oriented, one may compare a contact form on it with this orientation:

Definition 5.18. A contact form on an oriented 3-manifold is called **positive** if the orientation induced by it coincides with the given orientation.

We may state now the announced theorem about the existence of contact structures on 3manifolds. The first statement was proved by Martinet [118] and the second one by Lutz [117] (see also Geiges [57, Theorems 4.1.1 and 4.3.1]):

Theorem 5.19. Any closed oriented 3-manifold carries a positive contact structure. Moreover, one may find a positive contact structure in any homotopy class of cooriented plane fields.

An analog of this theorem was recently proved in higher dimensions by Borman, Eliashberg and Murphy [19].

Once one knows that contact structures exist on a given closed manifold, it is natural to try to classify them. In view of Gray's Theorem 5.16, one has to classify them up to homotopy. Of course, if two contact structures are not homotopic as hyperplane fields, then they are nor homotopic as

contact structures. Therefore, one has to concentrate on the classification of contact structures in a given homotopy class of hyperplane fields. But how to show that two such contact structures are different? The first method to prove such a result was found by Bennequin [12], using the following notion:

Definition 5.20. An **overtwisted disk** in a contact 3-manifold is an embedded compact disk which is tangent to the contact structure along its boundary. A contact structure is called **over-twisted** if it contains an overtwisted disk and **tight** otherwise.

In fact, one finds several variants of the definition of overtwisted disks in the literature. But all of them lead to the same notions of overtwisted or tight contact 3-manifolds (see Geiges [57, Section 4.5]).

As in Proposition 5.6, let us denote by ρ_0 the squared-distance to the origin in \mathbb{C}^2 . Its levels are the spheres centered at the origin. As ρ_0 is spsh, Proposition 5.11 implies that the fields of hyperplanes on them invariant by complex multiplication are contact structures. The homotheties centered at the origin identifies them all. We get therefore a well-defined contact structure on \mathbb{S}^3 , which we will call the **natural contact structure**. It may be shown that its restriction to the complement of any point of \mathbb{S}^3 is isomorphic to the contact structure on \mathbb{R}^3 introduced in Example 5.14, which we will also call **natural**.

Bennequin proved in [12] that:

Theorem 5.21. The natural contact structures on S^3 and \mathbb{R}^3 are tight.

By performing so-called *Lutz twists* (see Geiges [57, Section 4.3]), one may transform any contact structure on a 3-manifold into an overtwisted one, which is nevertheless contained in the same homotopy class of plane fields. This shows in particular that one may find on S^3 two contact structures which are homotopic as plane fields, but not as contact structures. In fact, as proved by Eliashberg [45]:

Theorem 5.22. Each homotopy class of plane fields on an oriented closed 3-manifold contains a unique overtwisted positive contact structure, up to isotopy.

Therefore, the difficulty is to classify the *tight* contact structures on 3-manifolds. There exist oriented 3-manifolds which do not admit any tight contact structure (see point (1) of the enumeration of results at the end of this section), but it is still an open problem to characterize the 3-manifolds with this property.

Let us assume again that *M* is a regular level of a spsh function ρ on a complex manifold *X*. By Proposition 5.11, the hyperplane field ker α is the field of hyperplanes invariant by complex multiplication and is a contact structure. It may be cooriented by the positive values of α and oriented by the restriction of *J* to ker $\alpha = TM \cap J(TM)$ (see Proposition 5.11). Let us introduce the following terminology, which extends the one used above for \mathbb{S}^3 :

Definition 5.23. Let *M* be a regular level of a spsh function on a complex manifold. Then the contact structure $TM \cap J(TM)$ oriented and cooriented as explained above is called the **natural contact structure** on *M*.

One may see that the natural contact structure depends only on the real hypersurface M of X, not on the defining strictly plurisubharmonic function.

Let us assume now that *M* is a regular level of a spsh function which is moreover proper and bounded from below. One has a special terminology for this situation:

Definition 5.24. Let $\rho : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a proper spsh function bounded from below. Assume that $a \in \mathbb{R}$ is a regular value of ρ . Then the compact sublevel $X_{\rho \leq a} := \rho^{-1}(-\infty, a]$ is called a **Stein domain**, and a **Stein filling** of its boundary $M := \rho^{-1}(a)$ endowed with its natural contact structure. A contact manifold which is isomorphic to the boundary of a Stein domain endowed with its natural contact structure is called **Stein fillable**.

One has also the following related notion:

Definition 5.25. A closed oriented contact manifold is called **holomorphically fillable** if it is contactomorphic to the natural contact structure on a regular level $M = \rho^{-1}(a)$ of a smooth proper function $\rho : X \to \mathbb{R}$ bounded from below on a complex manifold X, which is spsh in the neighborhood of M. In this case, the sublevel $X_{\rho \leq a}$ is called a **holomorphic filling** of the contact manifold.

The difference with Definition 5.24 is that the function ρ is asked here to be strictly plurisubharmonic only in a neighborhood of the boundary *M* of the sublevel.

Bogomolov & de Oliveira proved in [18] that:

Theorem 5.26. In dimension 3 all holomorphically fillable contact manifolds are also Stein fillable.

This fact is false in higher odd dimensions (see Popescu-Pampu [161, Section 6]).

One may forget part of the previous structures and relations in order to arrive at purely symplectic concepts (which make no reference to an underlying complex structure):

Definition 5.27. Let (M, ξ) be a closed oriented and cooriented contact manifold.

A **strong symplectic filling** of (M, ξ) is a compact symplectic manifold (Y, ω) with boundary $\partial Y = M$ such that there exists a primitive α of ω in a neighborhood of M whose restriction to M is a defining form of ξ .

A **weak symplectic filling** of (M, ξ) is a compact symplectic manifold (Y, ω) with boundary $\partial Y = M$ such that the restriction of ω to ξ is a field of symplectic forms on ξ which define the given orientation of ξ .

A Stein filling of a contact manifold is obviously a strong symplectic filling and a strong symplectic filling is necessarily a weak symplectic filling. The systematic study of the previous notions of fillability in arbitrary dimensions was started by Eliashberg and Gromov [48]. Before that, they had proved in [70] and [46] the following generalization of Bennequin's theorem 5.21, specific to dimension 3:

Theorem 5.28. A weakly symplectically fillable contact structure on a closed 3-manifold M is tight.

In dimension 3, the three notions of fillability are in fact pairwise different and also different from the notion of *tightness*, as shown by the following results:

- 1. There exist oriented irreducible 3-manifolds which admit no positive tight contact structures: Etnyre & Honda [50] proved this for the Poincaré homology sphere with the orientation opposite to the one obtained as the boundary of the Kleinian complex surface singularity E_8 (see table 3.7). Therefore there exist reducible 3-manifolds which admit no tight contact structure at all (one simply takes the connected sum of two copies of the Poincaré homology sphere with both its orientations).
- 2. There exist tight contact manifolds which are not weakly symplectically fillable: Etnyre and Honda [51] constructed such structures on some Seifert manifolds.
- There exist weakly symplectically fillable contact structures which are not strongly symplectically fillable: examples were constructed by Eliashberg [47] for T³ and by Ding and Geiges [37] for arbitrary torus bundles over the circle.
- 4. There exist strongly symplectically fillable contact manifolds which are not Stein fillable: Ghiggini [58] constructed such a structure on some small Seifert manifolds.

Those notions are also different in higher dimensions (see [161] and [119] for precise references). Since 2000, a lot of effort was concentrated by various people on the problems of classification of 3-manifolds which admit one of the previous types of fillings, and for such manifolds, on the classification of those fillings up to diffeomorphism or homeomorphism. But those problems remain widely open.

The foundations of contact topology were described in Geiges' textbook [57]. As an introduction to the problem of understanding the topology of fillings of contact 3manifolds one may consult Ozbagci and Stipsicz' book [150] and Ozbagci's more recent survey [149]. For the same problem in higher dimensions, the basic reference is Cieliebak and Eliashberg's book [33].

6. Milnor fibers of surface singularities seen as Stein fillings

6.1. The contact boundary of an isolated singularity

One may constrain more the class of rug functions ρ used to define the notion of *boundary* of an isolated complex singularity (see the beginning of Section 3.3), by demanding them to be restrictions of squared-distances to the origin for some embedding in (\mathbb{C}^n , 0) (see Equation (3.4)). As ρ_0 is spsh, its restrictions have the same property and their regular levels are endowed with natural contact structures (see Definition 5.23). Varchenko [196] proved using Gray's theorem 5.16, that those contact manifolds are independent of the choices of embedding and of sufficiently small level, up to contactomorphisms well-defined up to isotopy. This allows to introduce the following definition:

Definition 6.1. The oriented contact manifold associated in this way, up to contactomorphisms isotopic to the identity, to any isolated singularity (X, x), is called the **contact boundary** of (X, x), and is denoted $(\partial(X, x), \xi(X, x))$. An oriented contact manifold isomorphic to such a contact structure on the boundary of an isolated singularity is called **Milnor fillable**.

The name "Milnor fillable" was introduced in [30] in reference to the work [129] of Milnor recalled in Section 4.1. A Milnor fillable contact manifold (M, ξ) is holomorphically fillable (see Definition 5.25), as any resolution of a singularity whose contact boundary is contactomorphic to (M, ξ) gives a holomorphic filling of it.

Ustilovsky [192] proved the following property of a special class of Pham-Brieskorn singularities (see Definition 2.11), using the so-called *contact homology* (see also Kwon and van Koert [98]):

Theorem 6.2. Let $m \ge 2$ be an integer. For varying $p \in \mathbb{Z}_+^*$ such that $p \equiv \pm 1 \pmod{8}$, the contact boundaries of the isolated hypersurface singularities defined by the equations

$$z_0^p + z_1^2 + \dots + z_{2m}^2 = 0$$

are pairwise non-isomorphic.

But Brieskorn [20] had proved that all the previous singularity boundaries are diffeomorphic to the standard sphere S^{4m+1} (see also Hirzebruch [82] or Hirzebruch and Mayer [84]). Therefore, the smooth structure on the boundary of an isolated singularity of dimension \geq 3 does not determine the associated contact structure.

In complex dimension 2 the situation is radically different, as was proved by Caubel, Némethi and myself [30]:

Theorem 6.3. Any Milnor fillable oriented 3-manifold admits a unique Milnor fillable contact structure up to contactomorphism. If the manifold is a rational homology sphere, then this contact structure is unique up to isotopy.

Bhupal and Ozbagci [16, Proposition 4] proved that the second statement does not extend to the case where the Milnor fillable manifold is not a rational homology sphere.

Let us explain the principle of the proof of Theorem 6.3, as it applies Milnor's construction explained in Section 4.1 to a function with isolated critical point on an arbitrary irreducible complex isolated singularity (X, x).

A germ of holomorphic function $f \in \mathfrak{m}_{X,X}$ is said **to have an isolated critical point** at $x \in X$ if there is a representative of (X, f) such that f is regular outside x. By the general theorems of Lê and

Teissier [107] on limits of tangent hyperplanes to a germ of complex analytic space, one sees that, given (X, x), there are always such functions f with isolated critical points. Hamm [71] proved that f induces then again a **Milnor open book** on the boundary of (X, x), as in Milnor's initial situation where $(X, x) = (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$ explained in Subsection 4.1.

One has then the following theorem of [30, Theorem 3.9], which was extended by Caubel [29] to the boundaries of the Milnor fibers of some non-isolated singularities:

Theorem 6.4. Let (X, x) be an irreducible isolated singularity and let $f : (X, x) \rightarrow (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ be a germ of holomorphic function with isolated critical point. Then its Milnor open book carries the natural contact structure of the contact boundary of (X, x).

Let us explain the meaning of the notion of *open book carrying a contact structure* (see Definition 4.1 for the notion of open book). This notion was introduced by Giroux [59]:

Definition 6.5. A positive contact structure ξ on a closed oriented manifold *M* is **carried by an open book** (*N*, θ) if it admits a defining contact form α which verifies the following:

- α induces a positive contact structure on *N*;
- $d\alpha$ induces a positive symplectic structure on each fiber of θ .

If a contact form α satisfies these conditions, then it is called **adapted** to (N, θ) .

Giroux proved in [59] that:

Theorem 6.6. On any 3-dimensional closed oriented manifold, any contact structure is carried by some open book and two positive contact structures carried by the same open book are isotopic.

Giroux and Mohsen generalized this theorem to all dimensions (see a sketch of proof in [59]). Moreover, in dimension 3 Giroux [59] and Giroux and Goodman [60] described the relation existing between open books which carry the same contact structure.

Theorem 6.6 shows that in order to describe a positive contact structure on a 3-dimensional closed and oriented manifold, it is enough to describe an open book which carries it. This is the strategy adopted in [30] to prove Theorem 6.3. Namely, we combined Theorem 6.4, valid in arbitrary dimension, with the following result specific to complex dimension 2:

Corollary 6.7. Let *M* be a closed connected oriented 3-manifold which is Milnor fillable. Then there exists an open book (N, θ) in *M* which can be completely characterized by the topology of *M*, such that, for any normal surface singularity (X, x) whose boundary $\partial(X, x)$ is orientation-preserving diffeomorphic to *M*, there exists a function $f \in m_{X,x}$ having an isolated critical point and whose Milnor open book is isomorphic to (N, θ) .

Before ending this section, let us mention two properties of Milnor fillable 3-manifolds which were proved since the publication of [30]:

- Lekili and Ozbagci proved in [104] that the lift of a Milnor fillable contact structure to the universal cover of the manifold is still tight. When this universal cover is compact, this is obvious, as one gets again the contact boundary of a singularity. Their proof concentrates on the case when this universal cover is non-compact. Note that is still lacking in general (excepting some special classes) a characterization of the unique Milnor fillable contact structure among all possible positive Stein fillable and universally tight contact structures on a normal surface singularity boundary.
- 2. H. Park and Stpisicz proved in [153] that a configuration of symplectic surfaces in a 4dimensional symplectic manifold which has the same weighted dual graph as that of a resolution of normal surface singularity (X, x) has a tubular neighborhood which is a strong symplectic filling of the contact boundary of (X, x). This ensures that the 4-manifold obtained by replacing such a tubular neighborhood by any Milnor fiber of (X, x) admits also a symplectic structure, which may be chosen to coincide with the starting one outside the given tubular neighborhood. This construction gives a lot more flexibility for performing "symplectic surgeries" than the prototypical "rational blow-downs" of Fintushel and Stern [54].

For more details about open books supporting contact structures, one may consult the foundational paper [59] of Giroux, as well as the survey [49] of Etnyre, the paper [60] of Giroux and Goodman and Geiges' textbook [57, Section 7.3]. A survey of the properties of the contact boundaries of Pham-Brieskorn singularities was written by Kwon and van Koert in [98].

6.2. Cases when the Milnor fibers exhaust the Stein fillings

Assume that (X, x) is a smoothable isolated singularity, and let $f : (Y, y) \rightarrow (\mathbb{C}, 0)$ be one of its smoothings (see Definition 4.11). By choosing an embedding $(Y, y) \rightarrow (\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$ and restricting to Ythe squared distance function ρ_0 to the origin (see Equation 3.4), one constructs representatives of the Milnor fibers of ψ which are Stein domains (see Definition 5.24) and whose contact boundaries are contactomorphic (by Gray's theorem 5.16) with the contact boundary of (X, x) introduced in Definition 6.1. Therefore:

Proposition 6.8. Let (X, x) be a smoothable isolated singularity. Then the Stein representatives of its Milnor fibers constructed as before are Stein fillings of the contact boundary $(\partial(X, x), \xi(X, x))$.

As a consequence, if one wishes to characterize the Milnor fibers of a given isolated singularity up to diffeomorphisms among the fillings of the boundary of the singularity, it is natural to restrict one's attention to the Stein fillings of the contact boundary. In complex dimension 2 the situation is special, due to Theorem 6.3. In this case, one is led to ask the following questions:

Is it possible to characterize the Milnor fibers of the various isolated surface singularities with a given topological type among the Stein fillings of the associated Milnor fillable contact 3-manifold? Are there situations in which one gets all the Stein fillings up to diffeomorphisms as such Milnor fibers?

Note that, because of the existence of *blow up operations* both in complex and in symplectic geometry (see McDuff [121] for the second case), from one holomorphic or strong symplectic filling of a contact 3-manifold one can get by successive blow ups an infinite number of pairwise non-homeomorphic such fillings. Therefore, the second question above has always a negative answer if one replaces in it the notion of *Stein filling* by one of those weaker notions of filling.

In full generality the previous questions are widely open. But there are answers known in particular cases. The first result going in this direction was obtained by Eliashberg [46] (see Cieliebak and Eliashberg [33, Theorem 16.6] for a strengthening):

Theorem 6.9. Any Stein filling of the natural contact structure on S^3 is diffeomorphic to the 4dimensional compact ball.

The "natural contact structure" on \mathbb{S}^3 being simply its natural contact structure when we see it as the unit sphere in \mathbb{C}^2 (see Definition 5.23), it is also the unique Milnor fillable contact structure on \mathbb{S}^3 .

Theorem 6.9 was extended by Mc Duff [121] to all lens spaces of type L(p, 1) (see Definition 3.40) endowed with their standard contact structure, which is again their unique Milnor fillable contact structure:

Theorem 6.10. Let $p \ge 2$ be an integer. Consider the natural contact structure ξ_0 on the lens space L(p, 1).

- 1. If $p \neq 4$, then $(L(p, 1), \xi_0)$ has only one Stein filling up to diffeomorphisms, which is the Milnor fiber of the unique smoothing of the cyclic quotient singularity $(\chi_{p,1}, 0)$.
- 2. (L(4, 1), ξ_0) has exactly two Stein fillings up to diffeomorphisms, which are the Milnor fibers of the two smoothings of the cyclic quotient singularity ($\chi_{4,1}$, 0).



Figure 6.1. The framed links allowing to describe the Stein fillings of lens spaces

As explained by Cieliebak and Eliashberg [33, Theorem 16.10], this theorem was strengthened by Plamenevskaya and Van Horn Morris [159] and Hind [77].

Recall that we described the differentiable types of the two Milnor fibers of $(\mathcal{X}_{4,1}, 0)$ in Section 4.4 (see Proposition 4.39).

In [112] Lisca sketched a proof of a classification of the Stein fillings of *all* lens spaces endowed with their natural contact structures (again, the unique Milnor fillable one, obtained as the contact boundaries of the cyclic quotient singularities), and he described a detailed proof in [113]. In order to give an idea of the combinatorial complexity of his classification, let us explain his description of those fillings as smooth compact 4-manifolds with boundary.

Fix a lens space L(p, q) (where 0 < q < p and p and q are coprime). Recall from Theorem 3.41 that the minimal resolution of the associated cyclic quotient singularity ($\chi_{p,q}$, 0) has a weighted dual graph which may be described using the Hirzebruch-Jung continued fraction expansion of $\frac{p}{q}$.

Let us introduce also the analogous expansion of $\frac{p}{p-q}$:

$$\begin{cases} a_i \ge 2, \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, r\}, \\ \frac{p}{p-q} = a_1 - \frac{1}{a_2 - \frac{1}{\dots - \frac{1}{a_r}}} \end{cases}$$

We will denote more concisely by $[a_1, a_2, ..., a_r]$ the previous Hirzebruch-Jung continued fraction. For each $r \ge 1$, consider the following finite subset of \mathbb{N}^r :

Definition 6.11. A sequence $\underline{k} = (k_1, ..., k_r) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^r$ is called **admissible** if either r = 1 or $r \ge 2$, $\underline{k} \in (\mathbb{Z}_+^*)^r$, $[k_1, ..., k_i] > 0$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., r-1\}$ and $[k_1, ..., k_r] \ge 0$. Let $\operatorname{adm}(\mathbb{Z}_+^r)$ be the set of admissible sequences from \mathbb{Z}_+^r . For $r \ge 1$, denote by:

(6.1)
$$K_r := \{ \underline{k} = (k_1, \dots, k_r) \in \operatorname{adm}(\mathbb{Z}_+^r) \mid [k_1, \dots, k_r] = 0 \}$$

the set of admissible sequences which represent 0.

The sequence (a_1, \ldots, a_r) determines the following subset of K_r :

Definition 6.12. Let $\underline{a} \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{r}$ be fixed with $a_i \ge 2$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., r\}$. Then

(6.2)
$$K_r(\underline{a}) := \{ \underline{k} \in K_r \mid k_i \le a_i, \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, r\} \}$$

is the set of <u>a</u>-admissible sequences which represent 0.

Let us fix a <u>a</u>-admissible sequence $\underline{k} = (k_1, ..., k_r)$ which represents 0. Associate to it the framed link in the oriented 3-dimensional sphere \mathbb{S}^3 drawn in Figure 6.1. This link is a disjoint union of the two links $\mathcal{L}(\underline{k})$ (a chain of unknoted circles, any two consecutive ones forming a Hopf link) and $\mathcal{L}(\underline{a}, \underline{k})$ (consisting of k packets of ear-rings for the composing knots of $\mathcal{L}(\underline{k})$).

Consider the closed and oriented 3-manifold obtained by surgery on \mathbb{S}^3 along the framed link $\mathcal{L}(\underline{k})$. It is possible to show that there exists an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism identifying it with $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^2$. Keep calling $\mathcal{L}(\underline{a}, \underline{k})$ the image inside $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^2$ of the initial framed link with the same name in \mathbb{S}^3 .

Definition 6.13. Let $W_{p,q}(\underline{k})$ be the smooth oriented 4-manifold with boundary obtained by attaching index 2 handles to $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{B}^3$ along the framed link $\mathcal{L}(\underline{a}, \underline{k})$.

The manifold $W_{p,q}(\underline{k})$ is therefore obtained by attaching index 2 handles to the 4-ball along the whole framed link described in Figure 6.1, and replacing the sublevel of a corresponding Morse function which contains the ball and the handles attached along $\mathcal{L}(\underline{k})$ with the manifold $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{B}^3$. Lisca showed that this construction does not depend on the choice of the orientation-preserving diffeomorphism identifying the surgered sphere with $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^2$.

Lisca's classification theorem may be stated briefly like this:

Theorem 6.14. The manifolds $W_{p,q}(\underline{k})$ exhaust the Stein fillings of the standard contact structure on L(p, q) and are pairwise non-diffeomorphic by diffeomorphisms fixing the boundary.

Therefore, the Stein fillings of the lens space L(p, q) endowed with its Milnor fillable contact structure are parametrized by the <u>a</u>-admissible sequences which represent 0. The same objects had appeared in the classification of the irreducible components of the reduced miniversal base space of the cyclic quotient singularity ($\chi_{p,q}$, 0), conjectured and partially proved by Christophersen [32]. The proof of the following theorem was completed by Stevens [180], using deep results of Kollár and Shepherd-Barron [96]:

Theorem 6.15. Assume that $\frac{p}{p-q} = [a_1, ..., a_r]$. Then there is a bijection from the set $K_r(\underline{a})$ of \underline{a} -admissible sequences representing 0 to the set of irreducible components of the reduced base space of the miniversal deformation of $(\mathcal{X}_{p,q}, 0)$.

Christophersen and Stevens gave moreover equations describing the restriction of the miniversal deformation to each such component (generalizing Pinkham's equations described in Section 4.4 and Riemenschneider's equations for the deformation over the Artin component given in [169]). Némethi and myself used those equations in [137] in order to prove the following theorem, which answers affirmatively a conjecture of Lisca [113], first formulated in [112]:

Theorem 6.16. The Milnor fiber associated to the component of the miniversal base space of $(\mathcal{X}_{p,q}, 0)$ which is parametrized by $\underline{k} \in K_r(\underline{\alpha})$ in the Christophersen-Stevens correspondence is diffeomorphic to Lisca's manifold $W_{p,q}(\underline{k})$. Therefore, the Milnor fibers of a cyclic quotient singularity exhaust the Stein fillings of its contact boundary up to diffeomorphism.

In the paper [137] we got a second proof of the last statement by using the work [89] of de Jong and van Straten on *sandwiched surface singularities*, which form a class of rational surface singularities containing the cyclic quotients. We extended partially our results to all sandwiched singularities in [138]. Nevertheless, the question to know if the analog of the last statement of Theorem 6.16 extends to all sandwiched surface singularities remains open. Note that sandwiched surface singularities are not in general taut (see Definition 3.47), therefore the question is: *do the Milnor fibers of all the sandwiched surface singularities with a fixed topological type exhaust the Stein fillings of their common contact boundary?*

The last statement of Theorem 6.16 was extended by Park, Park, Shin and Urzúa [151] to all *quotient* surface singularities. They concentrated on the cases not covered by Theorem 6.16. Using Stevens' description from [181] of the irreducible components of their miniversal base space Bhupal and Ono's classification from [14] of the Stein fillings of their contact boundaries up to diffeomorphisms, they proved:

Theorem 6.17. There is a bijective correspondence between the set of diffeomorphism classes fixing the boundary of Stein fillings of the contact boundary of a quotient surface singularity and the set of irreducible components of its miniversal base space. This correspondence identifies each Stein filling with the Milnor fiber of the associated component.

The particular case of *Kleinian* surface singularities was proved before by Ohta and Ono [145], who had also treated in [144] the case of *simple elliptic* singularities:

Theorem 6.18. The Stein fillings of the contact boundary of a simple elliptic singularity is diffeomorphic either to the tubular neighborhood of the exceptional divisor in the minimal resolution, or to the Milnor fiber of the unique smoothing component, when the singularity is smoothable.

Recall from Example 4.19 that simple elliptic singularities are smoothable only for a finite number of topological types. Anyway, the previous theorem is different in spirit from Theorems 6.16 and 6.17, as the differentiable types of Stein fillings of the contact boundary are not obtainable only as Milnor fibers. This is due in fact to the constraint of looking only at *normal* representatives of this topological type. As shown in Proposition 4.32, if one drops this constraint, then Ohta and Ono's theorem may be reformulated in the following way:

Theorem 6.19. The Stein fillings of the contact boundary of a simple elliptic singularity are realized by the Milnor fibers of the smoothings of the isolated surface singularities whose normalization is simple elliptic.

Note that one gets *all* the Stein filling from any simple elliptic singularity and the isolated singularities which have it as normalization. This is not the case for general non-taut singularities. For instance, Laufer [103, Page 48] gave an example of two isolated hypersurface singularities (whose equations are $x^2 + y^7 + z^{14} = 0$ and $x^3 + y^4 + z^{12} = 0$) with the same topological type, therefore with the same contact boundaries, by Theorem 6.3, but with non-homeomorphic Milnor fibers (an immediate application of Theorem 4.4 shows that their Milnor numbers are different). Note that, being hypersurface singularities, by Tyurina's theorem 4.12 both of them have a single Milnor fiber, up to diffeomorphisms fixing the boundary. Note also that by point (3.30) of Proposition 3.30, their boundaries are not rational homology spheres, as their minimal resolutions have smooth exceptional divisors of genus 3.

For the moment, no examples of such pairs with rational homology sphere boundaries are known. In fact, Mendris and Némethi conjectured in [124] that:

"If the link of an isolated hypersurface singularity is a rational homology 3-sphere, then it determines the equisingularity type, the embedded topological type, the equivariant Hodge numbers and the multiplicity of the singularity."

Let us finish this sections with several remarks about related directions of research:

- 1. If the isolated surface singularity (*X*, *x*) is fixed, the existence of a miniversal deformation shows that, up to diffeomorphisms, there is only a finite number of Stein fillings of its contact boundary which appear as Milnor fibers of its smoothings. For the classes of singularities considered till now in this subsection, there is also a finite number of Stein fillings and even of strong symplectic fillings. This fact is not general. Ohta and Ono [146] showed that there exist Milnor fillable contact 3-manifolds which admit an infinite number of minimal strong symplectic fillings, pairwise not homotopically equivalent. Later, Akhmedov and Ozbagci [1] proved that there exist Milnor fillable contact 3-manifolds which admit even an infinite number of Stein fillings pairwise non-diffeomorphic, but homeomorphic. Moreover, by varying the contact 3-manifold, the fundamental groups of such fillings exhaust all finitely presented groups. For details one may consult Ozbagci's survey [149].
- In [9] Baykur and Van Horn-Morris construct many contact 3-manifolds which admit infinitely many Stein fillings with arbitrarily large Euler characteristics and arbitrarily small signature, disproving in this way a conjecture of Ozbagci and Stipsicz.

3. Another direction of research concentrated on the question of classification of those normal surface singularities admitting Milnor fibers which are rational homology balls. Such Milnor fibers were used for performing the operation of *rational blow-down* introduced by Fintushel and Stern [54] and generalized by Stipsicz, Szabó, Wahl [185]. Due to the efforts of several researchers, the *normal* surface singularities which have smoothings whose Milnor fibers are rational homology balls are now completely classified. See Park, Shin and Stipsicz [152], Bhupal and Stipsicz [17] and Fowler [56] for details about this direction of research.

For details about the structure of the miniversal deformation of cyclic quotient singularities, one may consult Behnke and Riemenschneider [11], Hamm [72], Riemenschneider [170] and Stevens [184].

For an introduction to the techniques of study of the Stein fillings of contact 3manifolds, one may consult Ozbagci and Stipsicz' book [150], and the surveys [17] of Bhupal and Stipsicz and [149] of Ozbagci. For a sketch of the proof of Theorem 6.16 and of its partial extension to the class of sandwiched surface singularities, one may consult Némethi's survey [135].

7. Open questions

Let me conclude with a list of open questions about the contact topological aspects of singularities. Even if my text concentrated on isolated singularities, note that some of the questions concern non-isolated singularities and their smoothings.

- 1. Characterize Milnor fillable oriented contact structures among all contact structures on the boundary of a normal surface singularity. As mentioned in Remark (1) at the end of Subsection 6.1, the Milnor fillable contact structures are necessarily Stein fillable and universally tight.
- 2. Characterize the topological types of normal surface singularities whose set of isolated but not necessarily normal representatives produces a finite number of Milnor fibers, up to diffeomorphisms fixing the boundary. Of course, as a consequence of Grauert's theorem 4.10, a fixed isolated singularity has a finite number of Milnor fibers up to diffeomorphisms fixing the boundary. As stated in Proposition 4.32, non-normal isolated singularities can produce different Milnor fibers than their normalizations. Therefore it is not a priori clear that even the topological types of taut singularities (see Definition 3.47) produce a finite number of Milnor fibers. Nevertheless, one may show that this is the case for the topological types of taut and *rational* singularities, as a consequence of results of Kollár (see [165, Remark 5.10]).
- 3. Describe the topologies of Milnor fibers for a given topology of normal surface singularity. As explained in Section 4.4, this was done till now for all quotient surface singularities and for simple elliptic singularities.
- 4. For which topological types, the Milnor fibers give all the Stein fillings up to diffeomorphisms fixing the boundary? By Theorems 6.16 and 6.17, this is the case for all quotient surface singularities. It is also true for simple elliptic singularities, by combining Theorem 6.18 and Proposition 4.32.
- 5. Are there isolated singularities of dimension at least 2 with exotic pairs of Milnor fibers (i.e. homeomorphic but non-diffeomorphic)? In this question I use the standard vocabulary of differential topology, in which a manifold A is called an "exotic" version of a manifold B if it is homeomorphic but not diffeomorphic to B.

- 6. Characterize the topological types of oriented 3-manifolds appearing as boundaries of Milnor fibers of smoothings of not necessarily isolated surface singularities. By the works of Michel and Pichon [125], [126] and Némethi and Szilard [139] (for smooth total spaces of the smoothings) and Fernández de Bobadilla and Menegon Neto [53] (for total spaces with isolated singularity), one knows that such boundaries are graph-manifolds, similarly to the boundaries of isolated surface singularities. The present question asks to get an analog of Theorem 3.27.
- 7. Which oriented contact structures on oriented 3-manifolds does one obtain as contact boundaries of such Milnor fibers? This question is an extension of question (1) above.
- 8. Is it possible to read on the contact boundary of an isolated complex singularity of dimension at least 3 whether it is isomorphic to the contact boundary of an isolated Cohen-Macaulay singularity? Note that there are constraints on the finitely presented groups which may occur as fundamental groups of boundaries of such singularities (see Kollár [95, Theorem 4]).
- 9. Does the contact boundary of an isolated and irreducible complex singularity of dimension at least 3 determine the simple homotopy type of the dual complex of the exceptional divisor of a simple normal crossings resolution of the singularity? As shown independently by Stepanov [179] and Kontsevich and Soibelman [97, Section A.4], this simple homotopy type is independent of the chosen resolution. The fact that its homotopy type has this property is a consequence of the previous work of Danilov [36]. I restrict the question to dimensions ≥ 3 because Neumann's theorem 3.29 shows that the answer is affirmative for dimension 2.

References

- [1] Akhmedov, A., Ozbagci, B. Singularity links with exotic Stein fillings. J. Singul. 8 (2014), 39-49.
- [2] Arnold, V. I., Gusein-Zade, S. M., Varchenko, A. N. Singularities of differentiable maps. Vol. II. Monodromy and asymptotics of integrals. Monographs in Mathematics 83. Birkhäuser, Boston, MA., 1988.
- [3] Aroca, J.-M., Hironaka, H., Vicente, J. L. The theory of the maximal contact. Memorias de Matemática del Instituto "Jorge Juan" 29. Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Madrid, 1975.
- [4] Aroca, J.-M., Hironaka, H., Vicente, J. L. Desingularization theorems. Memorias de Matemática del Instituto "Jorge Juan"
 30. Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Madrid, 1977.
- [5] Artin, M. Some numerical criteria for contractability of curves on algebraic surfaces. Amer. J. Math. 84 (1962), 485-496.
- [6] Artin, M. On isolated rational singularities of surfaces. Amer. J. Math. 88 (1966), 129-136.
- [7] Artin, M. Algebraic construction of Brieskorn's resolutions. J. Algebra 29 (1974), 330-348.
- [8] Barth, W.P., Hulek, K., Peters, C.A.M., Van de Ven, A. Compact complex surfaces. Second enlarged edition, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [9] Baykur, R. I., Van Horn-Morris, J. *Families of contact 3-manifolds with arbitrarily large Stein fillings.* With an appendix by Samuel Lisi and Chris Wendl. J. Differential Geom. **101** (2015), no. 3, 423-465.
- [10] Bădescu, L. Algebraic surfaces. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2001.
- [11] Behnke, K., Riemenschneider, O. Quotient surface singularities and their deformations. In Singularity theory, 1-54. D.
 T. Lê, K. Saito & B. Teissier eds. World Scientific, Hackensack, N.J., 1995.
- Bennequin, D. Entrelacements et équations de Pfaff. Third Schnepfenried geometry conference, Vol. 1 (Schnepfenried, 1982), 87-161, Astérisque, 107-108, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1983.
- [13] Bennequin, D. Topologie symplectique, convexité holomorphe et structures de contact [d'après Y. Eliashberg, D. Mc Duff et al.] Séminaire Bourbaki no. 725, Astérisque 189-190, Soc. Math. France, 1990.
- [14] Bhupal, M., Ono, K. Symplectic fillings of links of quotient surface singularities. Nagoya Math. J. 207 (2012), 1-45.
- [15] Bhupal, M., Ozbagci, B. Milnor open books of links of some rational surface singularities. Pacific J. Math. 254 (2011), no. 1, 47-65.
- [16] Bhupal, M., Ozbagci, B. Canonical contact structures on some singularity links. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 46 (2014), no. 3, 576-586.
- [17] Bhupal, M., Stipsicz, A. Smoothings of singularities and symplectic topology. In Deformations of surface singularities, 57-97, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 23, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 2013.
- [18] Bogomolov, F.A., de Oliveira, B. Stein Small Deformations of Strictly Pseudoconvex Surfaces. Contemporary Mathematics 207 (1997), 25-41.
- [19] Borman, M. S., Eliashberg, Y., Murphy, E. Existence and classification of overtwisted contact structures in all dimensions. Acta Math. 215 (2015), no. 2, 281-361.
- [20] Brieskorn, E. Beispiele zur Differentialtopologie von Singularitäten. Invent. Math. 2 (1966), 1-14.

- [21] Brieskorn, E. Rationale Singularitäten Komplexer Flächen. Invent. Math. 4 (1968), 336-358.
- [22] Brieskorn, E. Die Monodromie der isolierten Singularitäten von Hyperflächen. Manuscripta Math. 2 (1970), 103-161.
- [23] Brieskorn, E. Singularities in the work of Friedrich Hirzebruch. In Surveys in differential geometry **7**, Int. Press, Somerville, MA., 2000, 17-60.
- [24] Bruns, W., Herzog, J. Cohen-Macaulay rings. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1993.
- [25] Buchweitz, R.-O., Greuel, G.-M. The Milnor number and deformations of complex curve singularities. Invent. Math. 58 (1980), no. 3, 241-281.
- [26] Budur, N. Singularity invariants related to Milnor fibers: survey. In Zeta functions in algebra and geometry, 161-187, Contemp. Math. 566, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2012.
- [27] Cartan, H. Quotient d'un espace analytique par un groupe d'automorphismes. In A symposium in honor of S. Lefschetz, Algebraic geometry and topology, 90-102. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1957.
- [28] Cassens, H., Slodowy, P. On Kleinian singularities and quivers. In Singularities. The Brieskorn anniversary volume. V. I. Arnold, G.-M. Greuel and J. H. M. Steenbrink eds. 263-288. Progress in Mathematics **162**, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1998.
- [29] Caubel, C. Contact structures and non-isolated singularities. In Singularity theory. Dedicated to Jean-Paul Brasselet on his 60-th birthday. D. Chéniot et al. eds., 475-485. World Scientific, Hackensach, N.J., 2007.
- [30] Caubel, C., Némethi, A., Popescu-Pampu, P. *Milnor open books and Milnor fillable contact 3-manifolds.* Topology **45** (2006), 673-689.
- [31] Chevalley, C. Invariants of finite groups generated by reflections. Amer. J. Math. 77 (1955), 778-782.
- [32] Christophersen, J. A. On the components and discriminant of the versal base space of cyclic quotient singularities. In Singularity theory and its applications, Part I (Coventry, 1988/1989), 81-92, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1462 Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [33] Cieliebak, K., Eliashberg, Y. From Stein to Weinstein and back: symplectic geometry and affine complex manifolds. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2012.
- [34] Cutkosky, S.D. Valuations in algebra and geometry. In Singularities in algebraic and analytic geometry (San Antonio, TX, 1999), 45-63, Contemp. Math. 266, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2000.
- [35] Cutkosky, S.D. *Resolution of singularities*. Graduate Studies in Mathematics **63**. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2004.
- [36] Danilov, V. I. Polyhedra of schemes and algebraic varieties. Math. USSR-Sb. 26 (1975), no. 1, 137-149.
- [37] Ding, F., Geiges, H. Symplectic fillability of tight contact structures on torus bundles. Algebr. Geom. Topol. 1 (2001), 153-172.
- [38] Durfee, A.H. The signature of smoothings of complex surface singularities. Math. Ann. 232 (1978), 85-98.
- [39] Durfee, A.H. *Fifteen characterizations of rational double points and simple critical points.* Enseignem. Math. **25** (1979), 131-163.
- [40] Durfee, A.H. Neighborhoods of algebraic sets. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 276 (1983), no. 2, 517-530.
- [41] Durfee, A.H. Singularities. In History of Topology. I.M. James ed., North Holland, Amsterdam, 1999, 417-434.
- [42] Durfee, A.H., Hain, R.M. Mixed Hodge structures on the homotopy of links. Math. Ann. 280 (1988), no. 1, 69-83.
- [43] Dutertre, N. Semi-algebraic neighborhoods of closed semi-algebraic sets. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) **59** (2009), no. 1, 429-458.
- [44] Eisenbud, D. Commutative algebra with a view toward algebraic geometry. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.
- [45] Eliashberg, Y. Classification of overtwisted contact structures on 3-manifolds. Invent. Math. 98 (1989), no. 3, 623-637.
- [46] Eliashberg, Y. Filling by holomorphic discs and its applications. Geometry of low-dimensional manifolds, 2 (Durham, 1989), 45-67, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 151, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [47] Eliashberg, Y. Unique holomorphically fillable contact structure on the 3-torus. Internat. Math. Res. Notices 2 (1996), 77-82.
- [48] Eliashberg, Y., Gromov, M. Convex symplectic manifolds. In Several complex variables and complex geometry. Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 52, 135-162. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1991.
- [49] Etnyre, J. B. *Lectures on open book decompositions and contact structures.* In *Floer homology, gauge theory, and low-dimensional topology*, 103-141, Clay Math. Proc. **5**, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2006.
- [50] Etnyre, J. B., Honda, K. On the nonexistence of tight contact structures. Annals of Maths. 153 (2001), 749-766.
- [51] Etnyre, J. B., Honda, K. Tight contact structures with no symplectic fillings. Invent. Math. 148 (2002), 609-626.
- [52] Faber, E., Hauser, H. Today's menu: geometry and resolution of singular algebraic surfaces. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 47 (2010), no. 3, 373-417.
- [53] Fernández de Bobadilla, J., Menegon Neto, A. *The boundary of the Milnor fibre of complex and real analytic non-isolated singularities.* Geom. Dedicata **173** (2014), 143-162.
- [54] Fintushel, R., Stern, R. J. Rational blowdowns of smooth 4-manifolds. J. Differential Geom. 46 (1997), no. 2, 181-235.
- [55] Fischer, G. Complex analytic geometry. in Lecture Notes in Mathematics 538, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1976.
- [56] Fowler, J. Rational homology disk smoothing components of weighted homogeneous surface singularities. PhD Thesis, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2013. ISBN: 978-1303-63900-5.
- [57] Geiges, H. An introduction to contact topology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2008.
- [58] Ghiggini, P. Strongly fillable contact 3-manifolds without Stein fillings. Geom. Topol. 9 (2005), 1677-1687.
- [59] Giroux, E. *Géométrie de contact: de la dimension trois vers les dimensions supérieures.* Proceedings of the ICM 2002 (Beijing), Higher Ed. Press, vol.II, 405-414.
- [60] Giroux, E., Goodman, N. On the stable equivalence of open books in three-manifolds. Geom. Topol. 10 (2006), 97-114.
- [61] Grauert, H. On Levi's problem and the imbedding of real-analytic manifolds. Ann. of Math. (2) 68 (1958), 460-472.
- [62] Grauert, H. Über Modifikationen und exzeptionnelle analytische Mengen. Math. Ann. **146** (1962), 331-368.
- [63] Grauert, H. Über die Deformationen isolierter Singularitäten analytische Mengen. Invent. Math. 15 (1972), 171-198.
- [64] Grauert, H., Remmert, R. Theory of Stein spaces. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1979.
- [65] Gray, J.W. Some global properties of contact structures. Ann. of Math. (2) 69 (1959), 421-450.
- [66] Greuel, G.-M., Looijenga, E.N. The dimension of smoothing components. Duke Math. J. 52 (1985), no. 1, 263-272.
- [67] Greuel, G.-M., Steenbrink, J. On the topology of smoothable singularities. In Singularities, Part 1 (Arcata, Calif., 1981) Proc. of Symp. in Pure Maths. **40**, 535-545. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1983.
- [68] Greuel, G.-M., Lossen, C., Shustin, E. Introduction to singularities and deformations. Springer, Berlin, 2007.
- [69] Griffiths, Ph., Harris, J. Principles of algebraic geometry. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1978.
- [70] Gromov, M. Pseudoholomorphic curves in symplectic manifolds. Invent. Math. 82 (1985), 307-347.
- [71] Hamm, H. Lokale topologische Eigenschaften komplexer Räume. Math. Ann. 191 (1971), 235-252.
- [72] Hamm, M. Die verselle Deformation zyklischer quotienten Singularitäten: Gleichungen und torische Struktur. Diss. Hamburg 2008.
- [73] Hartshorne, R. Algebraic geometry. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977.
- [74] Hauser, H. La construction de la déformation semi-universelle d'un germe de variété analytique complexe. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 18 (1985), no. 1, 1-56.
- [75] Hauser, H. Seven short stories on blowups and resolutions. In Proceedings of Gökova Geometry-Topology Conference 2005, 1-48, 2006.
- [76] Hazewinkel, M., Hesselink, W., Siersma, D., Veldkamp, F.D. The ubiquity of Coxeter-Dynkin diagrams. (An introduction to the A-D-E problem). Nieuw Archief voor Wiskunde (3), XXV (1977), 257-307.
- [77] Hind, R. Stein fillings of lens spaces. Commun. Contemp. Math. 5 (2003), no. 6, 967-982.
- [78] Hironaka, H. Resolution of singularities of an algebraic variety over a field of characteristic zero. I, II. Ann. of Math. (2)
 79 (1964), 109-203; ibid. (2) **79** (1964) 205-326.
- [79] Hironaka, H. Introduction to the theory of infinitely near singular points. Memorias de Matemática del Instituto "Jorge Juan" 28. Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Madrid, 1974.
- [80] Hirzebruch, F. Über vierdimensionale Riemannsche Flächen mehrdeutiger analytischer Funktionen von zwei komplexen Veränderlichen. Math. Ann. **126** (1953), 1-22.
- [81] Hirzebruch, F. The topology of normal singularities of an algebraic surface. Séminaire Bourbaki, Tome 8 (1962-1964), Exposé no. 250, 129-137.
- [82] Hirzebruch, F. Singularities and exotic spheres. Séminaire Bourbaki, Tome 10 (1966-1968), Exposé no. 314, 13-32.
- [83] Hirzebruch, F. Hilbert modular surfaces. Enseignem. Math. 19 (1973), 183-281.
- [84] Hirzebruch, F., Mayer, K. H. O(n)-Mannigfaltigkeiten, exotische Sphären und Singularitäten. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 57, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1968.
- [85] Hörmander, L. Notions of convexity. Progress in Maths. 127, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1994.
- [86] Ishii, S. Introduction to singularities. Springer, Tokyo, 2014.
- [87] Jaco, W.H., Shalen, P.B. Seifert Fibered Spaces in Three-manifolds. Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society 21 (1979), no. 220, viii+ 192 p.
- [88] Johannson, K. Homotopy Equivalences of 3-Manifolds with Boundaries. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 761, Springer, Berlin, 1979.
- [89] de Jong, T., van Straten, D. Deformation theory of sandwiched singularities. Duke Math. Journal 95, no. 3 (1998), 451-522.
- [90] de Jong, T., Pfister, G. Local analytic geometry. Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 2000.
- [91] Jung, H.W.E. Darstellung der Funktionen eines algebraischen Körpers zweier unabhängigen Veränderlichen x,y in der Umgebung einer Stelle x=a, y=b. J. Reine Angew. Math. **133** (1908), 289-314.
- [92] Klein, F. Lectures on the icosahedron and the solution of equations of the fifth degree. Dover Publ., INC., 2003. First German edition: 1884.
- [93] Kollár, J. Flips, flops, minimal models, etc. In Surveys in differential geometry 1 (1991), 113-199.
- [94] Kollár, J. Lectures on resolution of singularities. Annals of Mathematics Studies 166. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 2007.
- [95] Kollár, J. Links of complex analytic singularities. In Surveys in differential geometry **18**, Int. Press, Somerville, MA., 2013, 157-193.
- [96] Kollár, J., Shepherd-Barron, N. I. Threefolds and deformations of surface singularities. Invent. Math. 91 (1988), 299-338.
- [97] Kontsevich, M., Soibelman, Y. *Affine structures and non-Archimedean analytic spaces.* In *The unity of mathematics*, 321-385, Progr. Math. **244**, Birkhäuser Boston, MA., 2006.
- [98] Kwon, M., van Koert, O. Brieskorn manifolds in contact topology. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 48 (2016), no. 2, 173-241.
- [99] Laufer, H.B. Normal two-dimensional Singularities. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1971.
- [100] Laufer, H.B. On rational singularities. Amer. J. Math. 94 (1972), 597-608.
- [101] Laufer, H.B. Taut two-dimensional singularities. Math. Ann. 205, 131-164 (1973).
- [102] Laufer, H.B. On minimally elliptic singularities. Amer. J. Math. 99 (6), 1257-1295 (1977).
- [103] Laufer, H.B. On μ for surface singularities. In Several complex Variables I, 45-49. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 30. R.O. Wells ed. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1977.

Patrick Popescu-Pampu

[104] Lekili, Y., Ozbagci, B. Milnor fillable contact structures are universally tight. Math. Res. Lett. **17** (2010), no. 6, 1055-1063.

- [105] Lê D.T. Topologie des singularités des hypersurfaces complexes. In Singularités à Cargèse (Rencontre Singularités Géom. Analyt., Inst. Études Sci., Cargèse, 1972), 171-182. Astérisque 7-8, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1973.
- [106] Lê, D.T., Seade, J., Verjovsky, A. Quadrics, orthogonal actions and involutions in complex projective spaces. Enseign. Math. (2) 49 (2003), no. 1-2, 173-203.
- [107] Lê, D.T., Teissier, B., Limites d'espaces tangents en géométrie analytique. Comment. Math. Helv. 63 (1988), 540-578.
- [108] Lê D. T., Tosun, M. Combinatorics of rational singularities. Comment. Math. Helv. 79 (2004), 582-604.
- [109] Lipman, J. Rational singularities, with applications to algebraic surfaces and unique factorization. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. no. 36 (1969), 195-279.
- [110] Lipman, J. Introduction to resolution of singularities. In Algebraic geometry. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 29, 187-230. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1975.
- [111] Lipman, J. Double point resolutions of deformations of rational singularities. Compositio Math. 38 (1979), no. 1, 37-42.
- [112] Lisca, P. On lens spaces and their symplectic fillings. Math. Res. Letters 1, vol. 11 (2004), 13-22.
- [113] Lisca, P. On symplectic fillings of lens spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 360 (2008), 765-799.
- [114] Looijenga, E.N. Isolated singular points on complete intersections. London Math. Soc. Lecture Notes Series 77, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1984.
- [115] Looijenga, E.N. Riemann-Roch and smoothings of singularities. Topology 25 no. 3 (1986), 293-302.
- [116] Looijenga, E.N., Wahl, J. Quadratic functions and smoothing surface singularities. Topology 25 (1986), no. 3, 261-291.
- [117] Lutz, R. Sur quelques propriétés des formes différentielles en dimension trois. Thèse, Strasbourg, 1971.
- [118] Martinet, J. Formes de contact sur les variétés de dimension 3. Proceedings of Liverpool Singularities Symposium, II (1969/1970), 142-163. Lecture Notes in Math., 209, Springer, Berlin, 1971.
- [119] Massot, P., Niederkrüger, K., Wendl, C. Weak and strong fillability of higher dimensional contact manifolds. Invent. Math. 192 (2013), no. 2, 287-373.
- [120] Matsuki, K. Introduction to the Mori program. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [121] McDuff, D. The structure of rational and ruled symplectic 4-manifolds. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1990), 679-712. Erratum.
 J. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1992), 987-988.
- [122] McLean, M. Reeb orbits and the minimal discrepancy of an isolated singularity. Invent. Math. **204** (2016) no. 2, 505-594.
- [123] McLean, M. Floer Cohomology, multiplicity and the log canonical threshold. arXiv:1608.07541.
- [124] Mendris, R., Némethi, A. The link of $\{f(x, y)+z^n=0\}$ and Zariski's conjecture. Compositio Math. **141** (2005), 502-524.
- [125] Michel, F., Pichon, A. On the boundary of the Milnor fibre of nonisolated singularities. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2003 no. 43, 2305-2311. Erratum. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2004, no. 6, 309-310.
- [126] Michel, F., Pichon, A. Carrousel in family and non-isolated hypersurface singularities in C³. J. Reine Angew. Math. 720 (2016), 1-32.
- [127] Milnor, J. On manifolds homeomorphic to the 7-sphere. Ann. of Math. (2) 64 (1956), 399-405.
- [128] Milnor, J. Morse theory. Annals of Mathematics Studies, no. 51, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J. 1963.
- [129] Milnor, J. Singular points of complex hypersurfaces. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1968.
- [130] Mumford, D. The topology of normal singularities of an algebraic surface and a criterion for simplicity. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. no. 9 (1961), 5-22.
- [131] Mumford, D. The red book of varieties and schemes. Second expanded edition. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1358, Springer, 1999.
- [132] Némethi, A. Five lectures on normal surface singularities. In Low Dimensional Topology. Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 8, 269-351, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 1999.
- [133] Némethi, A. Some topological invariants of isolated hypersurface singularities. In Low dimensional topology, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 8, 353-413, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 1999.
- [134] Némethi, A. Invariants of normal surface singularities. Contemporary Mathematics 354, 161-208 AMS, 2004.
- [135] Némethi, A. Some meeting points of singularity theory and low dimensional topology. In Deformations of surface singularities, 109-162, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. **23**, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 2013.
- [136] Némethi, A. Links of rational singularities, L-spaces and LO fundamental groups. arXiv:1510.07128.
- [137] Némethi, A., Popescu-Pampu, P. On the Milnor fibers of cyclic quotient singularities. Proc. London Math. Society (3)
 101 (2010), 554-588.
- [138] Némethi, A., Popescu-Pampu, P. On the Milnor fibers of sandwiched singularities. Int. Maths. Research Notices 2010, no. 6, 1041-1061.
- [139] Némethi, A., Szilárd, Á. *Milnor fiber boundary of a non-isolated surface singularity.* Lecture Notes in Mathematics **2037**. Springer, Heidelberg, 2012.
- [140] Némethi, A., Szilard, Á. eds. Deformations of surface singularities, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 23, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 2013.
- [141] Némethi, A., Tosun, M. Invariants of open books of links of surface singularities. Studia Sci. Math. Hungar. 48 (2011), no. 1, 135-144.
- [142] Neumann, W. A calculus for plumbing applied to the topology of complex surface singularities and degenerating complex curves. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 268, 2 (1981), 299-344.
- [143] Neumann, W., Swarup, G. Canonical decompositions of 3-manifolds. Geom. Topol. 1 (1997), 21-40.

- [144] Ohta, H., Ono, K. Symplectic fillings of the link of simple elliptic singularities. J. Reine Angew. Math. 565 (2003), 183-205.
- [145] Ohta, H., Ono, K. Simple singularities and symplectic fillings. J. Differential Geom. 69 (2005), no. 1, 1-42.
- [146] Ohta, H., Ono, K. Examples of isolated surface singularities whose links have infinitely many symplectic fillings. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 3 (2008), no. 1, 51-56.
- [147] Okuma, T. Universal abelian covers of certain surface singularities. Math. Ann. 334 (2006), no. 4, 753-773.
- [148] Orlik, P. The multiplicity of a holomorphic map at an isolated critical point. In Real and complex singularities (Proc. Ninth Nordic Summer School/NAVF Sympos. Math., Oslo, 1976), 405-474. Sijthoff and Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn, 1977.
- [149] Ozbagci, B. On the topology of fillings of contact 3-manifolds. Geom. and Topology Monographs 19 (2015), 73-123.
- [150] Ozbagci, B., Stipsicz, A.I. Surgery on contact 3-manifolds and Stein surfaces. Springer, 2004.
- [151] Park, H., Park, J., Shin, D., Urzúa, G. Milnor fibers and symplectic fillings of quotient surface singularities. arXiv:1507.06756.
- [152] Park, H., Shin, D., Stipsicz, A. I. Normal complex surface singularities with rational homology disk smoothings. arXiv:1311.1929.
- [153] Park, H., Stipsicz, A. I. Smoothings of singularities and symplectic surgery. J. Symplectic Geom. 12 (2014), no. 3, 585-597.
- [154] Peternell, Th. Pseudoconvexity, the Levi problem and vanishing theorems. Chapter V of Several complex variables VII. Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences 74, H. Grauert, Th. Peternell, R. Remmert eds., Springer-Verlag, 1994, 221-257.
- [155] Peternell, Th. Modifications. Chapter VII of Several complex variables VII. Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences 74, H. Grauert, Th. Peternell, R. Remmert eds., Springer-Verlag, 1994, 285-317.
- [156] Peternell, Th., Remmert, R. Differential calculus, holomorphic maps and linear structures on complex spaces. Chapter II of Several complex variables VII. Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences 74, H. Grauert, Th. Peternell, R. Remmert eds., Springer-Verlag, 1994, 97-144.
- [157] Pham, F. Formules de Picard-Lefschetz généralisées et ramification des intégrales. Bull. Soc. Math. France **93** (1965), 333-367.
- [158] Pinkham, H.C. Deformations of algebraic varieties with \mathbb{G}_m -action. Astérisque **20**, S.M.F. 1974.
- [159] Plamenevskaya, O., Van Horn-Morris, J. Planar open books, monodromy factorizations and symplectic fillings. Geom. Topol. 14 (2010), no. 4, 2077-2101.
- [160] Popescu-Pampu, P. The geometry of continued fractions and the topology of surface singularities. Advanced Stud. in Pure Maths 46 (2007), 119-195.
- [161] Popescu-Pampu, P. On the cohomology rings of holomorphically fillable manifolds. In Singularities II. Geometric and Topological Aspects. J. P. Brasselet et al. eds., Contemporary Mathematics 475, AMS, 2008, 169-188.
- [162] Popescu-Pampu, P. Topologie de contact et singularités complexes. Mémoire d'habilitation, Univ. Paris 7, 2008. Available at http://math.univ-lille1.fr/ popescu/Habilit-PPP.pdf
- [163] Popescu-Pampu, P. Numerically Gorenstein surface singularities are homeomorphic to Gorenstein ones. Duke Math. Journal **159**, no. 3 (2011), 539-559.
- [164] Popescu-Pampu, P. Introduction to Jung's method of resolution of singularities. In Topology of Algebraic Varieties and Singularities. J. I. Cogolludo-Agustin and E. Hironaka eds. Contemporary Mathematics 538, AMS, 2011, 401-432.
- [165] Popescu-Pampu, P. On the smoothings of non-normal isolated surface singularities. Journal of Singularities **12** (2015), 164-179.
- [166] Popescu-Pampu, P. What is the genus? History of Mathematics subseries. Lecture Notes in Mathematics **2162**, Springer, 2016.
- [167] Prill, D. Local classification of quotients of complex manifolds by discontinuous groups. Duke Math. Journal **34** (1967) 375-386.
- [168] Reid, M. Chapters on Algebraic Surfaces. In Complex Algebraic Geometry, 3-159. J. Kollár editor, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1997.
- [169] Riemenschneider, O. Deformationen von Quotientensingularitäten (nach Zyklischen Gruppen). Math. Ann. **209**, 211-248 (1974).
- [170] Riemenschneider, O. A note on the toric duality between the cyclic quotient surface singularities A_{n,q} and A_{n,n-q}. In Singularities in geometry and topology, 161-179, IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys. **20**, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2012.
- [171] Saito, K. Quasihomogene isolierte Singularitičaten von Hyperflächen. Invent. Math. 14 (1971), 123-142.
- [172] Saito, K. Einfach-elliptische Singularitäten. Invent. Math. 23 (1974), 289-325.
- [173] Samuel, P. La notion de multiplicité en algèbre et en géométrie algébrique. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) **30** (1951). 159-205.
- [174] Schlessinger, M. Functors of Artin rings. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 130 (1968), 208-222.
- [175] Schlessinger, M. Rigidity of quotient singularities. Invent. Math. 14 (1971), 17-26.
- [176] Seade, J. On the topology of isolated singularities in analytic spaces. Progress in Mathematics **241**. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.
- [177] Slodowy, P. Groups and special singularities. In Singularity theory, 731-799, D.T. Lê, K. Saito, B. Teissier eds., World Scientific, 1995.
- [178] Steenbrink, J. Mixed Hodge structures associated with isolated singularities. Proc. of Symposia in Pure Maths. **40** (1983), Part 2, 513-536.

Patrick Popescu-Pampu

- [179] Stepanov, D. A. A remark on the dual complex of a resolution of singularities. Russian Math. Surveys **61** (2006), no. 1, 181-183.
- [180] Stevens, J. On the versal deformation of cyclic quotient singularities. In Singularity theory and its applications, Part I (Coventry, 1988/1989), 302-319. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1462, Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [181] Stevens, J. Partial resolutions of quotient singularities. Manuscripta Math. 79 (1993), no. 1, 7-11.
- [182] Stevens, J. Deformations of singularities. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1811, Springer, 2003.
- [183] Stevens, J. On the classification of rational surface singularities. Journal of Singularities 7 (2013), 108-133.
- [184] Stevens, J. *The versal deformation of cyclic quotient singularities*. In *Deformations of surface singularities*, 163-201, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. **23**, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 2013.
- [185] Stipsicz, A. I., Szabó, Z., Wahl, J. Rational blowdowns and smoothings of surface singularities. J. Topol. 1 (2008), no. 2, 477-517.
- [186] Sullivan, D. On the intersection ring of compact three manifolds. Topology 14 (1975), 275-277.
- [187] Teissier, B. The hunting of invariants in the geometry of discriminants. In Real and complex singularities. (Proc. Ninth Nordic Summer School/NAVF Sympos. Math., Oslo, 1976), 565-678. Sijthoff and Noordhoff, 1977.
- [188] Teissier, B. A bouquet of bouquets for a birthday. In Topological methods in modern mathematics (Stony Brook, NY, 1991), 93-122, Publish or Perish, Houston, TX, 1993.
- [189] Thom, R. Les structures différentiables des boules et des sphères. Colloque Géom. Diff. Globale (Bruxelles, 1958), 27-35. Centre Belge Rech. Math., Louvain, 1959.
- [190] Tyurina, G.N. Absolute isolatedness of rational singularities and triple rational points. Functional Analysis and its Applications **2** (1968), 324-332.
- [191] Tyurina, G.N. Locally semiuniversal flat deformations of isolated singularities of complex spaces. Math. USSR-Izv., **33** (1969), no. 5, 967-999.
- [192] Ustilovsky, I. Infinitely many contact structures on S^{4m+1}. Internat. Math. Res. Notices 1999, no. 14, 781-791.
- [193] Vakil, R. Murphy's law in algebraic geometry: badly-behaved deformation spaces. Invent. Math. **164** (2006), no. 3, 569-590.
- [194] Du Val, P. On isolated singularities of surfaces which do not affect the conditions of adjunction. Part I, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 30 (1933-34), 483-491.
- [195] Du Val, P. On absolute and non-absolute singularities of algebraic surfaces. Revue de la Faculté des Sciences de l'Univ. d'Istanbul (A) 91 (1944), 159-215.
- [196] Varchenko, A.N. Contact structures and isolated singularities. Mosc. Univ. Math. Bull. 35 (1980), no.2, 18-22.
- [197] Wagreich, P. Elliptic singularities of surfaces. Amer. J. of Math. 92 (2) (1970), 419-454.
- [198] Wahl, J. Smoothings of normal surface singularities. Topology 20 (1981), no. 3, 219-246.
- [199] Wahl, J. Milnor and Tjurina numbers for smoothings of surface singularities. Algebr. Geom. 2 (2015), no. 3, 315-331.
- [200] Waldhausen, F. Eine Klasse von 3-dimensionalen Mannigfaltigkeiten I, II. Invent. Math. 3 (1967), 308-333 and 4 (1967), 87-117.
- [201] Wall, C.T.C. Quadratic forms and normal surface singularities. In Quadratic forms and their applications. (Dublin 1999), 293-311. Contemp. Math. **272**, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2000.
- [202] Wall, C.T.C. Singular points of plane curves. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [203] Whitney, H. The general type of singularity of a set of 2n-1 smooth functions of n variables. Duke Math. J. **10**, no. 1 (1943), 161-172.
- [204] Whitney, H. The singularities of a smooth n-manifold in (2n-1)-space. Ann. Math. **45**, no. 2 (1944), 247-293.
- [205] Winkelnkemper, H. E. Manifolds as open books. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. **79** (1973), no. 1, 45-51.
- [206] Zariski, O. The theorem of Riemann-Roch for high multiples of an effective divisor on an algebraic surface. Ann. Math. **76** no. 3 (1962), 560-615.

Université Lille 1, UFR de Maths., Bâtiment M2, Cité Scientifique, 59655, Villeneuve d'Ascq Cedex, France. • patrick.popescu@math.univ-lille1.fr